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CORPORATE PROFILE
LT

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (“JCI” or the
“Company”) is a metal and mining company headquartered and
listed in Hong Kong. The Company was acquired by Jinchuan
Group Co., Ltd* (“Jinchuan Group” or “JCG") in November
2010 and is the Jinchuan Group’s flagship enterprise established
for the purposes of accelerating Jinchuan Group’s multinational
operation strategy and elevating Jinchuan Group’s global
investing, financing and operating capabilities. The Company is
primarily engaged in the development and management of
overseas mining resources projects, as well as the trading of raw
materials and products of copper, cobalt, nickel and other non-
ferrous metals.

Being established and listed in Hong Kong, JCI is well placed to
leverage its central geographically location as well as its proximity
to the major financial markets to achieve its vision to become a
significant international non-ferrous metal mining company with
particular emphasis in the near term on copper, cobalt, nickel
and other non-ferrous metals.

On 14 November 2013, the Company set a major milestone by
acquiring from Jinchuan Group the entire indirect equity interest
in the assets previously owned and operated by the South
African listed company, Metorex (Proprietary) Limited
("Metorex”). Upon acquiring the Metorex assets, JCl became the
operator of a number of mines and projects in the Central
African countries of the Republic of Zambia (“Zambia”) and the
Democratic Republic of the Congo (“DRC"). The acquired assets
now operated by JCl are:

D OPERATING MINES:

—  Ruashi Mine (75% ownership) — located in DRC and
comprising 3 open pits and a process plant
producing copper cathode for direct sale on the
international market.

—  Chibuluma South Mine (85% ownership) — located
in Zambia and comprising an underground mine
with a processing plant producing copper
concentrate for sale to a smelter located in Zambia.

p  DEVELOPMENT PROJECT:

—  Kinsenda Project (77% ownership) — located in DRC
and is one of the world’s highest grade copper
deposits with resources grade at 5.5% copper. The
underground mine currently being developed is
scheduled to be in production in the first half of
2017.

P  EXPLORATION PROJECTS (advanced stage):
—  Musonoi Project (75% ownership) and Lubembe
Project (77% ownership) both located in DRC and
are currently under exploration and feasibility.

The Jinchuan Group currently retains an approximate 75%
ownership of JCI. The Jinchuan Group was founded in 1958 and
is a state-owned enterprise with its majority interest held by the
People’s Government of Gansu Province. The Jinchuan Group is
one of the world’s largest mining enterprises being the fourth
largest producer of nickel in the world, second largest cobalt
producer in the world and the third largest copper producer in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC").

*  For identification purposes only
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE

REVENUE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
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Above results mainly comprise:

FREEEEERE

] Post-tax impairment loss attributable to owners of the Company
RRRBEAR NEIGHB &R EEE

- Exchange gain, attributable to the owners of the Company, arising from
amount due to a fellow subsidiary that was settled in 2013 and thus no
such exchange difference thereafter
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

Whilst times are currently difficult and we

are focused on ensuring the profitability and
sustainability of our current businesses in
these difficult times, we are also focused on
the future. The cycle will eventually turn and
the Company is seeking to position itself so as

to be able to reap significant rewards when

the market conditions change for the better.
EEANMEEREHRGE > RMESHEFEN
EBRSFHERNNARTEDRATGHEE 8
BHFERIRKE - BHIREEER  MFLE
ESRERAFIKR - LUER R IFEF RIS
REXER -

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

2015 has been a challenging year for the global mining industry.
No traditional commodity has remained unaffected by the global
downturn in the metals markets. The slowdown in growth of the
world’s major economies and especially the construction in the
emerging markets has had an unprecedented impact on the
global economy as a whole and most specifically on our metals
mining and trading business.

Ours is a cyclical business. Whilst times are currently difficult and
we are focused on ensuring the profitability and sustainability of
our current businesses in these difficult times, we are also
focused on the future. The cycle will eventually turn and the
Company is seeking to position itself so as to be able to reap
significant rewards when the market conditions change for the
better.

During 2015, a number of significant events took place at the
Company. As a result of the falling copper price, the Board took
the prudent decision to book a further impairment loss on

4 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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mining and related assets and write down US$312 million for
the year under review, and it demonstrates the Board's
commitment to the best international financial and management
practice. Further, cost savings implemented during the year at
the operating mines and optimization of mining plans and
activities will ultimately lead to better business outcomes. In the
first half of 2015, a number of senior management changes
were implemented at our African operations and Johannesburg
office. These changes have resulted in a renewed focus on our
business principles and have resulted in significant savings for
the business. As copper prices have continued to remain
unstable and to fall further, we continually review the ongoing
operating performance of our mines and projects and have
initiated strategic plans in the event of further weakening in the
market.

The Board remains committed to developing and growing the
Company into a world-class international mining and resource
business. As a significant step in that journey, in mid-2015, |
relinquished my position as CEO of the Company and Mr. Peter
Albert was appointed as the new CEO and Executive Director of
the Company. In the short time that Peter has been on board, he
has made a significant difference by assisting the African
leadership team in stabilizing the operations, building an
internationally focused team in our Hong Kong headquarters,
and focusing on looking for the next growth opportunities for
the Company.

I would like to reassure all of our shareholders that the
Company, led by myself and our CEO are all focused on
“Embracing the Challenges” that are presented in these difficult
times. We are focused on optimizing and sustaining our current
business and at the same time focused on the future and the
next step in our growth strategy.

I would like to thank my fellow Directors for their commitment
and support and especially to Mr. Douglas Ritchie who stepped
down as a Director at the end of 2015 for his significant
contribution during the early stages of the establishment and
development of the Company.

Finally, I would like to thank the People’s Government of Gansu

Province for their dedicated support to the Jinchuan Group and
the Company.

Mr. Yang Zhiqgiang
Chairman of the Board

Jinchang City, Gansu Province, the PRC, 17 March 2016
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CEQ’S REPORT
TRREHS

As stated by the Chairman, in times of
adversity there are opportunities. At the
Company we have been actively looking for
new potential growth opportunities. We will
be very diligent in this process and only act
if we identify a good asset, with a good fit,

which can help in the growth development and
fulfilment of our vision.

IEMERFAR » EHRPARTERRE - LT —
ERESEFNEEERBE - RMEERPR
B0o8) mMAEVEIIFELSHERTENN
ATASERTEH  WEFEVTAEHRLXMER
RERZEMBOMER -

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, BFEVEHHRER :

During the past year, the Company has been tackling and X4 » KRR AR & & IE % I8 N 20 Pk 8 & i
dealing with a number of internal challenges and opportunities & - RIS EEBRBFE TS EETLTHE = N ER
whilst at the same time securing the business against the storms — {PZ AL o

and tempests prevalent in the international markets.

| joined the Company in mid-2015 with a mandate to support HAAR-ZE—REFEFRMALRAT - BE
the sustainability of the current business and, in time to grow #EREBAHEURE  THEEHE
the business into an internationally recognized mid-tier miner ABEERRR - £ Z AR EEZBEE

e G2
producing multiple metals in multiple geographies. The MBEATIMET - AAFINEERE
HA 5 -

B i 2 T 7

Company’s major shareholder, the Jinchuan Group, is focused E;FRAKRRHAAIFELE - I 2
on a long term sustainable future and shares my own vision that FERENER » BAEM I ZET @ 7]

in these difficult times there are good opportunities for those 2kt &R # -
with courage, fortitude and of course financial support.

Our operating mines in Zambia and the DRC, are both ZAAREELLG MR (&) EENRSH AR
challenging operations. In Zambia the limited mine life of our A B HE B X K- £ B LT B M B
Chibuluma South Mine and the diminishing economics of the Chibuluma M= GHR @ M1 FHREET
Chifupu deposit as a result of falling copper prices and increasing & K& & /3 BN hN % Chifupu B PR 89 48 78 5%
power costs, has resulted in the Company reconsidering the 2% & » {8 AN A & & # £ & Chifupu i /K 35 B
current ongoing development of Chifupu deposit and reducing #3548 % 2R 2> Chibuluma AR E & © T
production from Chibuluma South Mine. This has unfortunately =&)2 + & 2 Chibuluma E‘sﬁﬁ}%ﬁﬂ}&%ﬁ%

led to a significant reduction in the labour force at Chibuluma h’lj;‘a‘é’%i)}jj HARZEENEEESDERLE
South Mine which although inevitably, is regretful. As the mine MBS B A T e APRE —T—ﬁiﬁ)ﬁi@—
approaches the end of its operating life, mining operations have i? 12 726H¢Efﬂif B - (RRETEIA20% °
become more challenging with the mine producing 12,726

tonnes of copper in concentrate in 2015, approximately 20%

EH\

luf

below plan.

In the DRC, the Ruashi Mine has seen a gradual improvement 7ERIE (4) * Ruas |E%EA¢WL*/FE&i B
during the year as the new management team has implemented [E A& 12 E K2 aﬁm%lﬁ """"" AE o RSN
changes. Total copper and cobalt production for the year was %E;’%%*E%%ﬁ B 12 - 9 Bl A& 35,056 1 i
largely on target with 35,056 tonnes copper and 4,344 tonnes [ 4,344 18 % + B EJr%JE’]%% % 103% ° AR
cobalt, being 96% and 103% of plan respectively. Copper T HHETIETE @ RuashilEH e GilE e — &
cathode quality at Ruashi Mine has been problematic due to #ARfE BEHEER T AEFRAFEZ
variable power supply, but by year end of 2015 such quality had )2 =% - Ruashifg &9 & e 2 F 2 k& >
been significant improved. Power supply to Ruashi Mine is one — -3 BBTEHNEH @ BITEESYHRARE
of the major challenges. Without good power, self-generation #ha)E SRS £ -

has a significant impact on both costs and cathode quality.

6 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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Overall operating costs have been contained, but the higher
power costs at both operations and the lower tonnage, especially
at Chibuluma South Mine, have had a negative impact. The
business C1 costs are slightly greater than plan, but nonetheless
still US$700 per tonne less than the average copper price
received for the year. The significant recent dip in copper price
to the levels of US$4,500 per tonne has put the business under
increasing pressure.

During the year, the Company took a prudent approach to
capital expenditure, significantly reducing non-essential capital
expenditure at the operations and also being discretionary about
capital expenditure at head office and the projects.

The safety and health of our approximately 4,600 employees and
contractors is of primary importance to the Board, and is a key
measure in the performance of our management team.
Unfortunately, we had one fatality at the Chibuluma South Mine
in early 2015 due to a fall of ground in the underground
operations. During the year, there were three lost time injuries at
Ruashi Mine, six lost time injuries at Chibuluma South Mine and
two lost time injuries at Kinsenda Project. Overall the operating
business lost time injury frequency rate per million man hours
("LTIFR") was 1.3 versus 0.9 for 2014. Although compared to
the global average for underground operating mines this is a low
LTIFR, the Board and management’s philosophy is that all
accidents are avoidable and no accident is acceptable.

In the latter half of the year there was a renewed focus on
investor relations and a reinvigorated communications strategy.
The intent is to reach out to all of our stakeholders and to
enhance the profile of the Company as a truly international
competitive mining company.

As stated by the Chairman, in times of adversity there are
opportunities. At the Company we have been actively looking
for new potential growth opportunities. We will be very diligent
in this process and only act if we identify a good asset, with a
good fit, which can help in the growth development and
fulfilment of our vision. We hope to be successful in 2016, but
to reassure shareholders — we will be very focused and strict in
our assessment of any new opportunity.

One of another important leg of the Company business is our
trading group operating under Golden Harbour. 2015 has also
been a difficult time for the trading business where a slight loss
was recorded for the year. In 2016 our plan is to increase the
resources and business lines of Golden Harbour and look
forward to enhanced profits in years to come.

| would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow
management team for their dedication and commitment to
ensuring the sustainability of our business in these challenging
times. | would also like to thank the Chairman and Directors for
their support and confidence in our execution strategy and plans
to deliver the vision we have for the future of the Company.

Mr. Peter Geoffrey Albert
Chief Executive Officer

Jinchang City, Gansu Province, the PRC, 17 March 2016
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MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW

PR T EER

The Group’s Mining Operations include two operating mines
(Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine), one development
project (Kinsenda Project) and two exploration projects (Musonoi
Project and Lubembe Project).

A summary of the Group's expenditure incurred on its mining
production, development and exploration activities from each
mine and project for the year ended 31 December 2015 are as
follows:

For the year ended Expenditure

N EE B IE XS 0 5 M E 28 1815 (Ruashi &
X Chibuluma /@ #&) « — @28 B (Kinsenda
H B ) &M {E K #%IE B (Musonoil® B &
Lubembe I8 H ) °

ATHINAEESBESNABEEZE_T—AF
TA=T—HUEFEZREBLE HAERR
BEBAELZHME

Expenditure  Expenditure

31 December 2015 on mining on on
production development exploration Total
activities activities activities  expenditure
HEZZ—AF RREE
TZA=T—HLFE ERXH BRERRH FEEEXE ¥
US$ million US$ million US$ million US$ million
HEBER HEER HEXER ER-EI
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 452 2.2 - 47.4
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma 7% 7.6 12.6 0.4 20.6
Chifupu deposit Chifupu &R - 5.2 04 5.6
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda 18 H - 100.2 - 100.2
Musonoi Project Musonoi 18 E - 1.3 - 1.3
Lubembe Project Lubembe T8 B - - - -
Total expenditure B 52.8 121.5 0.8 175.1
OPERATING MINES =EEE
Ruashi Mine Ruashi &
Overview e

The Ruashi Mine is an opencast oxide copper and cobalt mine
situated in the DRC on the outskirts of Lubumbashi, which is the
capital of the Katanga Province. It was first discovered by Union
Miniére in 1919 and has been intensively evaluated by drilling
over the years. Up to end of 2015, 1,858 drillholes have been
drilled on the mine.

The Ruashi Mine currently consists of three open-pit deposits
and a modern SX-EW leach processing plant. These deposits
occur along strike of each other over a combined strike length of
2,000 meters, and are separated by cross-cutting faults and
breccia zones.

The Group indirectly owns 75% interest of Ruashi Mine and the
remaining 25% interest is held by Gécamines, a state-owned
mining company in the DRC.

Ruashif& J5 — PEAZ A I SR (&) B A E & (N}
mnE&Ee)BREzEBRXERE  HE - FER
— A — N H Union Miniére 338 » 1 ZF R iFE
BEFRETHETGEIE - HE-T—AFK
A fERZRES B IR 1,858 [EHE FL -

Ruashif& B i 8215 = {E F& K iER X — IR RI(E
B SX-EW /=B IBTER o 2 SRR L IR A BHE
HRE2,000KEaER AW - AEYEE X
BREIRRA -

& E fH B2 ¥E B Ruashi B ) 75% #E 2 - 82 T
5% EEHAR(2) HEARERERA

Gécamines A ©
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MINING OPERATIONAL REVIEW
R R T R

Operational Review

In 2015, power supply to Ruashi Mine did not get completely
resolved. Although stability of grid power supply tended to
improve in the last quarter of 2015, it was still far from
satisfaction in terms of the number of grid power outages for
the year. This not only increased the average costs of power at
Ruashi Mine due to greater usage of expensive diesel generators,
but also impacted copper production.

Production and sales summary for Ruashi Mine:

& B O

NoE— £¢ RuashilEME Wit ERE =2
i E" T -RFERE— 1.*7%‘?@&%
ERNBTENEE AW UEREELH

i FRERENH J‘@‘E@%i’l‘iﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁa
HARERE L S ESOMIEE » Ruashi R E 7
FHRATEIEIN - R BREES -

Ruashifig 2 E& MIHEME :

For the year ended 31 December 2015 2014
HET-A=+t—HLFE —E—AF —PO4F
PRODUCTION: Es

Copper (tonne) #f (W8 ) 35,056 37,170
Cobalt (tonne) & (18) 4,344 3,885
PRODUCT SOLD: HEZER

Copper (tonne) i (198 35,059 37,080
Cobalt (tonne) &4 (WE) 4,331 3,874
Revenue (US$ million) WA(BEEZET) 262.1 331.3
Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) e TG (T, W) 4,629 6,883

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2015
decreased by 5.7% to 35,056 tonnes as compared to 2014. The
decrease in copper is attributed to decreased tonnages of ore
milled by 8.36% mainly due to the instability of the grid power
supply to Ruashi Mine in the first half of the year.

An increase in cobalt production of 11.8% during the year
ended 31 December 2015 as compared to 2014 was the result
of an increase in ore headgrade due to greater treatment of a
specific high cobalt grade area of the mine, Black Ore Mineral
Zone, as well as high cobalt material in stock pile.

The decrease in revenue is attributable to the decrease in volume
of copper sold and the reduction in the copper and cobalt price
and was partly offset by an increase in volume of cobalt sold.

The capital expenditure of Ruashi Mine for the year ended 31
December 2015 totalled US$2.2 million, which was primarily
spent on cathode replacements, acid storage tanks and
debottlenecking of the plant.

The Company continues to discuss and strategize on ways of
becoming less reliant on the DRC power grid, which is mainly
hydro-generated and often unstable especially during the dry
season. These discussions have led to partnerships being actively
explored with fellow miners in the DRC in an attempt to jointly
find alternative solutions.

10 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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HE—_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HLFEZIRE
gf_f PO5 8 4 5.7% & 35,056 - H R

AR A WA BUM ) 8.36% + T & TIEAF
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Chibuluma South Mine and Chifupu deposit
Overview

Chibuluma South Mine is an underground copper mine situated
in Zambia located 13 km from the town of Kalulushi. The
Chifupu deposit is located approximately 1.7 km from the
Chibuluma South Mine.

The Company indirectly owns 85% interest of Chibuluma South
Mine (including Chifupu deposit) and the remaining 15%
interest is held by ZCCM Investment Holdings plc, a Zambian
state-owned mining company.

Operational Review

Chibuluma South Mine has undertaken a reserve replacement
program with development of a small neighboring copper
deposit, Chifupu deposit, which is expected to be able to extend
the life-of-mine (“LOM") until 2022. The project has been scaled
down during first quarter of 2016 due to current market prices
and its future will be re-evaluted.

Production and sales summary for Chibuluma South Mine:

Chibuluma ¥ K Chifupu IER
BLE

Chibuluma & 1% J5 — BE {7 A B LL a8 A9 1 TN 5
7% » P Kalulushi$8 & 132 B © Chifupu B FK £2
Chibuluma FEEHEAREEAI 1.7 A& o

N2 ) fEl 2 # A Chibuluma FE & (82 3E Chifupu
TEIR) 8 85% i#ws » AT 15% Em M BT —
BB &2 A R ZCCM Investment Holdings plc
ESR I

&EEDRA

ChibulumamEE HRMEEEETE  EHE
B 3 — /N SRTE AR Chifupu BB AR+ T 5T 54 TE IR
BREEREBESEwH((BEETH)E2=-F
ZZFcERENTSER  ZEADKRIE
—ANEFE—FEHEBRE  EBRNFTEEE
WE -

ChibulumamiEz E2 REEMEHNT ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2015 2014
Het+t-A=1t—HILFE —E—HF —E-mF
PRODUCTION: EE:

Copper (tonne) i (18 12,726 16,890
PRODUCT SOLD: HE CEMm

Copper (tonne) i (18 13,303 16,402
Revenue (US$ million) WA (BEEET) 71.4 113.1
Average LME Copper price (US$/tonne) fRe e (Emx, M) 4,629 6,883

Copper production for the year ended 31 December 2015
decreased by 24.7% to 12,726 tonnes as compared to 2014.
The decrease was due to lower ore grade as a result of dilution
arising from collapsed stopes attributed to unfavourable ground
conditions at Chibuluma South Mine and also poor production
machine availability.

Copper revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015
decreased by 36.9% to US$71.4 million as compared to that of
the prior year. The reduced revenue is attributed to lower copper
production and lower average copper price.

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2015
totalled US$18.6 million, which was primarily spent on
underground mine development, purchase of new production
machines; and expenditure in opening of the Chifupu deposit.

HE-_Z-—AF+-_A=1+—BILFEZE
ER T —NETE24.7%Z 12,7267 - &
S84 2 B Chibuluma m & 2 T F) b & &1
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TR TR EEARES R FHRE TR
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DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
Kinsenda Project
Overview

The Kinsenda Project is a brownfield copper development project
situated in the Katanga Province of the DRC and ranks as one of
the world’s highest grade copper deposits. The project has good
access to infrastructure, with a sealed single-lane road
connecting the mine to the regional highway 20 km to the west
of the site. This project will see an existing mine from 1980 being
reinvigorated into an initial 24,000 tonnes per annum copper
concentrate mine.

There exist substantial additional mineral resources that could
see the mine have an estimated life in excess of 20 years. Once
steady state is achieved, the option to increase throughput will
be evaluated.

In 2014, the Group was granted a US$225 million bank loan
facility by China Development Bank Corporation to finance the
development and construction of Kinsenda Project. Construction
of the process plant was completed in 2015. The unfavorable
ground conditions and flooding of underground works affected
the progress of mine development, and thus the project is
rescheduled to be commissioned for production in the first half
of 2017.

The capital expenditure on the Kinsenda Project for the year
ended 31 December 2015 was US$100.2 million, which was
primarily spent on the construction and development of the
processing plant and the mine. Total project cost to date is
US$292.9 million.

12 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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EXPLORATION PROJECTS
Musonoi Project
Overview

The Musonoi Project is a greenfield copper and cobalt
exploration project located on the northern outskirts of Kolwezi,
approximately 360km North West of Lubumbashi city, the capital
of the Katanga Province of the DRC.

Up until 31 December 2015, the focus at Musonoi Project has
been to perform a number of optimisation studies on the
bankable feasibility study completed in 2014. The studies have
indicated that the orebody occurs on the eastern end of the
Dilala Syncline and is a blind deposit with high-grade
mineralisation starting at between 50 and 100 m below surface.
The orebody has a strike length of 600 to 700 m and is open
ended at depth below 600m from surface, and will be mined
from underground using a long hole stopping or sub-level
stopping with backfill mining method.

As at 31 December 2015, a total of 89 diamond drillholes have
been drilled on the Musonoi Project area totalling 24,604
meters. 60 drillholes covering 17,880 meters have been collared
in the Dilala East area and 21 drillholes covering 3,223 meters in
the Dilala West area.

The optimisation studies have, as expected, reduced the capital
expenditure estimated during the initial bankable feasibility
study. The final approval and funding strategy is anticipated to
be approved in 2016.

Lubembe Project

Overview

The Lubembe Project is a greenfield copper exploration project
situated in the Katanga Province of the DRC. No additional

progress has been made in evaluating this deposit during the
year.

HRkmAE
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES
RiER#EE

OVERVIEW

The Group’s mineral resources and mineral reserves statement
presented in this report have been prepared as at 31 December
2015 and serves as an update to the mineral resources and
mineral resources statement as at 31 December 2014.

Mineral resources are defined as a concentration or occurrence
of material of economic interest in or on the earth’s crust in such
a form, quality, and quantity that there are reasonable and
realistic prospects for eventual economic extraction. Mineral
reserves are defined as the economically mineable material
derived from a measured or indicated mineral resource. All
mineral resources and mineral reserves information presented
are compliant with the South African Code for the Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Reserves (the
SAMREC Code), and are reported according to the requirements
of Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s mineral resources are
estimated to contain 4,604 kt of copper and 371 kt of cobalt.
The Group’s mineral reserves as at 31 December 2015 are
estimated to contain 555 kt of copper and 36 kt of cobalt.

MINERAL RESOURCES

The Group’s mineral resources as at 31 December 2015
accounted for all the currently existing mining projects of the
Group, being two operating mines Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma
South Mine (including Chifupu deposit), a development project
of Kinsenda Project and two exploration projects of Musonoi
Project and Lubembe Project.

The Mineral Resources are quoted inclusive of Mineral Reserves.
MINERAL RESOURCES DISCUSSION

The Group Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2015 decreased
marginally to 4,604 kt of contained copper from 4,644 kt of that
as at 31 December 2014. The decrease in Group Mineral
Resources was mainly contributed by the depletions and cut-off
grade changes at Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine
(including Chifupu deposit). There has been no change in
Mineral Resources for the Kinsenda Project, Musonoi Project and
Lubembe Project from 31 December 2014 to 31 December 2015
as only limited exploration drilling was carried out at Musonoi
Project, and no drilling at all at either Kinsenda Project or
Lubembe Project.
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AEENR -_Z—FHF+-_A=+—HB2ZEEL
BER -—ZT—NE+-A=+—H2373TH
HEERMTHEREINTFE  NEXEHR
Ruashi & B &1t E R 1B FEFTEL ° Musonoi 18 B
NEHREEREWEZE -

The Group Mineral Resources as at 31 December 2015 decreased
slightly to 371 kt of contained cobalt from 373 kt of that as at
31 December 2014. The decrease was mostly due to depletion
of oxide resources at Ruashi Mine. There has been no change in
the contained cobalt mineral resources at Musonoi Project.

The following table summarises the total mineral resources of T%*ﬁﬁ;zﬁﬁ .E/Q\: T-RFE+-_A=+—8H
the Group as at 31 December 2015: ZBEEERRE
31 December 2015 1 December 2014
“E-RETZA=1- :?*IEKJer*Jr*El
Mmeral Resources Tonnage Grade? Contained Metals  Tonnage Grade? Contained Metals
EERED Wz L AC) 24EE WL mfi® ZEEE
(M) (%Cu) (%Co) (ktCu) (ktCo) M) (% Cu) (% C kt Cu) kt Co)
(BEM) (%) (%#) (THE) (FWE) (FEM) (%) (%ﬁi) (FmEsh) @Efﬁ)
Ruashi Mine Ruashiﬁ
(oxide and sulphide) (ELRANFER)
— Measured — R 0.4 3.0 0.4 13 2 0.8 3.8 0.5 30 4
— Indicated — | 144 24 0.4 346 52 14.7 2.5 0.4 360 52
— Inferred — 121 23 0.2 281 30 12.0 23 0.3 280 29
— Total Ruashi Mine —Ruashi B4zt 26.9 24 03 640 83 275 24 03 670 85
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibuluma &5
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibuluma &5
— Measured — 18 1.9 41 - 78 - 2.2 4.0 - 88 -
— Indicated — 5 0.3 4.2 - 13 - 0.3 4.4 - 13 -
— Inferred — e - - - - - 3.8 - - -
— Total Chibuluma —Chibuluma
South Mine Ehy 22 4.1 - 91 - 25 4.0 - 101 -
Chifupu deposit Chifu uB kR
— Measured E 0.8 2.7 - 23 - 0.8 2.7 - 22 -
— Indicated —T 0.4 2.0 - 7 - 0.4 2.0 - 7 -
— Inferred — ” ) 14 2.6 - 36 - 1.4 2.6 37
— Total Chifupu deposit ~ —Chifupu TR &5+ 2.6 2.6 - 66 - 2.6 26 - 66 -
— Total Chibuluma South  —Chibuluma 12
Mine (including (B4 Chifupu
Chifupu deposit) TER) 25t 48 33 - 156 - 5.1 33 - 167 -
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda 18 B
(Development Project)  (BI3¢1EE)
— Measured — R0 - - - - - - - - - -
— Indicated — 135 5.3 - 711 - 135 53 - M -
— Inferred — 15 6.0 - 446 - 7.5 6.0 - 446 -
— Total Kinsenda Project ~ —KinsendaZ8 B
st 21.0 5.5 - 1,157 - 21.0 55 - 1,157 -
Musonoi Project Musonoi 5 B
(Exploration Project) (FIEER)
— Measured — k8 13.0 33 0.9 424 119 13.0 33 0.9 424 119
— Indicated — 2 13.9 24 0.9 328 127 13.9 24 0.9 328 127
— Inferred — MR 438 2.5 0.9 121 42 48 2.5 0.9 121 42
— Total Musonoi Project ~ —Musonoi 38 B
et 31.7 2.8 0.9 873 288 31.7 28 0.9 873 288
Lubembe Project Lubembe 1§ B
(Exploration Project) (FHER)
— Measured — 8 - - - - - - - - - -
— Indicated - %\J 54.0 1.9 - 1,016 - 54.0 19 - 1,016 -
— Inferred 36.6 21 - 761 - 36.6 2.1 - 761 -
— Total Lubembe Project  — LubembeIE E|
st 90.6 2.0 - 1,777 - 90.6 20 - 1,777 -
Group' s Resources rEEERE
— Measured — 178 16.1 33 0.8 538 121 16.8 34 0.7 564 123
— Indicated — 32| 96.5 25 0.2 2,423 179 96.8 25 0.2 2,436 179
— Inferred — BT 62.4 2.6 0.1 1,643 n 62.3 26 0.1 1,644 7
— Total Resources -BREM 175.0 2.6 0.2 4,604 37 175.9 2.6 0.2 4,644 373
16 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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Notes:

(1) The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding.
Mineral Resources for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with SAMREC Code. Mineral Resources are quoted
inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

2) The grade for the Chibuluma South Mine, the Chifupu deposit and the
Lubembe Project is TCu grade.

MINERAL RESERVES

The Group's mineral reserves as at 31 December 2015 accounted
for the two operating mines Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South
Mine (including Chifupu deposit) and the development project
of Kinsenda Project. No mineral reserves have been declared for
the exploration projects of Musonoi Project and Lubembe Project
as at 31 December 2015.

MINERAL RESERVES DISCUSSION

The Group Mineral Reserves amounted to 555 kt contained
copper and 36 kt contained cobalt as at 31 December 2015 as
compared to 583 kt contained copper and 41 kt contained
cobalt as at 31 December 2014.

The drop in copper and cobalt reserves at Ruashi Mine are mainly
attributable to: (a) mining depletions, a new pit optimization and
mine design study revised in 2015; (b) reduction in the long term
metal price forecasts used in the 2015 LOM study; and (c) higher
operating costs largely due to power shortfalls in the DRC power
grid requiring the use of on-mine diesel generators, which
resulted in a reduction in the size of the final pit design.

The decrease in copper reserves at Chibuluma South Mine
reflected the depletion in the period.

No changes have been made to the Kinsenda Project’s Mineral
Reserves in 2015 where construction is in progress.

i

(1) HFEAWIEREHE - WA RERETTI R ML NE - &
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TREAARER-F A4 +-A=+—8
TBERESE -

The following table summarises the total mineral reserves of the
Group as at 31 December 2015:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

“E-RfE+ZA=t-H “T-mF+=A=+—-A
Mineral Reserves™ Tonnage Grade? Contained Metals  Tonnage Grade? Contained Metals
RERE" L RiL® 2LEE WEfiz mfi® 22EE
(M) (%Cu (%Co) (ktCu) (ktCo) (M) (% Cu (% Co) (kt Cu) (kt Co)
(BEM) (%sA) (%#h) (FWEE) (FWsh) (FEME)  (%#) (%) (FHEER) (FuHash)
Ruashi Mine (oxide) Ruashi & (£t 1)
— Proved Reserves -BERE 0.6 35 0.4 21 4 05 36 2.0 18 10
— Probable Reserves —HBEE 83 22 0.4 181 32 9.1 22 04 201 31
— Total Ruashi Mine —RuashiT&# 5+ 8.9 23 0.4 202 36 9.6 23 0.4 219 41
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibuluma 3
Chibuluma South Mine  Chibuluma &
— Proved Reserves -REHE 1.5 28 - 40 - 1.6 32 - 51 -
— Probable Reserves — S 0.3 3.4 - 9 - 0.2 3.8 - 9 -
— Total Chibuluma —Chibuluma
South Mine it 1.7 29 - 49 - 1.8 33 - 60 -
Chifupu deposit Chifupu &
— Proved Reserves —EEHE 0.4 26 - 9 - 0.4 2.1 - 8 -
— Probable Reserves -BBEE 0.1 1.8 - 2 - 0.2 18 - 3 -
— Total Chifupu deposit ~ —Chifupu Rk &5t 0.5 23 - " - 06 20 - 11 -
— Total Chibuluma South  —Chibuluma 58
Mine (including (8% Chifupu
Chifupu deposit) TR st 22 26 - 60 - 24 30 - 71 -
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda & B
(Development Project)  (BAZIEE)
— Proved Reserves -EEHE - - - - - - - - - -
— Probable Reserves —-HREE 6.1 4.8 - 293 - 6.1 48 - 293 -
— Total Kinsenda Project ~ —Kinsenda 8 B £ 5t 6.1 4.8 = 293 = 6.1 4.8 - 293 -
Group' s Reserves rEERE
— Proved Reserves -BERE 24 2.9 0.1 70 4 2.5 3.1 0.4 77 10
— Probable Reserves -BBEE 14.8 33 0.2 485 32 156 33 0.2 506 31
— Total Reserves —HEEi 17.2 3.2 0.2 555 36 18.1 32 0.2 583 41
Notes: Bt &

HFWIERERE - WAl ESITERMEEME - &
EEERIBE ZBREREH A SAMRECH A - I
7 5t Musonoi 8 B & Lubembe I8 B 57 3 (T o 12 2=

=
2-°

(1) The figures do not imply precision and may not total due to rounding. (1)
Mineral Reserves for the various operations and projects have been
compiled in compliance with SAMREC Code. No Mineral Reserve has as yet
been declared for the Musonoi Project and the Lubembe Project.

(2) The grade for the Chibuluma South Mine and the Chifupu deposit is TCu  (2)
grade.

Chibuluma & } Chifupu /R 2 fahl B2 E R AT ©

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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COMPETENT PERSON STATEMENT

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves as at 31 December 2015
in this report have been reviewed and compiled by Mr. T P
Williams, BSc (Hons), PrSciNat (South African Council of Natural
and Scientific Professionals Registration No 400387/04), FSAIMM
(Fellow of the South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy).
Mr. Williams is the Mineral Resource Management Executive for
Metorex and is a full-time employee of the Group. He is a mining
geologist with more than 25 years’ experience in exploration,
resource development, estimation and mining geology in gold
and base metals through West, Central and East Africa.

Mr. Williams qualifies as a Competent Person under Chapter 18
of the Listing Rules and the SAMREC Code. He has confirmed in
writing that the information disclosed is compliant with Chapter
18 of the Listing Rules, and that it may be published in the form
and context in which it is intended.

BERALTEH

KREFR_E—AF+_A=T—"RHZEBE
BRNMBERMEZTHET P Williams 5L £ F B &
MR Willamsc £ B2 (4 E) &
PrSciNat (South African Council of Natural and
Scientific Professionals & fft 4 5% : 400387/04)
M FSAIMM(South African Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy) & & ° Williams 5t 4 A& Metorex
JEEEREETHRAE  UAREEZRIE
B o ARBMESR - Nk - PIEREIE
NES MEASBHE BREE - FHHEK
B EEFEEA 25 F45H o

Williams 5¢ £ 77 & £ #R A28 18 & & SAMREC
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

AARRES

This section covers the activities of JCl's operation office in
Johannesburg and all mining and associated activities of JCI
Group. Our Hong Kong Head Office is not included in this report
given its immaterial impacts.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

JCI continues to implement Safety, Health, Environment and
Community (“SHEC") policies and management plans that guide
its SHEC performance across the Group. An electronic web-
based SHEC and risk management system, IsoMetrix, is utilised
throughout the Group which is accessible at anytime from
anywhere by all recognised users. The Ruashi Mine and
Chibuluma South Mine attained certification to the international
standard for environmental management systems, 1SO14001,
during 2015.

JCl board oversight of Group SHEC matters is undertaken by the
Executive Committee Board sub-committee. The committee
meets prior to the board meetings to review SHEC performance
reports from the various operations. Information considered
includes the number and nature of incidents, serious potential
incidents, hazards identified, risk assessments, occupational
health trends, consumption of resources, community initiatives
and stakeholder concerns raised at the Group and operational
level. Based upon this input as well as the guidance provided by
the Group policies, the Executive Committee provides strategic
guidance to the operations, works to share and standardise best
practice across operations, and provides feedback to the Board.

Fines and Legal Actions

The JCI Group and its operations incurred no fines or penalties
related to safety, environmental, community or occupational
health transgressions of legal and other requirements during
2015. No legal action was brought against JCI in this regard.

Environmental Incidents

No Level 3 (serious environmental harm) or greater
environmental incidents were reported at any of the Group
mines during 2015. Ruashi Mine recorded six Level 2 (material
environmental harm) incidents, which mainly involved
overtopping of the return water dam during times of high
rainfall. A water management plan, which includes increasing
the volume of the return water dams, is in progress. Chibuluma
South Mine recorded nine Level 2 environmental incidents, the
majority of which were associated with high levels of total
suspended solids in the tailings dam discharge water. This
occurred as a result of inadequate settling time on the top of the
dam as it nears full capacity. The environmental authorisations
for a new tailings storage facility have been obtained.

AEVREICITR BB R L EH FE M ICI
SENMERERABER EREZEER
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SHEC K [B\f & I Z 4t IsoMetrix * Fr A& A"
/) FA P ] BE B B M 55 7 5% R 47 ° Ruashi B &
Chibuluma EER —E— A F GRS E
I 38 X B RBIZ2EI1SO14001 ©
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Environmental Policy
The Group Environmental Policy is as follows:

JCl is committed to the responsible stewardship of natural
resources and the ecological environment. Environmental
management is recognised as a high corporate priority, and is a
component of “Zero Harm”, one of the Company’s core values.

JCl'is committed to:

o Continually improving the assessment and improvement of
environmental performance and the prevention of
pollution through the implementation of processes,
practices and techniques to avoid, reduce or control the
creation, emission or discharge of any type of pollutant or
waste and to reduce adverse environmental impacts;

o Conducting environmental impact assessments on all
relevant new programmes and projects;

o The integration of environmental management into
management practices throughout the Company;

o Minimising the use of consumptive resources and
promoting the reduction and recycling of waste products
where possible;

o Rehabilitating disturbed land and protecting environmental
biodiversity;

o Exercising prudence with critical ecological resources, in
particular where impacts are unknown or uncertain;

o Managing environmental risk in the workplace and
surrounding areas;

o Complying with applicable legal requirements and with
other requirements to which the organisation subscribes
and which relate to its environmental aspects;

o Training and educating employees in environmental
responsibilities; and

o Being transparent and constructive in interactions with
stakeholders.
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Employees and contractors working at JCI operations play a
fundamental role in achieving environmental objectives through:
o Taking ownership of, and participating in, environmental
management programmes and initiatives; and

Setting objective and targets for sound environmental
management within the framework of an 1SO14001
standard environmental management system.

EMISSIONS

The Company last compiled its carbon footprint report at the
end of 2013, and intends to update the information at the end
of 2016. The main emissions occur at Ruashi Mine as a result of
the large mining fleet operating in the Ruashi Mine pit. An
increase in diesel-generated power occurred at Ruashi Mine in
2013 due to power shortages in the DRC. This has resulted in a
significant increase in Ruashi Mine’s carbon footprint since that
time, as the power generated in the DRC is hydro-electric power.
The carbon footprint in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(CO2-e) and the Scope 1 and 2 emissions are shown in the tables
below. Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions (e.g. fuel use) and
Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions (e.g. purchased power).

Ruashi Mine’s main initiative to reduce its carbon footprint is to
reduce the mine’s reliance on diesel generation as a power
source. A power supply contract has been signed with Zambia's
Copperbelt Energy Corporation Plc (“CEC") in this regard. The
use of CEC power from Zambia reduces the mine’s carbon
footprint as the main source of power in Zambia is hydro-power.
The mine has also planted 500 hectares of maize and 3,000
trees, which play a role in offsetting emissions.

REINEREBNRENABEBBIATH
ARBERRE R RS EEZEREER

DIRANZERFEEGENER

D

. P ISO14001 2K IRIZE 1B A8 RAE LN FE
FERFHIREEEAMNNEE -

BER

RAT E— RN E—=F KRR ETE IR
S WHRR T NFREERETEF - =
DHF B A P Ruashi T © Jh B R KB R E
& Ruashi BEHT » ARAMIR (£) B 5
IR —F — = F Ruashi TBA 4L M EEF L0 - B
I 15 SR B B Ruashi B B9 3% 8 5 A 18 158
e BERNR(E)NENRKFEE - A =&
bk E & ([COz2-e ) HMEE T & MO fi% & WF K &0
E1R2HEREN TR - SE1HWE
BEESER(REER)  mEE2HRE A
MEHER(EEEN)

Ruashi & (& E Ak 2 BF Y £ 251 812 R R DT
ISEEREBIERB NIROKRE - LB REE
btk 82 &Y Copperbelt Energy Corporation Plc
([CECHEEZEHESN - ANEBLTNEESE
NRIRBKNEE - FRELECECENTR
DB - IS M2 EES00 AEH £
K 5 3,000 FEAG - 1t 8 5ORL D HE R 7 T R
HFE2EA -

Kinsenda Project operates a maize farm on the mine, which KinsendaZB B RES &L E KB RN
planted approximately 500 hectares of maize in 2015. —RFEELS00 R REHEK -
Total carbon footprint (t CO,-e) R 2B (t CO-e) 2011 2012 2013
2011-2013 —E——FEF-E—= —T——F ZET——-F ZE—=
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 28,852 24,806 61,293
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma Fa & 6,078 6,008 6,236
Kinsenda Project KinsendaI& H 1,434 1,061 2,399
Johannesburg Operational Office XA B EENER 1,453 961 657
JCI Group IOEE 37,817 32,836 70,585
Scope 1 and 2 emissions (t CO,-e) &iE 1% 28 E (t CO—e) 2011 2012 2013
2011-2013 —E-—FF-FE—= —E——F —ET——F ZZE—=
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 28,764 24,740 61,206
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma FEHE 6,051 5,968 6,198
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda I8 B 1,434 1,061 2,399
Johannesburg Operational Office AmeiTEELEHER 235 289 253
JCI Group I &EHE 36,484 32,058 70,056
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WASTE
Hazardous waste

The main types of hazardous waste generated by the mining
operations include waste oil and batteries. Medical waste is
generated by the hospital at Kinsenda Project and the Ruashi
Mine clinic, both of which have installed medical waste
incinerators.

Used oil generated at Chibuluma South Mine (62,370 litres in
2014 and 70,770 litres in 2015) is disposed of to a facility
licenced by the Zambia Environmental Management Agency
("ZEMA™) and used batteries are sold to licenced battery
companies. 808 tonnes of scrap metal was generated in 2015
(2014: 35 tonnes), which is initially stored in the salvage yard
and then sold to scrap dealers.

Ruashi Mine implemented an oil recycling programme in 2012.
Quantities of recycled oil from 2013-2014 at Ruashi Mine are
shown below. The programme was stopped in 2015 while the
disposal contracts were re-negotiated, and the programme will
commence again in 2016. The 81,800 litres generated during
this time were stored on-site pending disposal.

B
fekREEY

REEREEN T ERANEREYRIERE R
K& - BEEWMBRMF Kinsenda T8 B A
FRuashiEZ FTATES - —HEHELEEEE
VIR NE ©

ChibulumaFIEFTEAMEHR(—Z—UF A
62,370 A R =F—HF £70,770FF) RELL T
REEER(ZEMAL) BE BB R EEITE
ENBEEMWIE TEREEMAR - HE
£ 808ME(—Z—PU4F : 35MF)EES B - AT
BMANME IR S B 18 & TR -

RuashifE = — —F#{TMEIIER - (t =
L—=FF =L —HF L5 Ruashi TEH B 4L
MBEFETRNT - ZBEERZZE—RFRIE
MEEAAKEN RN ZHEEBER_E—X
FHREE - RNZHAMFTE£#/81,800F 0]
WCRIEIRISTE N UEFREE -

Ruashi Mine’s Waste Oil Recycling Ruashi /2 B Uk 2013 2014 2015
—E-=F ZT-MF ZEB-HF
Waste oil recycled (litres) B e EE s (FH) 53,500 85,000 81,800

Other hazardous waste generated at Ruashi Mine includes
sulphur ash and vanadium pentoxide catalyst from the acid
plant. The hazardous waste is currently stored on site as the DRC
does not have a licenced hazardous waste disposal facility.
Methods for safe disposal are under investigation by the mine.
The amounts of hazardous waste generated by Ruashi Mine are
shown in the table below.

A Ruashi B E A FyE b 5 ERE Y B 35 2k B &k
BB R BRI —JURILE - BEEDER
BT EAMR (&) WEEEGE ZEY
BRERE - Z2RENTEEHREBESNEET
##1T o MRuashiBEEN B EREMEER TR
T :

Ruashi Mine’s hazardous waste  Ruashi i =4+ ZEY 2013 2014 2015
generation —E-= —T—mE ZE-FHF
Sulphur ash (tonnes) WE (ME) 141 152 177
Vanadium pentoxide catalyst (litres) T &/ —§Rf& (LA () 7,000 10,500 z
Non-hazardous waste FEEED

Ruashi Mine disposes of non-hazardous waste to a domestic
landfill on site. 33.1 tonnes of waste was disposed of in 2014
and 17.1 tonnes in 2015. Chibuluma South Mine generated
1,290 tonnes of domestic waste in 2014 and 218 tonnes in
2015 which was disposed of to a municipal landfill site. Kinsenda
Project removes approximately 30 tonnes per month of domestic
waste from the mine site and surrounding village. This is
deposited at the dump site located 4km from the village.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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In addition to re-using one-kilo-litre reagent containers, Ruashi
Mine has implemented a plastic re-cycling programme. 26.3
tonnes were recycled in 2014, and 48.6 tonnes were recycled in
2015.

RESOURCE USE
Energy Consumption

The power supplied by the utilities in Zambia and the DRC is
largely hydro-electric power. The mines in the DRC have
experienced shortages of supply from power utilities since 2013,
and diesel generators are used as an alternative power source.
Ruashi Mine’s power consumption is shown as kWh per tonne
of finished copper. Chibuluma South Mine produces copper
concentrate, so the power consumption is reflected as kWh per
tonne of copper concentrate produced. Kinsenda Project is still
under construction (the main use of power is for mine
dewatering) so the total power consumption is shown.

Ruashi Mine runs a baseload of 6MW in times of sporadic power
supply through the use of diesel generators installed on site.

BREHER —THOSAE B - RuashifEE
B —BEEERES R —FOUWK
26 3R — T — RO 48.6 ELB K] -

BiFF A
BERH#E
’%ttﬂﬁ&ﬂﬂ%(’f)ﬁ’] BT ERNE R
B Bk FIEE ﬂU%(i)ﬁEiEQ T—=F
PABRAE R ﬁmE’JEajJT LRERE R - SoHBE
M FAYEZ B IR © RuashifEHIE J1SEFEA T

FLBS /S MERK S SR 2R 7R ° Chibuluma 8 4 &=
AR WEDERERRATRER SWEE 4
EE S RETE © Kinsenda T B MEREZF (E N
R ZERGEEHEIK) - WBETREE SR -

Ruashiiz 5 iB(F N IR G L R SOm B ERA
DHEBENFRKEACASRNELTEH -

Ruashi Mine’s energy use Ruashi 1% #) 88 R A & 2013 2014 2015
—=F Z—ZT-NF ZB-HF

Power consumption BERE
(kWhtt finished copper) (TR, WAk & i) 1,663 4,120 4,488

Ruashi Mine has been involved in various SNEL equipment
rehabilitation projects including the NR Kasapa substation, an
extension to NR Kasapa, electrification of the Kawama
community in Ruashi Mine as well as the upgrade of Generator
no 16 at Inga 1 — a hydro-electric power scheme in the DRC.

RuashifEE 2 E L ESNELZEEMIEE - 215
NR Kasapa % & uh (NR Kasapa H)%2) * Ruashi
&/ Kawamatt & ER(L © AR E FInga 18
F16REBH(MR(B)N—EKNEEL)

Chibuluma South Mine’s energy  Chibuluma &#& 2013 2014 2015

use K B8R A & —E =4 —mFE —ZEB—EHF
Power consumption BB

(kWh/t concentrate) (TEBsMESRIETE) 16,352 18,097 23,032

Kinsenda Project’s energy use Kinsenda 18 B FY8EJR F 3% 2013 2014 2015

—E-=fF —E ZTB-RF

Power consumption (kWh/t) B (TR ) 27,855,557 31,720,670 35,999,325

Chibuluma South Mine is in the process of implementing energy
saving initiatives in the plant which include avoidance of
simultaneous start-ups of major equipment, staggering the
operation of machinery across shifts, continuous monitoring
online through the plant control room and an in-house energy
consumption audit to recommend and implement energy
efficiency findings, actions and strategies.

Chibuluma B ## IE £ T M & b B A2 845 -
REEANMBEIZRE  BBRIIRS ?(HF
HERER - BB TRIZHIE RARREERBFEE
REEEREN - NEBEEREREREE
IR - 7B RS -
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A number of energy reduction initiatives have been implemented
at Kinsenda Project. Some of these include:

o Daylight switch installation across the mine (including
residential areas);

o Incandescent lamp have been replaced with compact
fluorescent lamps;

o Energy efficient motors have been installed in the process
plant; and

o Power factor correction units have been installed and will be
fully commissioned once the process plant begins operation.

Water consumption

Water at Ruashi Mine is recycled from the return water dams as
well as from the stormwater dam for use in the plant. The Ruashi
Mine pit is dewatered with the use of boreholes, and water from
these boreholes is supplied to REGIDESO (Régie de distribution
déau), the local water utility, which then supplies water to the
local community. Power of hydrogen (“PH") is monitored on the
site on a daily basis.

Ruashi Mine’s water consumption for 2013 to 2015 is shown in
the table below.

ZIFREREBIE R E ERA KinsendaJE B © #%
LB MEEIE

Rigs (BRERR) KA XERE

s HABBERRERIZERR

o HIRLBHRORENIMIM: &

e NEXAEREEXTELKLRE —BNT

RFEEE - R mB R AR °
FEXE

£ Ruashifi + IR R RKH R BIRK AR E
B © Ruashi B A/KFI RS FHHEHE - SEH A
K B £ 45 B 2 7K A & REGIDESO (Régie de
distribution déau) 7Kk [A] & Hb 4L [@ K o &
SERAERARREE ([PHE]) -

RuasshilBMN —E—=FE2 T —HAFHNHEKE
BRTE -

Ruashi Mine’s water consumption RuashiiE#/k& 2013 2014 2015

—T = —T-mFE =T—HF
Copper produced (tonnes) EE R (WE) 34,648 37,170 35,056
Water use (m*/day) BKEGIAKH) 6,026 6,026 6,491
Water use (m3/tonne Cu) /K& (325K ER) 63.48 59.17 67.58

Chibuluma South Mine produces copper concentrate, which is
transported to a smelter in Zambia, so it is not possible to
calculate the water use per tonne of finished product. The mine
uses return water and water from underground dewatering in
the plant, with make-up water pumped from surface and
underground water sources when required. The mine monitors
water in accordance with the requirements of its environmental
management plan. Chibuluma South Mine consumed 24m? per
tone of ore processed in 2014 and 2015.

Chibuluma B A EIRNBE  WEAELL T —
AR - FIt B AT E SR AKE -
WIS A B A EDE )57k it T KRB
FEEF B R M TKRHKES - IBEHIRIE
HIREEEFEEREAKE - —E—NFK
—Z—FF > Chibuluma MmN T HHEHE AR
K243 F K o

Chibuluma South Mine's water Chibuluma & 2014 2015
consumption (Note) FEKE (F) —E—mF Z—E—AfF
Ore Milled WERA 50,334 35,444
Cu Processed AT 1,507 1,138
Water used (m3/tonne Cu) FAKE (325K, WESR) 67.20 67.83
Water used (m3/tonne Ore) FKE (25K, WERER) 1.97 1.97
Water used (m3/day) FAXE(ZFHKH) 3,238 2,443

Note: Chibuluma South Mine started to measure water consumption in 2014.
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Kinsenda Project is currently under construction, but dewatering
of the underground mine is undertaken as mine development
progresses. Approximately 51,000m? of water per day was
pumped out of the mine. Elevated copper levels have been
detected on occasion when old ore passes are dewatered, and
these areas are then treated with lime. No water with elevated
copper levels is discharged to the environment. The mine also
chlorine treats the well water of the Kinsenda village twice per
week to ensure safe drinking water for the community.

REAGENTS

Ruashi Mine produces finished copper through a solvent
extraction and electrowinning process. It is therefore the main
user of reagents in the JCI Group. Ruashi Mine's reagent
consumption is shown in the table below.

KinsendalE B B IR E& T @ EEERSH
BEHENE E%?tﬁiﬁ—l—ﬂ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁmlf’ﬁ &H

R H#951,00037 77 KK o RE B HHEKIE
‘W BEREKE - WHAAMKEEZS G -
SHEKFEIESHKNEHR - oD - %
ff%Jﬁ‘%ﬁKinsendaﬁﬁtE’]#ﬁ@&ﬁﬁﬁu\%kﬁ
B BREEANSEKEZ R -

B

Ruashi g AR EI XTI R B AR TEAER
iR - BICIEEEZ/HAEAE © Ruashi
BOALDBEESNTE -

Ruashi Mine’s reagent Ruashi &y 2013 2014 2015
Consumption HERE —T—= —puFE ZE-"EF
Sulphuric acid (kg/t leached) W (T 5,/ /= ENE) 491 62.8 81.4
Diluent (kg/t) R (T, ) 16.51 12.24 13.15
Sulphur (tpd) ks (e 3) - 65 81
Sodium meta-bisulphide (SMBS) £ Oo B B 8 (SMIBS)

(kg/t leached) (F5/=RE8E) 6.9 6.3 4.6
Lime (kg/t leached) AT,/ 3 E0E) 24.8 26.5 25.5
Magnesium oxide (t/t cobalt) S8 (W8, WESE) 1.1 1.2 1.1
Reagents in the Chibuluma South Mine plant include lime and ~ Chibuluma 3 & &7 3% & & (£ B 69 5 B B 46 A K
frother. Mg o
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma & 1& 2013 2014 2015
reagent consumption RERE —T-=f —mE ZE-RF
Frother (g/t) O (35, ME) 43.02 40.73 46.82
Lime (g/t) Ef(?{/l@ﬁ) 118.5 160 176.3
THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RIREARAER
RESOURCES
The main environmental aspects of the mining operations E/EXM T ZRBHERRE -

include:

o Rehabilitation of overburden dumps and tailings dams for
closure. Concurrent rehabilitation of the Ruashi Mine and
Chibuluma South Mine tailings dams is in progress. The
site for the Kinsenda Project tailings dam has been cleared
and the topsoil stock-piled for future rehabilitation;

o Dust generation, mainly from vehicle movement on
unpaved roads, tailings dam and stockpiles. Fall-out dust is
monitored during the dry season, and roads are watered
to reduce dust generation; and

o ERHEABAEEKLBERRESHE - RRE
JR Ruashii& & Chibuluma i & &9 2 15 12
FE#EITH - AR Kinsendald B 89 Z 15
BRI C EENRCEEMNRELHA
BER:

e REEXL  XTBRAAERARHEEAN

BE) RREBELRERF BRFERXNESE
HEITER - B EETTRK AR AKX
BEEY &
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o Impact of mining operations on ground and surface water
quality. All of the mining operations have implemented
water quality monitoring programmes on ground and
surface water as appropriate to their approved
environmental management plans.

SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT

The Company’s mines operate within the labour laws of the
country of operation. In both Zambia and the DRC the mines are
required to comply with the Labour Code, Ministerial Decrees
and the Collective Agreements. The Group operates under
internal policies on recruitment, remuneration, leave and
conditions of employment which take the legislation of the
countries of operation into account.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

JCl has a Zero Harm policy in place which commits to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

JCl'is a mining group that strives towards achieving the Zero
Harm principle. We will execute all of our tasks and
responsibilities in such a way that we cause Zero Harm to
ourselves, our fellow workers, the environment, the community
and stop unsafe acts and conditions immediately.

We are committed to achieve Zero Harm by:

o Providing a working environment that is conducive to
achieving Zero Harm;

o Managing risks in the workplace through the application
of the JClI risk management framework;

o Ensuring that employees and contractors have the relevant
skills to perform work-related tasks in a safe and
environmentally responsible manner and that they are
aware of their individual environmental, community, health
and safety obligations and rights;

o Complying with applicable legal requirements as a
minimum, with other requirements to which the
organisation subscribes to. In the absence of relevant
occupational health, environment and safety laws the
Company will apply best practice standards and
procedures;
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o Ensuring that appropriate resources, training and personal
protective equipment are provided;

o Following a consultative, transparent and constructive
approach in interactions with all stakeholders;

o Minimise potential negative social impacts while promoting
opportunities and benefits for host communities; and

o Continually improving environmental, occupational health,
public health and safety performance through the setting
and achievement of stretch goals taking into consideration
evolving stakeholder expectations, best practices, scientific
knowledge and new technology.

Employees and contractors working on JCI operations play a
fundamental role in achieving occupational health, community,
environment and safety objectives through:

o Taking ownership of, and participating in, occupational
health, environment, community and safety management
programmes and initiatives and complying with standards
and procedures; and

o Exercising their right to work in a healthy and safe
environment and their duty to withdraw from an unhealthy
or dangerous situation.

Safety

Ruashi Mine achieved 1,769,149 fatality free shifts up to the end
of 2015 since the last fatality occurred in 2013. There were 3
Lost Time Injuries at Ruashi Mine in 2015 and the total lost time
injury frequency rate decreased year on year from 0.82 to 0.7
per million man hours worked.

One fatality occurred at Chibuluma South Mine during 2015,
and six lost time injuries were recorded. The mine lost time injury
frequency rate increased from 2.1 to 2.5 per million man hours
worked.

Kinsenda Project had a third consecutive year of fatality free
shifts in 2015. There were 352,136 fatality free shifts in 2015,
for a total of 1,740,010 fatality free shifts by the end of 2015.
There were 2 Lost Time Injuries at Kinsenda Project in 2015 and
the total lost time injury frequency rate increased year on year
from 0.32 to 0.71 per million man hours worked.
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Safety Statistics for the Group TEBNZZEIE

Fatality Frequency Rate SEHEEIBN 2013 2014 2015
per million man-hours worked T THEE —E—=F ZZE-NF ZB-RF
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 0.20 0.00 0.00
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma Fa 7 0.00 0.00 0.40
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda T8 H 0.00 0.00 0.00
Group mines REBES 0.12 0.00 0.11
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate SEHEIBRH 2013 2014 2015
per million man-hours worked BAIRIEERE —E—=F ZT—NF ZZT-1F
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 0.00 0.79 0.72
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma FEH& 2.76 2.12 2.82
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda I8 B 0.00 0.32 0.71
Group mines REERES 0.58 0.89 1.26
Health g

All of the mining operations fall within areas where malaria is a
significant health risk. Malaria cases at each operation are shown
in the table below. Prevention measures include indoor residual
spraying in Zambia as well as malaria prevention programs at the
sites. These programs involve the donation of mosquito nets,
removal of stagnant water and improvement of drainage, and
support to existing government and Non-Government
Organisations (“NGO") programs and education of the
workforce and community.

PrARBEXRARERERERZFERLRNER

B EREENELTETERRBERERR
TSR EARTERRE - ZFHB W MBR
BR ~ IWERTERK R EBORES - ARSI
BT N SEBUR 4B 4 (TNGO 1) 38 B A K ¥ 85
BHRHRETHE -

Malaria cases ERZEH 2014 2015

—E—mOF —E—FF
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 1,645 1,867
Chibuluma South Mine Chibuluma & 24 54
Kinsenda Project Kinsenda I8 B 826 895

The Company actively promotes HIV/AIDS prevention programs
aimed at employees, their families and the communities in which
we operate. Voluntary counselling and testing for HIV is
encouraged amongst employees and support systems are in
place for employees who test positive for HIV.

AR BIEGHEE SRR S, SR TAY 1R
B 2ENHHESR  RENREMKMIAEE
ML o 1R B TP 2R B BERE SRR SO R R
5 BHEERSAAZBENEES £H
XFFERR

Voluntary counseling and testing inmmE kmEE 2014 2015
for HIV/AIDS BB —ZT—-NFE —ZT-AfF
Ruashi Mine Ruashi & 1,208 1,203
Chibuluma South Mine (incl community) Chibuluma G 1&

(BEtR) 3,286 2,659
Kinsenda Project KinsendaI& H 1,672 2,031

Kinsenda Project operates a hospital and primary health care
facility on site which treats employees, their dependants and
provides a limited service to the local population. Ruashi Mine
and Chibuluma South Mine have clinics on site.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Company recognises that development and training of
employees is a continuing process for every employee at every
level of the organisation, therefore training is perceived as a
necessary investment in order to enhance productivity and attain
the company’s business goals. Critical needs and affordability are
taken into account.

All employees, contractors, consultants and visitors receive site
induction of various levels, depending on the duration of stay,
area to visit and previous visits to site. JCl is committed to ensure
that employees are competent in their roles and therefore
possess necessary permits, licences and the like in order to carry
out work safely and in accordance with the laws of the countries
in which we operate.

In addition, the training departments on the mines identify
training needs through advice from supervisors, comparing the
skills and knowledge of employees to their job profiles, analysing
the performance appraisals, information from the individual
development plans and training and development required by
law in the countries of operation.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The JCI mines do not hire candidates who are under the age of
18 years, even if the law in the DRC allows for consideration of
recruiting candidates from the age of 16. The Labour Code in
the DRC provides that forced work is prohibited. Ruashi Mine
has a Human Rights policy in place which specifies the right to:

o Human dignity;

o Fair treatment (subject to considerations of affirming
previously disadvantages groups);

o Freedom and security of persons;
o Not to be subject to slavery, servitude and forced labour;

. Freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief and
opinion;

o Freedom of expression (subject to considerations of
confidentiality and the prohibition of hate speech and
incitement to cause harm);

o Peaceful assembly;

. Freedom of movement;

o Fair labour practice;

BRRRE

ARARHED - BRLIEIREE L ER AR
KK%ExE’JtuEE\ﬁ’ﬁ TErrEmiE - Bt
BIERARSEENRERAATRFE R
BV ZRIRE - DB K KA BERE N TTMAZE

PAERE  ARE  BEEEKIRAALEZTR
IKFRRGRIEAH - HBUARNEZHR - £
AR B EE A - I EEREER B
{E,H\I_Ju BRGO R REREURER
P2 EMERROERETLEEE -

&35 B 15 )| BB P33 3B 1 B5 = P ERIS HO 2 58 21 A
PSRRI - LoEE BRSNS TIEERK
RE M A - DM RBRFHE - 2EBEEZMAR
EREA B R B RFI LB RVER

SEiRE

ST REBFRENISHEMEIEAS -
BIEMR(E)REEAFEEIRBFL A6
BEEIEAE - MR (2)NWEEERE @ 2
5838 T {F ° Ruashif& 2 #ll & AEBE - 5THH A
THEF -

o AMERE:
o AFFHE(RBENEERRLINGEEE
-

e AFBHEZE:
o TIFRBISLERR - R LRHILE
= BE

o B EIREHAH

o EmAH(XEREEREMERELNR
Sk EHBENGE)
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IAREEE

o Not to be employed if a child;

o  HARKE: G ATHER:

o Not to be arbitrarily deprived of property or possessions; o TEEfEHES ESN Y
o Freely participate in the cultural life of their choice; . ERZEFSREN AT

. Lawful, reasonable and fair action; and

s A RERAFITH: &

° Not to be subjected to arbitrary arrest or detention. ° TEWHEERBIWE -

Chibuluma South Mine does not have a specific policy on labour  Chibuluma £ T 3 4 78 7 &8 &) 12 % 1 45 Bl T
standards, but complies with Zambian law in this regard. JCI % - MEFL LB T E L 2o A2 o JCIHES IF 2%

mines do not employ child and forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

ERAETHRESHNER
pEREE

The Company contracts specify that all contractors are required ZARABAKIIRTE * A RBEENEETAREES
to comply with the Group's safety, health, environment and %% « @FE « RIEMEREEE -

community policies.

Suppliers by geographic region

ZiIREEE 0 N HER

Suppliers for the operating mines are located in the following £ HESHHERLAN T E :

regions:

Ruashi Mine’s suppliers by geographical region

& 1th 32 32 8| 2 B9 Ruashi TR L ERS

Democratic Republic of the Congo
South Africa

Zambia

Switzerland

United Kingdom
United Arab Emirates
Australia

Mauritius

Canada

China

Germany

India

Portugal

Singapore

| SR R = H AN 281
EE 157
it

Wt

FEE

Fa[ iz (B & 2g R
SRAF 28

F BkET

JIIEN

H

==

ENfE

BEF

0

—
U1l 0

. s S AN WW AN

Kinsenda Project’s suppliers by

& ith 32 B 15 8] 2 1Y Kinsenda

geographical region HEHER

Democratic Republic of the Congo Ml SRR = HFN=H 137
South Africa F3E 160
Zambia = dndii 38
Europe M 3
Australia B A K 3B 1
Botswana T8 L 4R 1

Chibuluma South Mine will provide the number of suppliers by ~ Chibuluma EIHE iR =T — /N FiR IR IR &

geographical region in 2016.
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TRANSPARENT PRACTICES

Ruashi Mine has a Code of Ethics in place, which is currently
under review to include transparent practices requirements.
Chibuluma South Mine addresses transparent practices through
its Code of Conduct. Kinsenda Project has adopted the Ruashi
Mine’s code and will implement its own code in 2016. Current
controls include an approvals framework for authorisation of
orders and contracts and an online ERP system.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
The Company has a Community Policy in place as follows:
Community Policy

The Company strives to minimise potential negative social
impacts while promoting opportunities and benefits for host
communities. The Company engages in a range of sustainable
development and community relations activities. Community
management and development is recognised as a high corporate
priority, and is a component of Zero Harm, one of the
Company’s values.

JCl'is committed to:

o Continually improving community development and
community investment programmes through monitoring,
measuring and managing our social and economic impacts;

o Developing programmes that ensure the sustainable
welfare of communities;

o Upholding and promoting the human rights of our
employees and contractors, our suppliers, and the
communities in which we operate;

o Recognising and respecting indigenous people’s culture,
heritage and traditional rights and supporting the
identification, recording, management and protection of
indigenous cultural heritage;

o Building and maintaining stakeholder relationships with
people who are directly affected or interested in our
operations; and

o Managing the risk of public health threats amongst
employees, contractors and local communities.

BHER

RuashilZEL 4l E —EEEER] - HERIEAL
FEHBIEERERRE ° ChibulumaEIEE
BEITAERENFERER - KnsendalBE E
R4 Ruashi TEEB| RN —Z—RNFEHEL S
FER o BRTHIEFIEERIEREES ALY
HIHLENEZE AT AR ERP 247 ©

HERE

AARHIEOHRBBERMAT -

HEBHE
RRAERN R FIBEAL IR K ) HE B8 MR Kk
BUALMFE - @FERLARER CAEMTE
TE - ARF2EZEAHEER ML RBER

A HEEERERERSEEXEENE
PREIEEEIEERARRLEEEZ

JCIB AR

e FBRER -AENERRMANHLELRE
BYERENEHREERMEERES

o HIEMRAFELRENNTE:

o HEREAHMNEERARRE - R
BB 7 R B PIAE P AL [ O AR

s HERRBEEMERNHXIC BEERE
BN R FEER X EENE
E o RoE BERRE

s HERIRMXBFEINEEAHER
AR MR M HREE R &
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Community investment at the mining operations was undertaken

as follows:

Ruashi Mine’s Community Investment (US$)

Ruashi B ERE (E£T)

REEBERETHERIRENT

HIV/AIDS awareness and prevention I BRRE OERR R & TE 40,000
Education HAE 32,000
Agriculture projects R¥IER 350,000
TOTAL et 422,000
Chibuluma South Mine’s Community Chibuluma EENHERE (X7T)

Investment (US$)

Education 5 62,583
Health E R 23,219
Skills Development HeetEs 16,500
Sport and Recreation BB BIKR 190,402
TOTAL et 292,704
Kinsenda Project’s Community Investment (US$) KinsendaX B Wt BiRE (£5T)

Agriculture ¥ 3,243
Community electricity HEE AN 192,000
Community feeding schemes (orphans and widows) it @455+ 2| (F1E) 12,048
Sport and recreation B A R 16,158
Community sanitation HERAE 1,100
Community relations L= B R 5,515
TOTAL #met 230,064
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TRADING OF MINERAL AND METAL PRODUCTS
RERECEEMAKS

SUMMARY PARAGRAPH:

The Minerals and Metals trading segment recorded a
significant decrease in revenue on sales of copper related
raw materials by 34.0% from US$208.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2014 to US$137.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s
wholly-owned trading subsidiary purchased and sold a
total of 43,315 tonnes (2014: 55,074 tonnes) of copper
concentrates, and 18,521 tonnes (2014: 20,017 tonnes) of
copper blister. The revenue from sales of copper
concentrates and copper blister for the year ended 31
December 2015 amounted to US$ 41.6 million, and
US$95.6 million respectively (2014: US$72.2 million and
US$135.8 million respectively).

The Mongolian origin copper concentrates were sourced
from a European supplier under a renewed annual contract
of 55,000 tonnes in 2015, of which a shipment of
approximately 6,200 tonnes was postponed to the month
of January 2016. All of the copper concentrate was sold to
JCG.

The copper blister was sourced from a Zambian producer
under a renewed annual contract for 20,000 tonnes in
2015. The lower volume of blister shipped during 2015
was a result of reduced production of the Zambian
producer, though the quantity supplied was still within the
contractual limits of +/-10%. The copper blister was sold
directly to copper refineries in China as well as through
traders and also a joint venture partner of JCG.

FURTHER EXPLANATION FOR REDUCED
TRADING REVENUE:

2015 proved to be a difficult year for this trading segment
due to the less favorable market conditions. New product
development was also impacted by the changing
conditions in the inventory financing trade, as well as
delayed or suspended production start-ups stemming from
depressed copper and nickel prices.

FORWARD LOOKING:

As we go forward, we expect moderate expansion of our
trading segment with greater emphasis on new product
development in areas that will enable us to build upon our
existing track record in physical raw materials trading.

BENCERE S E 2 REEERIE
T AR EM A Z S EsEREE—
T-NFF+—_A=1+—HItFE 22080
BEETNEMO%EHE_TE—1F
T+ A=+ HLEFEZI3I2EEE

JC °

HE_Z-—RAFE+_-_A=t+—HBI*F
B AEBEZ2EABSMBAREES
H#943,3150F (= Z —PY4F : 55,074 01)
SRFERE & 18,521 W8 ( —Z—PU4E : 20,017
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BEXE) e
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RISK MANAGEMENT
B ERE

The Board of Directors of the Company considers that
appropriately managing risks is fundamental to success and
business sustainability. Risk management goes to the heart of
understanding the levers and controls which underpin operating
performance. Identification and mitigation of risks by
appropriately skilled managers ensures that the operating teams
are provided with the appropriate tools and resources to nurture
business success. It is not uncommon in the mining industry for a
new risk to suddenly manifest itself or for a previously low risk to
become a high risk. If the company culture is one of risk
mitigation then dealing with these new risks is more likely to be
a process of controlled management and not one of crisis
management.

Risk - management at JCI is the ongoing process of assessing the
risks facing the business, classifying and ranking those risks as to
their potential impact on the business, identifying mitigation
measures initiated, understanding residual risks and then
developing plans to further reduce the residual risks. Risks can
be technical, commercial, financial, human resource related,
geopolitical, infrastructure related and any number of other
factors. Under the leadership of an appointed Risk Manager, the
Company undertakes a quarterly risk review across all its
operations which is then reported to the Risk Management
Committee and in turn to the Board of Directors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE Rk

BUSINESS REVIEW

The commodity sector was adversely affected by a succession of
disappointing China macro-economic data and a strong US
dollar, and as a result, the copper price declined significantly
during 2015. Coupled with a number of other challenges at the
operating mines in the DRC and Zambia, this negatively impacted
on the financial performance of the Mining Operations. The
profitability of the Trading of Mineral and Metal Products was
relatively less affected by the decline in copper price. However,
with a lack of new business opportunities amid unfavorable
market conditions in the non-ferrous metal sector, both the
volume and gross margin of the trades during the year under
review were comparatively lower than those of 2014.

Mining Operations

Our Mining Operations is represented by the Metorex Group,
which is headquartered in South Africa. The Metorex Group has
majority control over two operating mines in Africa which are
the Ruashi Mine, a copper and cobalt mine located in the DRC
and the Chibuluma South Mine (including the Chifupu copper
deposit), a copper mine located in Zambia. For the year ended
31 December 2015, the Group produced 47,782 tonnes of
copper (2014: 54,060 tonnes) and 4,344 tonnes of cobalt (2014:
3,885 tonnes), and sold 48,400 tonnes of copper (2014: 53,482
tonnes) and 4,331 tonnes of cobalt (2014: 3,874 tonnes) which
generated sales of US$257.7 million and US$75.8 million
respectively (2014: US$365.4 and US$79.0 million respectively).

The Metorex Group also has control over the Kinsenda Project, a
development copper project under construction and located in
the DRC, and two advanced stage exploration projects located in
the DRC, namely the Musonoi Project, which is a copper and
cobalt project; and the Lubembe Project, which is a copper
project.

Trading of Mineral and Metal Products

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s wholly-
owned trading subsidiary purchased and sold a total of
approximately 43,315 tonnes (2014: 55,074 tonnes) of copper
concentrates, and 18,521 tonnes (2014: 20,017 tonnes) of
copper blister. The revenue from sales of copper concentrates
and copper blister for the year ended 31 December 2015
amounted to US$41.6 million, and US$95.6 million respectively
(2014: US$72.2 million and US$135.8 million respectively).

The Mongolian origin copper concentrates were sourced from a
European supplier under a renewed annual contract of 55,000
tonnes in 2015, of which a shipment of approximately 6,200
tonnes was postponed to the month of January 2016. All of the
copper concentrate was sold to JCG.

RIOER

ARRBARITERE RIS AREZFEERE
RESELRBETNERZE - Bt - fE
R-TE—RFARB TR - M EZREIR () R
Bt SM 2 ET RS ERNZ IR MIE

HRREGOMHERBENTHNZE - BENM
TBEMBEHEHHNENENZRETENE
LREEE - AT ARNEFEESBITEND
BREBEATR - ROFOREK - DEFEN
BHEREMEHR _T—NFRBEE -

AL 2 7% ($5 Metorex £ #)) 7 48 I A E 3E -
Metorex%ﬁéif?ﬂ‘”ﬁﬂl%@qﬂﬁ%%%ﬁﬁiﬁ
R — RuashilE AR R (&) Z R4
X Chibuluma 3 5% (& 45 Chifupu 87 5% IK ) iz 72
Bk #E_T-—HE+-A= +f
HILFE  REBAEEAL7,782WFH( - —
F 1 54,060 ) }4,34418 §5( — & — 1M ¢ :
3,885 ) - 3 & 48,400 ME $f ( — T — [U £F -
53,4828 ) K 4,331MESH ( —ZF — PO 4F : 3,874
W) $HESFED R A257. 7B BEXTNT5.8
AEEL(ZE—WF: DRl A3654HEBxE
TTNT79.0BEET) °

Metorex 5 B 71 15 il Kinsenda T8 B ({2 7 [ £
(&) 2 EABEPHFEFER )&EWILLE’\‘HU
R(e) 2 rHREHNBEEE  25lA —
MusonoiTB B (i #5788 ) & Lubembe T8 B (i
HE) -

BEREBERES

BE-_T—AF+-_A=+—HIEFE X%
Brz2E8E85WBRARBERHEAS XY
43,315Ma( —Z — PO 4 : 55,0741 ) A5 &

18521 WE( —Z=—PO4 : 20,017 W8 ) tH R - &

—RF+-A=1+—BILFE  #HEWR
ﬁ%&#ﬂfﬂzu&/\“%lJ%m 6EBEFIITNI5.6
BEETL(ZZE—WNF: 9hlA7228EXET
1358 HBFET) °

RZZ—F2F  SHRFRABEESDRE—H
55,000 7 BEIFE A HFER — % /}Ilf tpe
i HAP46 200X EREEE T — <
F—F - B ZERBEREYE T ICG -

Annual Report 2015 37
—E-RFR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEMRR S

The copper blister was sourced from a Zambian producer under
a renewed annual contract for 20,000 tonnes in 2015. The lower
volume of blister shipped during 2015 was a result of reduced
production of the Zambian producer, though the quantity
supplied was still within the contractual limits of +/-10%. The
copper blister was sold directly to copper refineries in China as
well as through traders and also a joint venture partner of JCG.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s operating results for the year ended 31 December
2015 are a consolidation of the results from the Mining
Operations and the Trading of Mineral and Metal Products.

Revenue

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
US$470.7 million, representing a decrease of 27.9% compared
with US$652.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2014.
Both business segments recorded a respective decrease in
revenue during the year which are further analysed below.

The Group's sales performance from its Mining Operations was
as follows:

RZZT—HRF - MR E —1 20,0000 2
ERFEAYNREABLTAER RIE
—RF EEZHASERE AR EL D
SEREIRESFIE - AMmATHEZ 82D
NELRE+/-10% AR - K EEZELE
FHEZINERBANERESERICGZE
SEEBHEPE 2 FBER TS -

M EE

AEEBE—_T-AF+-A=1t—BLFE
,%“M%%EXQ%ﬂ%%i‘%ﬁﬁ)ﬁ?&ﬁ%?m;%
X ZAattRE -
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HE-_ZT—AF+-A=Z+—HIEFEZKZ
BAI0TEEET BREE-_FT—NF+ A
=+ —HBIEFEE 652588 =71 K&
27.9% c FRMEZEBEDBHBIERBURZET
o HE—BDMEMN T -

AEBRRBEEGZHERRMT -

2015 2014

—E-HF — P04

Volume of copper sold (tonne) fRIHE = (ME) 48,400 53,482

Volume of cobalt sold (tonne) fHIHE = (M) 4,331 3,874

Revenue from sales of copper (US$ million) HEWR(EEETT) 257.7 365.4

Revenue from sales of cobalt (US$ million) HEEWS (ABET) 75.8 79.0
Total Revenue from the Mining Operations HREZ£EA WS (FEXETT)

(US$ million) 333.5 444.4
Average price received per tonne of copper B U EMEIR T EE (ET)

(Us$) 5,324 6,831
Average price received per tonne of cobalt Bt T EE (ET)

(US$) 17,508 20,414

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
encountered difficulties as a result of the worldwide downturn in
commodity prices including copper which was the main driving
factor for the decrease in the Group’s overall sales revenue. The
lower production also impacted revenue.

The copper mining revenue dropped by 25.0% from 2014 to
2015, as a result of both lower prices and lower volumes. The
cobalt revenue decreased by 4.1% from 2014 to 2015 as a
result of lower received prices being partly offset by increased
volumes.

38 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
2 EEERERERLF

BE_ZT-AFT_A=+—HLEE X&
B A B ERAEN 2 BmERERIREE R T K
MEREE - A EEREHEKE TR
TERERE - EEETFE R -

MARKEE — T NFE_T-RF TR
25.0% - EEEBNEE{?”‘TTR&EEEEP)?EK 7l €
H_ET-—NEFEE_FT— £¢—|—5§4.1%’5EEEI
REWER TRKEEIR NI EEHE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE AR I

The Trading of Mineral and Metal Products segment recorded a
significant decrease in revenue on sales of copper related raw
materials by 34.0% from US$208.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2014 to US$137.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2015. 2015 proved to be a difficult year for this
trading segment due to the less favorable market conditions.
New product development was also impacted by the changing
conditions in the inventory financing trade, as well as delayed or
suspended production start-ups stemming from depressed
copper and nickel prices.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents the purchase cost for the Trading of
Mineral and Metal Products and the costs associated with the
production of copper and cobalt from the Group’s Mining
Operations. The major components of cost of sales are as
follows:

%F&iEE&% DI WBBERET
C HERBEERMESREE T —NF+ =
Hf+—5¢¢F2mm§%%mTM
UO%EHE-_T—HF+_A=F+—HILHF
E2Z13728&%Et RAMESHEATF
/Rb_/\\uz&r_ﬁﬁnu.ii %ﬁéuuﬁiﬂ?ﬁﬁlrilﬁ
BB 7 TETE LIRS - LA RERE MR B IR AT
BYHEECHEEESEFMZ o

B E

HEXAEBREREBERE S CBEMAR

BN £% [ R BR R 7% P A A SR K 84 B B 2 BROAS
HERARZ ETEZ@ARE AT

2015 2014
—E—FHEF —mE
US$'000 Us$'000
I FET
Purchases for Trading of Mineral and BERSBERESZ
Metal Products BERAR 134,856 203,816
Mining Operations: FIERETR
Realisation costs 438 i 2N 6,779 7,933
Mining costs PERERK 2R 52,759 57,232
Salaries and wages HERTE 55,541 64,812
Processing fees T 111,869 117,911
Engineering and technical costs T2 R BT pk AR 24,077 31,174
Safety, health, environment and L3 #E - RIR IR
community costs 2,699 3,468
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BERBHBZITE
equipment 49,939 73,650
Amortisation of mineral rights T R 5 7,496 46,417
Other costs H A AR 16,622 25,788
Total Cost of Sales BEHE R A 462,637 632,201
The total cost of sales of 2015 was at a lower level compared to 1 =ZF — U fFLt - —hFRBIHERR
2014 mainly due to lower production and implementation of EREEKFE - =2 EEEA@EEErWFE%‘T
successful cost savings measures during the year under review. 1K B B MR U B K AN BT A9 8 e o
The decrease in mining costs was mainly due to a concerted FIRKAFE D EZ R AN (FLE Ruashit®) &

effort to reduce cost especially at Ruashi Mine, notwithstanding
a 16% increase in waste stripping volume, and also assisted by
lower ore production at both operations.
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The decrease in processing costs was mainly attributable to the
lower production of copper, cost saving measures and lower
reagent prices offset by power deficiency problems encountered
at Ruashi Mine. Usage of diesel generators declined from 30.9%
in 2014 to 27.3% in 2015 with cost staying at the same $/MW
but the unit grid power cost has increased by 34.5% from 2014
to 2015 resulting in an overall higher power cost.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation
of mineral rights decreased by US$23.7 million and US$38.9
million during the year respectively. The decrease in the
depreciation was mainly due to extension of the useful life of the
SX-EW plant at Ruashi Mine, and the consequential reduction of
the depreciation charge of the plant. The decrease in
amortisation was mainly due to the significant impairment made
on mineral rights in 2014 and for the six-months period ended
June 2015 and thus a significantly lower value to be amortised in
2015.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group decreased by 60.1% from US$20.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to US$8.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015. The decline in copper
price and the increase in the unit mining operating costs such as
unit power cost in the African Mining Operations were the main
causes of decrease in the gross profit and thus the gross profit
margin dropped from 3.1% in 2014 to 1.7% in 2015.

MIRAREE D T ERENKERREE - K
AERAFE I B B R B S BB A& BT B - #% Ruashi
AR EMBEATIRG - SOhEERNERE =
T -MEW09%E TRE-_ZE—HEH
273% KA ABRBNZEL /MW BE =
T-—NFE T —AFEMEEEEKRAEE
N345% @ EEEEENKAE AR -

RER - ME - BB KRR & B E Y
SRR 237 EBETLNISIBEETL - T
E R4 T B R Ruashi iEHY SX-EW R 898 3 4
FRIZAN - BERBIBEZ RAYIT & 5 S P B » B S
R EFEHNEEER _T—NFEEEC
T—RFNAINEABEERERRIE
R T —RFERENSEARR DT -

EF

AEEEFNBEZ - Z—NF+-_A=1+—8H
IFFEM03FEETRIE01%EHEZ
Z-AFE+_A=+-—BHILFEEMNS1HESE
TC o $R{E A9 T K M B8 (o R S A AR AN (40 JE M
REEERBELE K A) BY3E N2 EFR
MEZRE - B ENER-_ZT—EOF23.1%
THREZZ—HF21.7% °

Net Financing cost TR B RE ER AR
2015 2014
—E-HF _—T@OF
US$'000 Us$'000
FER FET
Financing income B 449 917
Financing cost TSR R (6,603) (9,007)
(6,154) (8,090)

The decrease in net financing cost from US$8.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2014 to US$6.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015 was due to the decrease in the
volume of trade and thus trade finance used for the Trading of
Mineral and Metal Products segment and more finance costs
capitalised for the Kinsenda Project in the Mining Operations
during the year.
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Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses are mainly as a result of the exchange
losses of the Group. As the functional currency of certain
subsidiaries was changed from ZAR to USD to align the primary
currency received and expended in those operations in 2015.
There was then less USD exposure to the Group and less foreign
exchange losses resulting, during the year under review as
compared to 2014 when the major exchange loss arose from
US$ denominated borrowings of those subsidiaries.

Selling and distribution costs

The costs mainly represent the off-mine costs incurred when the
Group sells its copper and cobalt under the Mining Operations,
and they primarily comprise transportation expenses, ocean
freight expenses and custom clearing expenses. The breakdown
of selling and distribution costs is as follows:

Hite 5 % 518

Hpham BRI ERARENELBRE
B mRETHERRMNMEEE HrA IR
E&E%muﬁﬁff AFRBIFSHeE
EEEHECK - B-T-MFE(ERZAEWE
REAERTAHEMERE BHEKE L&)
ML - BEFEAREEASRENETERL
Rk - L ELEHE S ERERD -

HERDHERA

ZERAETBHEAEBNIEEHLRRES 2
N EHRSFTE £ 2 BIS MK AR - EBRIEEH R
Y OBERTARBEEMAY - HE RS AR
Z BRI -

2015 2014
—E—FHEF —mE
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET

Off-mine costs: BSINK A
Transportation B 445 723
Ocean freight BB 16,219 16,252
Clearing costs of export A8 B 11,343 11,190
Others Hib 446 416
Total Selling and distribution costs BIHERDHEA 28,453 28,581

Selling and distribution costs remained stable over both years
primarily due to the impact of the lower sales volumes being
offset by the higher unit distribution costs.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 16.5% from US$32.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to US$26.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015. Administrative expenses
mainly include mining royalties payable to the minority
shareholder and the local governments of the operating mines in
Africa and other operating expenses of the Group. The decrease
in administrative expenses in 2015 as compared to 2014 was
primarily due to the decrease in the mining royalty charges as a
result of the decrease in revenue from the Mining Operations,
on which the mining royalty charges are based.

MIEFEHHE R D HERARFRTE - TEE
A i EBEMF BRI ELL D HRAFT
HEH -

THRIX
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Impairment loss

During the year under review, the Group recorded a substantial
non-cash impairment loss of US$129.4 million, US$182.9 million
and nil on the mineral rights, exploration and evaluation assets
and property, plant and equipment respectively (2014: US$334.0
million, nil and US$34.1 million respectively). Since there was a
further decline in copper price during the year as compared to
2014, the Group reassessed the valuation of its mines on the
basis of each cash generating unit. Revisions to the principal
parameters such as copper price and discount rates, though
partly offset by favorable effect on revisions to the mining plans
and cost saving measures taken, resulted in a substantial
impairment loss on the mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets of the operating units.

Income tax credit

The Group is subject to taxes in Hong Kong, the DRC and
Zambia for its business operations in these jurisdictions. An
income tax credit of US$13.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 was primarily attributable to a deferred tax
credit arising from the impairment loss of mineral rights and
exploration and valuation assets for the year which was partly
offset by a deferred tax charge from the one-off re-provision of
a deferred tax liability as a result of the reinstatement of a
previously imposed and then deferred Zambian tax regime. This
reinstatement resulted in the corporate income tax rate being
increased from zero to 30% plus a variable tax of up to 15%,
while the mining royalty tax for underground mines, to which
the Chibuluma South Mine belongs, was changed from 8% to
6%, effective from July 2015. The decrease in overall income tax
credit was mainly due to a lesser deferred tax credit from the
impairment loss made in the current year.

Loss for the year

As a result of the above, the Group incurred a consolidated loss
of US$355.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 as
compared with a consolidated loss of US$299.5 million for the
corresponding year 2014.

The Group’s performance was largely impacted by the non-cash
impairment on the mining assets. It should be emphasised that
the impairment assessment was a periodic exercise where the
consequential loss recorded during the year was an accounting
related adjustment, and its non-cash nature has no impact on
the cash flow of the Group.
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Earnings before interest (net finance costs), income
tax, depreciation and amortisation and impairment
loss ("EBITDA")

The EBITDA of the Group is derived as follows:

KREtRE CRIIERA) « FIBH - T8 » #dH
LN R EE BRI 2R (TEBITDAL)

ANEEE 2 EBITDA JH AR TR H

2015 2014

—E—AF —T—F

US$'000 Us$’000

FEx FET

Loss for the year FAEE (355,816) (299,503)

Add: Net finance cost o RS RR AR 6,154 8,090

Less: Income tax credit R SRR (13,821) (132,776)
Add: Depreciation of property, mn:mE - BEREETE

plant and equipment 50,003 73,703

Add: Amortisation of mineral rights N - MEE Y 7,496 46,417

Add: Impairment loss o ORE R e 312,264 370,053

EBITDA EBITDA 6,280 65,984

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank balances and
cash of approximately US$51.6 million (of which US$4.2 million
was pledged for funding environmental liabilities relating to
Mining Operations and issuance of letters of credit in favor of
the Group’s suppliers) as compared to US$69.7 million (of which
US$9.6 million was pledged for funding environmental liabilities
relating to Mining Operations and issuance of letters of credit in
favor of the Group’s suppliers) as at 31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank borrowings of
US$16.4 million and loans from related companies of US$3.4
million both of which are due within one year, bank borrowings
of US$134.0 million and loans from related companies of
US$120.0 million both of which are due within 2 to 5 years and
bank borrowings of US$123.0 million which are due over 5
years.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2015 was
45.4% compared to 22.4% as at 31 December 2014. Gearing
ratio is defined as net debt over total equity, and net debt is
derived from total borrowings (including amount due to an
intermediate holding company and amount due to a fellow
subsidiary) less bank balances and cash. The increase in the
gearing ratio was caused by additional bank borrowings and
loans from related companies to fund its capital expenditures of
Mining Operations.

For the year under review, the Group has financed its operations
with loan facilities provided by banks, borrowings from related
companies and internally generated cash flows.
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Material acquisitions and disposals of investments

The Group did not undertake any material acquisitions or
disposals of investments during the year under review.

Significant capital expenditures

Except for the purchase of property, plant and equipment of
US$101.9 million (2014: US$130.3 million), mineral rights of nil
(2014: US$15.3 million) and exploration and evaluation assets of
US$18.1 million (2014: US$22.5 million), no significant capital
expenditures were made for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Details of charges on the Group’s assets

The Group’s restricted cash deposits of US$4.2 million and non-
current assets (including portions of property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights, and exploration and evaluation
assets), inventories and trade and other receivables of US$71.7
million, US$4.3 million and US$5.0 million respectively, were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2015.

Foreign exchange risk management

The reporting currency of the Group is in US$ and the functional
currencies of subsidiaries of the Group are mainly in US$. For its
mineral and metal products trading activities, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency exchange risk in RMB, the currency
the Group receives as its revenue for part of its mineral and
metal products trading business, and ZAR, the currency the
Group mostly expends as its expenses for its office of the Mining
Operations in South Africa. The Group monitors its exposure to
foreign currency exchange risk on a continual basis.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and US$, the Group
is not exposed to significant exchange rate risk for transactions
conducted in HK$. On the other hand, the exchange rate
fluctuation of RMB against US$ and ZAR against US$ could
substantially affect the performance and financial position of the
Group.
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There have been moderate fluctuations in the exchange rate of
RMB against US$ and significant fluctuations in the exchange
rate of ZAR against US$ in recent years. During 2015, the Group
managed its foreign currency exchange risk arising from RMB
denominated transactions by entering into specific foreign
exchange deliverable forward contracts to lock the exchange
rate of future revenue receipts against US$.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the worldwide economy is still turbulent and
complicated. With the uncertainty in the movements in copper
price, for the Mining Operations, it is the Company’s first priority
to optimise and rationalise the operating units of the Group by
further improving the cost profiles and installing efficient
enhancement mechanisms.

The LOM plans of the operating mines are scrutinized frequently
to ensure that every facet of the Mining Operations can be
optimized to achieve maximum benefit. Different commodity
price scenarios are considered in order to manage the mine
design to generate the highest return for each operation. The
Company will continue to make its best efforts to maximize its
reserves and achieve a maximum mine valuation.

Construction of the processing plant in Kinsenda Project was
completed in the second half of 2015. The unfavorable ground
condition and flooding of underground works affected the
progress of mine development. As a result, the project has been
rescheduled for production in the first half of 2017.

The Musonoi Project, is currently being optimised, but
nonetheless the Board has approved US$4.1 million to be spent
in 2016 on dewatering and geotechnical work. It is anticipated
that development of Musonoi Project will achieve medium term
growth for the Group.

Besides Mining Operations, the Group also undertakes metals
trading activities. Whilst the recent negative market conditions
can affect volumes and turnover, this business segment
continues to offer opportunities for further development and
expansion. Recently, the Group has enhanced its trading
resources with an intention to grow the business whilst taking
an appropriate risk management approach.

The Group’s vision is to grow a sustainable and competitive
international mining business. As such, the Group continues to
review potential acquisition opportunities and whilst current
market conditions are difficult, it also presents some interesting
opportunities which could fit the Group’s growth vision. The
Group has recently appointed additional resources to assess
potential opportunities.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 4,581 (2014: 4,361)
employees, which comprises 2,367 (2014: 2,426) permanent
workers and 2,214 (2014: 1,935) contractor’s employees.
Employees receive competitive remuneration packages including
salary and medical and other benefits. Key staff may also be
entitled to performance bonus and grant of options over the
shares of the Company.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding
the directors) during the year ended 31 December 2015 were
within the following bands:
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Number of
Senior Management
BREBEEHE
Nil to US$100,000 Z % 100,000 % 7T -
US$100,001 to US$200,000 100,001 2L 2 200,000 E 7T -
US$200,001 to US$300,000 200,001 37T % 300,000 % 7T 4
US$300,001 to US$400,000 300,001 37T & 400,000 7T 1
US$400,001 to US$500,000 400,001 70 E 500,000 37T -
5
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasize accountability
and transparency to shareholders. Periodic review will be made
to the corporate governance practices to comply with the
regulatory requirements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31
December 2015 with the respective code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
except for the non-compliance of CG Code provision A.2.1 as
mentioned in the section “Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer” on page 50.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by directors. Based on specific enquiry of directors
of the Company, all of them have confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The main duty of the Board is to act in good faith for the benefit
of the Company as a whole with proper delegation to the
management of the Company according to the articles of the
association of the Company.

The Board as at the date of this report comprises eight directors
of whom five are executive directors and three are independent
non-executive directors. The Company will continuously evaluate
its Board structure to ensure sound corporate governance is in
place.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance in respect of legal action against directors.
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The directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2015 and up to 17 March 2016, the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 July 2015)

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. CHEN Dexin

Mr. Douglas Campbell Walter RITCHIE
(resigned on 26 November 2015)

Non-executive director:

Mr. John Adam FERREIRA (resigned on 30 April 2015)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. WU Chi Keung
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony
Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE

A total of 6 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 1
Remuneration Committee meeting, 1 Nomination Committee
meeting, 3 Risk Management Committee meetings, 1 new
Strategy and Investment Committee meeting, 3 Executive
Committee meetings, 1 Overseas Assets Oversight Committee
meeting, 1 Independent Board Committee meeting and 1
general meeting were held during the year ended 31 December
2015. In addition, the Chairman held a meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2015 with non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) without the
presence of executive directors. The following is a summary of
the attendance of meetings of each director:
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1. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee were combined 1. REZBGRFMEZEERN T —HF+—A

into a single committee named the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee on 26 November 2015. No meeting was called by the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee in 2015.

2. The Strategy and Investment Committee and Overseas Assets Oversight
Committee were combined into a single committee named the Strategy
and Investment Committee on 26 November 2015. One meeting was called
by the new Strategy and Investment Committee in 2015.

3. Appointed on 1 July 2015.
4. Resigned on 26 November 2015.
5. Resigned on 30 April 2015.

# Directors who were absent were occupied by other businesses.

The Board met regularly during the year and on an ad hoc basis
as required by business needs. The Board's primary focus is to
determine and review the overall strategic development of the
Company and its subsidiaries and to oversee the achievement of
the plans in relation thereto. Daily operational decisions are
delegated to the executive directors and the senior management.
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the role of Chairman of
the Board (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ")
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the period from 1 January 2015 to 1 July
2015, Mr. Yang Zhigiang held the offices of Chairman and CEO
of the Company. With effect from 1 July 2015, Mr. Yang
resigned as CEO, but remains as an executive director and
Chairman. On the same date, Mr Peter Geoffrey Albert was
appointed as an executive director and CEO. Since then, the
roles of Chairman and CEO of the Company have been
separated and performed by different individuals, and thereafter,
the Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code provision A.2.1.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of a sufficient number of independent
non-executive directors (“INEDs"”) and at least one independent
non-executive director with appropriate professional accounting
or financial management experience. The Company has received,
from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

The INEDs of the Company are independent of the management
and hence the Company considers that they are free of any
relationship that could potentially interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgment. None of the INEDs has any business
or financial interests with the Company nor has any relationship
with other directors of the Company.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company with a term or revised term
ending on 31 December 2016 or the date on which he shall
retire from office in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company and the Listing Rules and not having been
re-elected or his appointment is terminated before that.

Save as disclosed above, none of the non-executive directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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BOARD COMMITTEES:

a)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written specific terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code provisions. As at 31 December 2015, the Audit
Committee of the Company comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi Keung (being
Chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony
and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan, who together have the
relevant accounting and financial management expertise,
industrial knowledge, legal and business experience to
discharge their duties. The Audit Committee had held 2
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2015 to
review and approve the interim and annual results of the
Company, review the internal controls of the Group,
consider the remuneration of the external auditor and
continuing connected transactions of the Group and to
discuss audit issues with the external auditors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

o To review the interim and annual financial statements
before they are submitted to the Board for approval;

o To make recommendations to the Board on, the
appointment, the re-appointment and removal of
the external auditors, and approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditors,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditors;

J To review and monitor the external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

° To review the Company'’s financial controls, internal
controls, and risk management systems;

o To review the Company’s financial and accounting
policies and practice;

o To report to the Board on the matters set out in the
CG Code as required by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited; and

J To review the terms and conditions of continuing
connected transactions of the Company.
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b) Remuneration and Nomination Committee

52

The Company has established a Remuneration and
Nomination Committee on 26 November 2015 with
written specific terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code provisions by combining the then Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee into one single
committee. As at 31 December 2015, the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee comprised five members, of
whom two are executive directors, namely Mr. Zhang
Sanlin and Mr. Zhang Zhong, and three are independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Wu Chi Keung (being
Chairman of Remuneration and Nomination Committee),
Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony and Mr. Neil Thacker Maclachlan.

The principal duties of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee are to review and consider the remuneration
and nomination functions for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

Remuneration functions

In terms of the remuneration functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

° To make recommendations with respect to the
remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
of the Company for approval by the Board,;

° To review the remuneration package and recommend
salaries, bonuses, including the incentive awards for
Directors and Senior Management of the Company;

o To administer and make determinations with regard
to the Company’s long term incentive scheme,
embracing the share option scheme and share
incentive scheme; and

° To administer and make determinations with regard
to the Group’s Key Performance Indicators (“KPI")
system for short term incentive purposes.

Before the establishment of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee on 26 November 2015, the
abovementioned functions were carried out by the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee
had held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 December
2015 to review and recommend to the Board the long
term incentive scheme and compensation packages of the
Directors and the Senior Management of the Company.
No meeting was held by the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee during the period from 26
November 2015 to 31 December 2015.
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The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (formerly
known as Remuneration Committee before 26 November
2015) sets out annually its recommendations on the
remuneration package of Directors and Senior
Management. In determining the packages for a Director
and Senior Management, the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee considers various factors, including
market comparability, complexity of duties, and
performance.

In order to attract, retain, and motivate executives and key
employees serving the Company, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme on 20 June 2012 and a
share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015. Such incentive
schemes enables the eligible persons to obtain an
ownership interest in the Company and thus to reward the
participants who contribute to the success of the
Company'’s operation.

Nomination function

In terms of the nomination functions, the duties of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee are as follows:

o To perform evaluation of the Board regarding the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

o To identify, select and nominate individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors on its appointment or when their
independence is called into question;

o To review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate,
and review the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board diversity policy,
and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of the directors of
the Company and their succession plans.
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Before the establishment of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee on 26 November 2015, the
abovementioned functions were carried out by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee held
1 meeting during the year ended 31 December 2015 to
review the management structure of the Company, the
composition of the Board and consider the new candidate
to become Board member. No meeting was held by the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee during the
period from 26 November 2015 to 31 December 2015.

¢) Other Committees

As at 31 December 2015, apart from Audit Committee
and Remuneration and Nomination Committee, the
Company has 3 other Board Committees, namely Risk
Management Committee, Strategy and Investment
Committee and Executive Committee to assist the Board to
review the significant daily operational matters and thus
make recommendations to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions with written specific terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code provisions.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance
function are summarized as follows:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior
Management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to Directors and employees;
and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. As such,
the Board has implemented a policy concerning diversity of
board members in accordance with A.5.6 of the CG Code. The
purpose of the policy is to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Company’s board of directors.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

During the year, the Board has reviewed its composition under
diversified perspectives and considered the Board to be
adequately diversified. The Board has also reviewed the board
diversity policy and monitored the implementation of this policy.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements. As at 31 December 2015,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial statements
on a going-concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to
financial reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s
report attached to the financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, the Board has through the Audit
Committee and the Risk Management Committee reviewed to
their satisfaction the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.
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As Metorex Group was acquired by the Company in late 2013,
the Board will put more focus on the evaluation of its key
internal control aspects to ensure Metorex and its subsidiaries
are operating according to Metorex’s and the Group's
compliance requirements.

During the year under review, the Company also engaged an
external consultant to perform the internal control review over
the trading operations of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. Internally facilitated
briefings for directors are arranged and reading material on
relevant topics are issued to directors where appropriate. All
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses.
During the year, the Company has arranged in-house briefing or
provided reading material to all of their then existing directors,
namely Mr. Yang Zhigiang, Mr. Zhang Sanlin, Mr. Peter Geoffrey
Albert (appointed on 1 July 2015), Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Chen
Dexin, Mr. Douglas Campbell Walter Ritchie (resigned on 26
November 2015), Mr. John Adam Ferreira (resigned on 30 April
2015), Mr. Wu Chi Keung, Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony and Mr. Neil
Thacker Maclachlan, to provide update to them on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices for the
purpose of Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code. All directors of
the Company have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the financial year ended 31 December 2015 to the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary of the Company has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION AND
RIGHTS

The Company is committed to ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations. The Company would ensure all
shareholders and potential investors have equal opportunities to
receive and obtain the public information issued by the Company.

The Company welcomes its shareholders to attend the general
meetings to express their opinions and encourages all Directors
to attend the general meetings to develop direct
communications with shareholders. The external auditors are
also required to attend the annual general meeting to assist the
Directors in answering any pertinent questions from
shareholders. The Company regularly releases information to its
shareholders such as annual and interim reports, circulars and
notice of general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Set out below are procedures for shareholders of the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting, put enquiries to
the Board and put proposals at shareholders’ meetings. These
procedures are generally governed by the articles of association
of the Company and applicable laws, rules and regulations, which
prevail over the below information in case of any inconsistencies.

a) Procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting

1. One or more shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of deposit of requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all time have the right, by
written requisition, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

2. The requisition must be deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal place of business, the registered office.

3. The requisition must specify the objects of the
meeting and be signed by the requisitionists. The
signatures of such requisitionists will be verified by
the Company’s share registrars or branch share
registrars (where applicable).

4. On the condition that the requisition from the
requisitionists is proper and in order, the Board will
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and such meeting for transacting
the business specified in the requisition shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

B SRR B A )

RRRB AR ERANEEET LRI R EA
BREGI AR T2 WEERY - AR SHER
2HERNLEEREER FERSRR LIS
ARBAEHZARER -

ARRBBEBRREFERRAGHERER - N
SEERESHERRAGBBRERKER
SNEZBEN AL R RBFEAS  HHESR
REBRIZL 2 B BREE - AAEHR EmAR A
ZRE - EMRBRRERE - MFERN T
HE - BRMERAGRSS -

TXHEINARBBRARABRRERIAG - ME
EEEHMMRBRRAG LIRHER ZIEF © %
ERF-REARABABERAMA NERE
BERNMRREE - METXERE B
ERUER SRR RARANRE -

a) ARIARRBARRFEIIRENER

1. HERREREAFKAETIRAQT
ToZ—EHRBRALEEAERR
RELBREZ —2HZHZARFR
R BREBESUNEESARLE
Ko BREZFGARBREHA

g BREEERAMIAZ TS

il

N>

2. BRUARREARTNREBEZE
BREWE - FEARAE R
A EBEEE - RIARRXEEM

WERE -

3. EBERWMANRASZEN  WHE
KERE - RBLEZRBLHHAN
NAZBBFBERENRRBF
Bronhk (RAEER)ZE -

4. MEBEREMBHZERZEZME
g EFSMRNERXERE B
21 HREF ARBRENAE - M
ZBE IR ZRPIDIAEIEZ KGAR
RRXABERZMIEA LT -

Annual Report 2015 57
—E-RFR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
LRELRE

5. If the Board fails to proceed to convene an
extraordinary general meeting within 21 days from
the date of deposit of a valid requisition, the
requisitionists themselves may convene an
extraordinary general meeting in the same manner
as that in which extraordinary general meeting is to
be convened by the Board, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

b) Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders of the Company who have enquiries for the
Board are most welcomed to contact the Company at any
time and such enquiries will be forwarded to the Board.
The contact details are as follows:

Address:  Suite 4003-04, 40/F, Tower Two, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong

Facsimile: (852) 3919 7208
E-mail: info@jinchuan-intl.com

¢) Procedures for shareholders to put proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders of the Company are advised to follow Article
12.3 of the articles of association of the Company for
including a resolution through a valid requisition of an
extraordinary general meeting. Details are set out in
paragraph a) above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Updated information of the Company is available to investors via
the Company’s website www.jinchuan-intl.com. All material
information such as circulars, annual and interim reports and
procedures for nomination of directors for election can be
accessed from the Company’s website. Further details of the
investor relations and communications of the Company is set out
on page 169.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor’s remuneration for the
year ended 31 December 2015 is US$459,000 out of which
US$342,000 was related to audit services for the consolidated
financial statements and US$117,000 was related to non-audit
services regarding the review of continuing connected
transactions, review of interim results and other professional
services.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFAGREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BITEE

YANG Zhigiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Yang Zhigiang, aged 58, PhD, professor-grade senior
engineer, an Executive Director of the Company since
November 2010. He is currently the chairman of the ultimate
holding company, Jinchuan Group which is a large-scale non-
ferrous metal mining conglomerate, specializing in mining,
concentrating, metallurgy, chemical engineering and further
processing. Mr. Yang joined the Jinchuan Group in 1982 and had served as the
deputy general manager in Jing Hang Engineering Company (3 T2 7)) of
the Jinchuan Group, deputy chief engineer and general manager of the corporate
management division in the Jinchuan Group, deputy general manager in the
Jinchuan Group, president and general manager of Silver Non-ferrous Metals
Company (RIEE B2 E A F]), and the deputy director of the Development and
Reform Commission of Gansu Province. Mr. Yang, as the chairman of the
Jinchuan Group, has over 30 years of extensive experience in resources
development, mine construction, large-scale metal selection and group
production, marketing and capital management.

ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhang Sanlin, aged 51, a senior economist, an Executive
Director of the Company since November 2010. He completed
his postgraduate studies in business management. He joined
the Jinchuan Group in July 1985 and since then has been
consecutively responsible, at the smelting plant, for statistics
and production planning, and at the management division of
the Jinchuan Group, for corporate management and corporate transformation,
and at the mines under the Jinchuan Group, for management, and at the
management division of the Jinchuan Group, for asset restructuring, institutional
adjustment, capital restructuring and share listing, merger and acquisition and
asset management. He is currently the vice president and the executive director of
the Jinchuan Group and is responsible for the Jinchuan Group’s asset
management, legal matters, corporate management and corporate reformation.
He has extensive experience in mining business management and corporate asset
management.

ZHANG Zhong

Mr. Zhang Zhong, aged 50, EMBA, an Executive Director of the
Company since November 2010. He is currently the general
manager of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited and the Executive Vice President of Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd. For over 25 years, Mr. Zhang has
consecutively served as the head of the computer center of the
Jinchuan Group, the director of the research institute of automation, liaison officer on
overseas projects of the Jinchuan Group, head of the information centre of the
Jinchuan Group, the president of Gansu Jinchuan Jin Ge Mining Vehicles Company
Limited (H & & Il € & 7% 2 B & 5 [R 2 7)), a Sino-German joint venture, the
president (and general manager) of Jinchuan Group Mechanics Manufacturing
Limited (& )1| 5= B # i 2L & 2 &) and the general manager of the planning and
development division of the Jinchuan Group. He has extensive experience in the
company’s operating management, enterprise IT, project management, business
development and Chinese foreign JV.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERE

Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Albert, aged 57, an Executive Director of the Company
since July 2015. He is a metallurgist and holds an Executive
MBA degree. He has more than 30 years of experience in
project management, general management and operations
management in mining and minerals processing in Australia,
Africa and Asia. He is a Member of the Institute of Materials,
Minerals and Mining (London), a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining
and Metallurgy (“AusIMM") and a Chartered Engineer.

For his achievements and leadership in the mining industry, and voted by his
peers, Mr. Albert was awarded the “Mining CEO of the Year”, at the 2012 Asia
Mining Congress. Mr. Albert was also awarded the “Mining Executive of the
Year”, at the 2013 Asia Mining Congress.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Albert was the Chief Executive Officer and an
Executive Director of G-Resources Group Ltd. (2009-2015), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Prior to G-Resources Group Ltd., he was the Executive General Manager — Asia,
OZ Minerals Limited covering off-shore operations; the Sepon copper and gold
operations and projects; the development of the Martabe gold and silver mine in
Indonesia; business development in Asia, and Asian government relations. He
joined Oxiana Limited in 2000 from Fluor Daniel, where he held the position of
General Manager — Projects. Mr. Albert has also worked with Shell-Billiton
(Australia), Aker Kvaerner (Australia) and Johannesburg Consolidated Investments
(South Africa).

CHEN Dexin (Chairman of Metorex’s Board and Acting Chief Executive Officer of
Metorex)

Mr. Chen, aged 46, professorate senior engineer, completed
his postgraduate studies in Economics and Management, an
Executive Director of the Company since January 2014. He is
currently the vice president of the Jichuan Group. He joined the
Jinchuan Group in July 1994 and since then has been
consecutively responsible for the mining technology and
management of Jing Hang Engineering Company (#& T22A
A]) of the Jinchuan Group, No. 2 Mine ( —#Z[& ) of the Jinchuan Group and No.
1 (Longshou) Mine (B2 & &) of the Jinchuan Group. He is currently the chairman
of the board of directors and remuneration committee of Metorex (Proprietary)
Limited (“Metorex”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr.
Chen was appointed as the acting chief executive officer of Metorex in April
2015. He has extensive operation and management experience in the mining
industry. He is also a non-executive director and the deputy chairman of the
board of Wesizwe Platinum Limited since 2011, a company listed on the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange in the Republic of South Africa (the “South
Africa”). He is the chairman of the board of directors of Tibet Tian Yuan Minerals
Exploration Ltd since 2011.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BIUFRITES

WU Chi Keung

Mr. Wu Chi Keung, aged 59, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since January 2011. He graduated
from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in 1980 with a Higher Diploma in
Accountancy. He has more than 30 years of experience mainly
in financial audit and specializes in providing auditing and
assurance services, financial due diligence reviews, support services for merger
and acquisitions, corporate restructuring and fund raising engagements. Mr. Wu's
prior experience in finance mainly includes working with international accounting
firms until he retired as a partner from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2008. Mr.
Wau is currently the managing director of a family-owned private company in
Hong Kong engaging in property and other investment activities. He is an
independent non-executive director of China Medical System Holdings Limited,
Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited, Huabao International Holdings Limited and
YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited (the shares of these companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Wu is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom.

YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Yen Yuen Ho, Tony, aged 68, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since August 2010. He is a
solicitor of Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. He is also a
barrister and solicitor of Australia, and was a member of the
Government's Law Reform Commission. Mr. Yen has been
practicing law in Hong Kong since 1983 and was the Law
Draftsman of the Department of Justice in Hong Kong from 1995 to 2007.

Currently, Mr. Yen is an Adjunct Professor of the Beijing Normal University and an
Honorary Court Member of the court of the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He was an Adjunct Professor of the City University of Hong Kong
from July 2011 to June 2014. He is a Director of the Hong Kong Institute for
Public Administration and an Honorary Legal Adviser to the Friends of Scouting,
Scout Association of Hong Kong. Additionally, Mr. Yen serves as the Director of
two secondary schools, the Vice Chairman of the Neighbourhood Advice Action
Council and a Member of Heep Hong Society’s Executive Council. He is also an
Honorary Adviser to the Pok Oi Hospital, Honorary Adviser to the Hong Kong
Provisional Academy of Nursing and the Honorary Legal Adviser to the Shanghai
Fraternity Association, and serves as a member to the Hong Kong Law Society’s
Mainland Legal Affairs Committee. Mr. Yen was appointed as an Honorary Fellow
of the School of Education, University of Hong Kong in 2014. In the past years, he
was appointed by the HKSAR Government as a member of the Education
Bureau’s Panel of Review Board on School Complaints and as the Vice-Chairman
of the Social Welfare Lump Sum Grant Independent Complaints Handling
Committee. Mr. Yen also serves as a guest speaker to various universities in Hong
Kong. He is an independent non-executive director of United Photovoltaics Group
Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).
Mr. Yen was in October 2015 appointed by China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co.
Limited as an independent director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERE

Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN

Mr. Maclachlan, aged 73, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since October 2014. He holds a
Bachelor of Science in Biochemistry from Manchester University
in the United Kingdom (the “UK"”). He has over 35 years’
investment banking experience in Europe, South East Asia and
Australia, through his positions with the investment banking
division of HSBC Holdings Plc, including as Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Wardley Australia Ltd (1979 -1986), as head of investment banking at
James Capel & Co Ltd (1986 — 1990); and as Deputy Managing Director of
Svenska Handelsbanken’s London investment banking division from 1990 until
1993.

From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Maclachlan served as Executive Vice President (Asia) of
Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”). In such capacity, he was responsible for
identifying and negotiating new acquisitions for Barrick in the Far East, including
Hong Kong, China, the Philippines and Indonesia.

From 1997 to 2004, Mr. Maclachlan was a non-executive director of Ambrian
Capital Plc (formerly known as Golden Prospect Plc), which is a mining investment
company listed in London on the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM"). From
2004 to 2007, he served as an executive director of Ambrian Partners Limited,
which at the time was a wholly owned subsidiary of Ambrian Capital Plc.

Since then, Mr. Maclachlan was a director of Kalahari Minerals Plc, an AIM listed
exploration company (2009 — 2012). He was also a director and non-executive
chairman of Nyota Minerals Ltd, a junior gold exploration company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX"”) and AIM (2012-2014), a director of Eurogold
Limited, a company listed on the AIM and the ASX (2004-2012), a director of
Samson Oil and Gas Limited, a company listed on the ASX and the American
Stock Exchange (1998-2011), a director of Extract Resources Ltd, a company listed
on the ASX and the Toronto Stock Exchange (2007-2012) and a director of Oklo
Resources Limited, a company listed on the ASX (2007-2013).

Currently, he serves as chairman and a major shareholder in Markham Associates,
a private UK partnership, which undertakes financial consultancy and direct
investment activities in Europe, Australia and South East Asia.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Peter Geoffrey ALBERT

For details of Mr. Albert’s biography, please see the sub-section headed
“Directors” on page 60.

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
ZHANG Zhong

For details of Mr. Zhang Zhong's biography, please see the sub- section headed
“Directors” on page 59.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY
WONG Tak Chuen

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen, is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom, as well as a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, financial management, mergers and acquisitions gained
from various senior finance related positions in an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong, companies listed in Hong Kong and a company listed in the United
States.

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT — TRADING
Peter John DENEEN

Mr. Peter John Deneen, has over 20 years of experience as a metals trader,
formerly based in Beijing as a permanent resident and chief representative of
Cometals, a division of Commercial Metals Company (NYSE: CMC). He later
headed up Samsung America’s worldwide alumina team, a major supplier to the
Chinese aluminum industry. Mr. Deneen also knows the copper industry, having
traded copper concentrates and cathodes for many years, and was a former
director of Erdmin, a Mongolian refined copper producer. He holds a master’s
degree in International Management (M.I.M) from the American Graduate School
of International Management (Thunderbird), and a B.A. in Chinese Studies and
economics from Hampshire College in Amherst, Massachusetts. Mr. Deneen is
fluent in Mandarin Chinese.

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF METOREX
CHEN Dexin

For details of Mr. Chen’s biography, please see the sub-section headed
“Directors” on page 60.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF METOREX
QIAO Fugui

Mr. Qiao Fugui, Master of Engineering, holder of postgraduate qualification,
currently the assistant to the general manager and the general manager of the
mineral resources division of Jinchuan Group. Mr. Qiao joined the Jinchuan Group
in 1988. He was previously served as the deputy general manager of the planning
and development division of the Jinchuan Group, the director of No. 3 Mine (=
&= ) of the Jinchuan Group, general manager of the mining division of Jinchuan
Group, the president of Gansu Jin Ao Mining Limited (H 88 & R 2% A 7)), the
joint venture established by the Jinchuan Group and BHP Billiton. He is also a
director of GobiMin Inc., a company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
Venture Exchange in Canada, since 2007. HE has expertise in technical aspects of
mine exploration and development and extensive experience in operation and
management. He was a non-executive director of the Company from 30
November 2010 to 1 January 2014.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF METOREX
YANG Jinshan

Mr. Yang Jinshan, senior accountant, holder of university degree, joined the
Jinchuan Group in 1991. He has previously served as the Deputy General Manager
of the Financial Division and Risk Management Division of Jinchuan Group and
the Chief Financial Officer of the Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The directors of the Company present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements. During the year, there were no significant changes
in the nature of the Company’s principal activities during the
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company’s business and a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties being faced by the Company are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEQ’s report” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis™ sections of this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Company
that have occurred since the end of the year, and indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business can also be
found in these sections. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set
out on page 3. A discussion on the Company’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the Sustainable
Development Report on pages 21 to 34. An account of the
Company’s relationship with its shareholders and investors can
be found on pages 57 to 58 and 169.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company complies with the requirements under the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law (2011 Revision), the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") for, among other things, the
disclosure of information and corporate governance.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 79 to 167.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2015.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out on page 168.This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2015 are set out in note 25 to the financial statements.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF
THE LISTING RULES

On 29 May 2014, Kinsenda Copper Company SA (as borrower),
a 77% owned subsidiary of the Company, and Jinchuan Group
(as guarantor) entered into a facility agreement with China
Development Bank Corporation (as lender) in relation to a term
loan facility in an amount of US$225,000,000. The final
repayment date of the term loan facility will be the date falling
10 years from the date of the first utilization of such facility,
which had taken place on 30 May 2014. The Company indirectly
owns 77% of the issued share capital of Kinsenda Copper
Company SA.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreement, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, Jinchuan Group is required, at all
times, to (directly or indirectly) own more than 50% of the
shares of Kinsenda Copper Company SA. Breach of this specific
performance obligation will constitute an event of default. Upon
the occurrence of such event of default, the relevant bank may
declare the term loan facility to be cancelled and all outstanding
amounts may become immediately due and payable.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the
financial statements.
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PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company ‘s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2015 represented the aggregate
of share premium account, contributed surplus and accumulated
losses, which amounted to nil (2014: US$15,423,000).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT
(@appointed on 1 July 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Zhong
Mr. CHEN Dexin
Mr. Douglas Campbell Walter RITCHIE
(resigned on 26 November 2015)

Non-executive director:

Mr. John Adam FERREIRA
(resigned on 30 April 2015)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony
Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, at every annual general meeting of the Company
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the next
following general meeting and any director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for
re-election by shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting.

Accordingly, Mr. Yang Zhigiang, Mr. Chen Dexin and Mr. Wu
Chi Keung will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election; whereas Mr.
Peter Geoffrey Albert, who was appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board during the year, will retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or letter
of appointment with the Company with a term or revised term
ending on 31 December 2016 or the date on which he shall
retire from office in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company and the Listing Rules and not having been re-
elected or his service contract or appointment is terminated
before that.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2015, none of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are
required: (a) to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV and the SFO (including
interests or short positions which he is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2015
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company granted to any of the
directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for those disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, no contracts, transactions or
arrangements of significance, to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries were a
party and in which a director of the Company or entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2015.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
potential liabilities of directors and officers of the Company to
third parties arising out of their corporate activities. This
permitted indemnity provision was in force for the benefit of the
directors of the Company during the financial year ended 31
December 2015, and remains to be in force as at the date of this
Report of Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note
29 to the financial statements.

There were no share options of the Company outstanding at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2015.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2015, so far as is known to any director or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (i) had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO; or (i) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying the right to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
options in respect of such capital.
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HIORR - R(NEERXEEERMBRERNA
REER TEARRBRRAGRREZ IR
BB (E 5% A £ 2 et Hax FRA ZAE
{a] AR A P A -

Long position in the shares of the Company RARTRGBZHE
Number of shares  Percentage of the
which may be  total number of
Capacity/nature Number of converted from shares in issue
Name of shareholder Note of interest shares held PSCS (Note 3) (%) (Note 2)
KARBAH EERTRG
REFAHBRZ BYANL
£ Wi &R/ ERhE FRROEBE ROZHE (HE3) (%) (Kt 2)
Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd* (1 Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
2NEBRGERRA corporation
AR
Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) (1 Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
Resources Holdings Limited corporation
S)I&E (F8) ERERBRAA REEEER
Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (1) &(3) Interest of a controlled 3,263,022,857 8,466,120,000 269.59%
2JIIBV)BERAT corporation/
Beneficial owner
S EEER
ERlBEA
Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited Beneficial owner 1,872,226,377 N/A 43.03%
2BV BRAF EnBEEA NEA
Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited Beneficial owner 855,874,372 N/A 19.67%
) EVIZBRAF EGBEEA NER
Jinchuan (BVI) 3 Limited Beneficial owner 534,922,108 N/A 12.29%
2IBVI3BRAT ERAA TER
* For identification purposes only * (EHER
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Notes:

&I E£ERMH AR AT (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*) directly owns 100% of
the issued share capital of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited which in turn owns 100% of the issued share capital of Jinchuan
(BVI) Limited which owns 100% of the issued share capital of Jinchuan (BVI)
1 Limited, Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan (BVI) 3 Limited. Therefore,
Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*, Jinchuan Group (Hongkong) Resources Holdings
Limited and Jinchuan (BVI) Limited are deemed to have an interest in
11,729,142,857 shares under the SFO.

The calculation is based on the number of shares of the Company as a
percentage of the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e.
4,350,753,051) as at 31 December 2015.

Jinchuan (BVI) Limited directly holds PSCS in the amount of US$1,085.4
million (equivalent to approximately HK$8,466.1 million) which may be
converted into 8,466,120,000 shares of the Company at an initial
conversion price of HK$1.00. Under the SFO, Jinchuan (BVI) Limited is
deemed to be interested in the 8,466,120,000 shares of the Company
underlying the PSCS.

Save as disclosed below, none of the Directors is a director or employee of
a company which had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 Part XV of
the SFO.

Name of Director Posts held in Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd*
Chairman and director

Vice President and director

Vice President

Mr. Yang Zhigiang
Mr. Zhang Sanlin
Mr. Chen Dexin
Name of Director Posts held in Jinchuan Group
(Hongkong) Resources Holdings

Limited
Mr. Yang Zhigiang Chairman and director
Mr. Zhang Sanlin Director

Mr. Zhang Zhong General manager and director

Posts held in each of Jinchuan (BVI)
Limited, Jinchuan (BVI) 1 Limited,
Jinchuan (BVI) 2 Limited and Jinchuan

Name of Director

(BVI) 3 Limited
Mr. Yang Zhigiang Director
Mr. Zhang Sanlin Director
Mr. Zhang Zhong Director

*  For identification purpose only
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, so far as is
known to any director or chief executive, no other person (i) had
interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or (i) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying the right to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
options in respect of such capital.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 86.7% (2014: 89.4%) of the total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer amounted to
25.7% (2014: 22.8%). Purchases from the Group’s fives largest
suppliers accounted for 48.1% (2014: 44.9%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
amounted t0 20.4% (2014: 22.2%).

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a
director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2015, save that Jinchuan Group was the largest
customer of the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in making mandatory contributions for its staff in
Hong Kong and staff retirement fund for those staff in the South
Africa, the DRC and Zambia. Details of the Group’s retirement
benefit scheme for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the directors of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group throughout the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out
by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics as well
as the recommendations of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (formerly known as Remuneration Committee) of the
Board.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 20 June
2012 and a share incentive scheme on 2 June 2015 as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees. Details of the
share option scheme adopted on 20 June 2012 is set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float not
less than 25% of the Company'’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(“CCTs")

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had the
following continuing connected transactions, details of which
are set out below:

() On 2 December 2013, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“2013 Agreement”) with Jinchuan
Group in relation to the trading of mineral and metal
products between the Group and Jinchuan Group and its
associates (for the purpose of the CCT, excluding the
Group) for a renewal period from 1 January 2014 to 31
December 2016.

The proposed annual cap for the above CCT for the year
ended 31 December 2015 was US$1,200 million. The
actual amount paid under the 2013 Agreement was
approximately US$41.6 million.

As Jinchuan Group is indirectly interested in 75.0% of the
equity interest in the Company, it is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the 2013 Agreement
constitute CCTs for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

i I 3R

AEEZBREFHER I AEZTSERNEZE
B BERBENEE -

ARABEZZHFMNIHEFELERARFL
BERE - ERIRR - MHAILLEAR 2 BURINA
rEFEHMNEAZES (AIBFMEES)
HIEEFE M E

ARBERZE—_F A+ HERNERE
FFEIRR T —HF/NA - IR =BT
g UREEMAEREERHERE RN-F
——FRNAZTRRANERESFRER
A MBRARMEE29 -

BHATRIGRE

REBARR ARG Z AREHMEEESAA
B RABERE  AABEFRE LR
ZRENDRARRDHEITRD 25% 2 25

NRFFIE

HRMEX S ([FHEMERXS )

BE-T—AF A=t —BILFE A%
MO TS MBER S - T ¢

() MZE—=%F+-—A-H A&EHHES
NEBFYEEHRZ(( 2 —=F#%
Z]) AREBEAEEES ) EERE
BEAN(GEBEEERSME  TEER
EEETEERACBERES  £E
HA—2—NWF—A—HEZ_Z— X F
+ZA=+—HAL-

P FERERIREBEE - —1F
T+ A=+ BLFEZERFELR
B1200B8BET —E—=FHxET2
ERENESBEOAB4I6EEET

AN )| =B AR T 75.0% H) B
MESAEZD  WRELTRUIBAR
AIEREE AL o #itt - IRIE ETRAE
MUAE  —E—=ZFHZBE RETH
RBBRARBIZHERERS -

Annual Report 2015 73
—E-RFR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ENERE

(ii)

(iif)

74

Ruashi Mining SAS, a subsidiary of Metorex, entered into
an off- take agreement for cobalt carbonate and/or cobalt
hydroxide (the “Cobalt Off-take Agreement”) with
Jinchuan Group in August 2007. The Cobalt Off-take
Agreement was amended by agreement of parties in July
2011 to extend until 31 December 2015. Upon the
completion of the acquisition of Metorex Group in
November 2013, the transactions contemplated under the
Cobalt Off-take Agreement became CCTs of the Group
under the Listing Rules.

The proposed annual cap for the CCTs under the Cobalt
Off-take Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2015
was US$112.3 million. The actual CCTs amount under the
Cobalt Off-take Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2015 was approximately US$75.8 million.

Pursuant to the lease agreement for leasing office premises
(the “Licence Agreement”) that the Golden Harbour
International Trading Limited (“GHL") (a subsidiary of the
Company) entered into with Golden Wealth International
Trading Limited (“GWL") on 31 December 2013, the
Group leased office premises from GWL for the period
from 1 January 2014 to 30 April 2016. GWL is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Jinchuan Group, and thus a
connected person of the Company. The transactions
contemplated under the Licence Agreement constitute
CCTs of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The proposed annual cap for the CCTs under the Licence
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
HK$4.2 million (equivalent to approximately US$0.5
million). The actual CCT amount under the Licence
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
approximately HK$3.0 million (equivalent to approximately
US$0.4 million).

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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Details of the above CCTs have been disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 2 December 2013 and in
the circulars of the Company dated 11 December 2013 (for the
2013 Agreement) and 30 August 2013 (for the Coblat Off-take
Agreement) and in the announcement dated 31 December 2013
(for the Licence Agreement).

All the above CCTs for the year ended 31 December 2015 have
been reviewed by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. The independent non-executive directors of the
Company have confirmed that the CCTs have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(©) in accordance with the respective agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Group as a whole.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group's
CCTs in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
CCTs for the year ended 31 December 2015 in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Other than as disclosed above, no contracts, transactions or
arrangements of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or any entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant event after the reporting period
that need to be disclosed.

AUDITOR

During the year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) were the
auditors of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Deloitte as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

YANG Zhigiang
Chairman of the Board

Jinchang City, Gansu Province, the PRC, 17 March 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AR SR

Deloitte.
=)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
JINCHUAN GROUP INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES CO. LTD
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 79 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2015, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosures requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

HE)IBRERBRARZEBR
(RHASEEEMALZERLDF)

BMEEZHERETOZR167ENR/IBERE
BRAERDR(TERA]) EMBAR(SGHEIE
SE]) ZEREMBRE - W BRRBE-F
—HAF+Z A=t BNEaMBIREK -
MEBEZBILFENGS B REMEE RS
R FEEREPRLEARERERALE
SRR 2 ANEMEEER -

EEMGAMBERRARENRE

ERAEEARERBERI RS ENIE
BRATGHZ RERTRBERMAL 2 5A
BE ERR S Vo e DU LT
%45 A B IR B AR S SRR T E A
IR -

BB RE

BN EERREBERMNEZEZFREVT
BRFLER - RANBEELSZBRRR
B MANAERME R - R TRARE
MASEHEREMA T BB SAERE - M
EREEZESFMASHEMNBBEERD
MEEITEZ - RFERNZRAEMETHES
e WREIRETER  EMESS IR
ERAVBBREETFAEEMERERR

o

Annual Report 2015 77
—T-AER



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
EORVE S S LTE S

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRREMZERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

2015 2014
—EB-hfF —E—F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B aE FEx FET
Revenue W 5 470,691 652,475
Cost of sales $HE B AN (462,637) (632,201)
Gross profit ESVN| 8,054 20,274
Other gains and losses H Yz K g 18 7 (3,922) (13,604)
Selling and distribution costs $HE K53 SHA AR (28,453) (28,581)
Administrative expenses ITERX (26,898) (32,225)
Impairment loss REEE 8 (312,264) (370,053)
Finance income TN 449 917
Finance costs B 765 Ak 2N 9 (6,603) (9,007)
Loss before taxation KRR E 1R 10 (369,637) (432,279)
Income tax credit FiSHiE % 12 13,821 132,776
Loss for the year FREIE (355,816) (299,503)
Other comprehensive income Hib2EKRA (FAx) :
(expense):
Items that may be reclassified HEWREEFH»EE
subsequently to profit or loss: BRzEH
Exchange differences on translation & FEA4 7 EH =58 - (2,091)
Fair value change on cash flow RERELER 2 A TEES) -
hedges, net of income tax HIBRPTISHR 24 2
Other comprehensive REFHMEE
income (expense) for the year WA (%) 24 (2,089)
Total comprehensive expense REFEE M 45
for the year (355,792) (301,592)
Loss for the year attributable to: THALEGEAEIE :
Owners of the Company NABER A (291,767) (230,512)
Non-controlling interests IEIE = (64,049) (68,991)
(355,816) (299,503)
Total comprehensive expense THALEGEEZEES
attributable to: #RE
Owners of the Company IN/NCIEZ =N (291,743) (232,601)
Non-controlling interests IEIE = (64,049) (68,991)
(355,792) (301,592)
Loss per share BiREE 13
Basic and diluted (US cents) BN R #E (3E4L) (6.71) (5.30)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
fREMHERAR

At 31 December 2015
R—ZE—RF+-_A=+—H

2015 2014
— —TnmF
Notes Us$’000 Us$'000
P FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B MR 14 689,879 638,017
Mineral rights EERE 15 421,215 558,097
Exploration and evaluation assets IR R L EE 16 172,685 337,508
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 17 22,195 25,518
1,305,974 1,559,140
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 102,961 98,036
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H MR GRIA 19 118,772 136,726
Amount due from ultimate 6 S NI /O
holding company 21 - 3
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTAE 22 1,062 653
Restricted cash deposits Z R GRS 7K 23 4,182 9,628
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 23 47,422 60,083
274,399 305,129
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B5 R EHMER A 24 92,907 90,823
Amount due to ultimate JE B ARIEAR A R FIB
holding company 21 - 58
Amount due to an intermediate JE A PR R AR A R FRIB
holding company 21 2,615 105,234
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary — f&{t— R 2B A A
Wi 21 744 20,014
Bank borrowings RITERK 25 16,437 51,433
Short-term provisions RO HARE MR 26 8,286 6,817
Tax payable FEETIE 1,927 3,610
122,916 277,989
Net current assets REEEZE 151,483 27,140
Total assets less current liabilities A& ERAEAE 1,457,457 1,586,280
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank borrowings SRITIB RN 25 257,000 133,094
Long-term provisions REAR 26 26,184 23,953
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAE 27 293,313 312,481
Amount due to an intermediate JE AR R AR A R RIB
holding company 21 115,000 -
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary — FEfH[E Z I EB A 7718 21 5,000 -
696,497 469,528
Net assets EEFE 760,960 1,116,752
80 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REemBikR®

At 31 December 2015
R—ZE—RF+=-A=+—8H

2015 2014
—E-5% —T—MmE
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B aE FEx FET
Capital and reserves RAR &
Share capital R& A 28 5,578 5,578
Perpetual subordinated convertible sk A X 4% A #j% 75 5
securities 30 1,089,084 1,089,084
Reserves i (402,696) (110,953)
Equity attributable to owners RRATEE ANELER
of the Company 691,966 983,709
Non-controlling interests FEIE R FE RS 68,994 133,043
Total equity T ARER 760,960 1,116,752

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 167 were #HRE79E 167 BN G AN B HREBLES
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on &) —Z— NF = A+ B H#EE R IRE T2 -

17 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by: WHATATRARE -
YANG Zhiqgiang Peter Geoffrey ALBERT
BER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

AeEREEDR

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
 E TR E+_A=1+—HItEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAES
Perpetual
subordinated Accumulated Non-
Share  convertible Share  Translation Hedging Other profits controlling
capital securities premium reserve reserve reserves (losses) Total interests Total
KARB ESp-]
B URREE  RGEE ARG HMEE  HEER (E8) B FERER 5
US§'000 US§/000 US§'000 US$'000 US§'000 US$'000 US$'000 U5$'000 US$'000 US§'000
% TE Txn Txn Txn Txn Txn Txn TEL TEL
(Note)
(B&t)
At 1 January 2014 RZE-M5-A-R 5578 1,089,084 294,196 21,753) (29) (400,721) 250,222 1216310 203,667 1419977
Loss for the year FREE = = = = = - @051)  (230512) (68,991) (299,503
Other comprehensive (expense) FERAMZE(RR)
income for the year WA - - - (2,091) 2 - - (2,089) - (2,089
Total comprehensive (expense) TER2E(FR)
income for the year W\EE - - - (2,091) 2 - (3051) (232601) (68991)  (301592)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BRHBRREER
sharefolders of a subsidiary REZRE - - - - - - - - (1633) (1633)
At31 December 2014 RoZ-lmE
TZA=1+-A 5578 1,089,084 294,196 (23,804) (294) (400,721) 19,710 983,709 133,043 1,116,752
Loss for the year EREE = = = = = - Qo176 (291,767) (64049)  (355816)
Other comprehensive income FEEEMZARA
for the year - - - - 214 - - 21 - 21
Total comprehensive income RERR2EANA(RR)
(expense) for the year k) - - - - 24 - (291,767) (291,743) (64,049) (355,792)
At31 December 2015 RZE-1%
+-A=t+-A 5578 1,089,084 294,19 (23,804) (270) (400,721) (272,057) 691,966 68,994 760,960

Note:

Other reserves comprised (i) the excess of the nominal value of the shares of

the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in 2013 over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor and
(i) the issue of 1,595,880,000 shares of the Company with a fair value of
US$206,646,000 and the issue of perpetual subordinated convertible
securities (“Convertible Securities”) of the Company with a fair value of
US$1,089,084,000 on 14 November 2013 in exchange for the entire equity
interests in Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (“Jin Rui”) (together with its
subsidiaries, collectively referred to as “Jin Rui Group”) and the settlement
of all shareholder’s loans outstanding by Jin Rui to Jintai Mining Investment
Limited amounting to the principal amount of ZAR9,193,369,000

(equivalent to US$895,000,000).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeaRenE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_ZT—AF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-RE — g4
USs$'000 US$'000
FER FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REES
Loss for the year FANEE (355,816) (299,503)
Adjustments for: AR
Income tax credit FrigHiE e (13,821) (132,776)
Finance income BRI A (449) (917)
Finance costs BAFB AR AR 6,603 9,007
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WERREBE
plant and equipment 47 5
Change in fair value of derivative TESMTANFELE) -
financial instruments, net FER (385) (666)
Provisions for rehabilitation and BIERIRIRFA S H B
environmental expenditure 6,580 11,502
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB RERETE
equipment 50,003 73,703
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IERIE - 310
Amortisation of mineral rights TEE Y 7,496 46,417
Impairment loss recognised in respect of ERABEERESR
mineral rights 129,386 333,982
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EERMR KT A EE
exploration and evaluation assets BEEIE 182,878 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect EERME - BE RZE
of property, plant and equipment BEEE - 34,07
Impairment loss recognised in respect of B RER A e E R R E A
VAT recoverable - 2,000
Utilisation of rehabilitation trust fund 13-“;% BBETES 19 -
Operating cash flows before movements KRETZEES B 21 &
in working capital Iﬁimui 12,541 77,135
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 I EL A FE WGRIE R 17,954 104,431
Royalty prepayment utilised BB REREE R BTR N HRIE 1,968 1,535
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 RHEMERFRIEE IOk D)
other payables 2,084 (12,320)
Increase in inventories FEEm (4,925) (27,372)
Cash generated from operations KB EMSIEG 29,622 143,409
Income tax paid EAFTEH (7,030) (25,563)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES E& 8BRS FHE 22,592 117,846
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RaReaRER

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—-RE — P4
Us$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Decrease in restricted cash deposits R HIR e ERORLD 5,446 5,084
Interest received BIF S 449 917
Repayment from (advance to) a Democratic & (1)) fll R R = HF1E
Republic of Congo (“DRC") state-owned (MRE)DEEEHR
power company ZEF(BR) 1,336 (306)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BB MRAEERIE
plant and equipment 22 145
Repayment from (advance to) ultimate B (7)) xLHER AT 2
holding company BR(a) 3 (1)
Payment made on rehabilitation and BERRRBERIE
environmental provision (2,880) (6,923)
Expenditure on exploration and MR R EERX
evaluation assets (18,055) (22,455)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEE %2 « B Mi&iE (93,610) (130,347)
Purchase of mineral rights BEREE - (15,260)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES R & EEI B AR & T (107,289) (169,146)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
New bank borrowings raised FIBRITER 134,398 132,037
Advance from an intermediate holding RE— MR EERA R 2B
company 9,766 105,234
(Repayment to) advance from a fellow () B—FH Iﬁ RBRARZ
subsidiary (Bx)= (15,014) 19,978
(Repayment to) advance from ultimate (1a1) B E—Zﬁ RARZ
holding company (BN (58) 29
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT A B IR AR AR R 2 IR
shareholders of a subsidiary - (1,633)
Interest paid SENESS (11,568) (9,007)
Increase (decrease) in trade invoices B 5 ERE A Gl )
discounting facility 2,375 (65,883)
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITHER (47,863) (128,023)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B¥EEBFEREFE 72,036 52,732
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND RE&RBELZEIER (Bd)
CASH EQUIVALENTS BINFEE (12,661) 1,432
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRERREEEER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 60,083 58,739
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE Exgnye
CHANGES - (88)
CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END FRELZEER
OF THE YEAR 47,422 60,083
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERAESEEERBDIN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRRE S 47,422 60,083
84 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Its parent is Jinchuan (BVI) Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is
N EERRH AR AR (Jinchuan Group Co., Ltd) (“JCG")
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")).
The addresses of registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information in the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are the Mining
Operations and the trading of mineral and metal products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
United States dollars (“US$"”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IAS 19  Defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions

Annual improvements to IFRSs
2010-2012 cycle

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs  Annual improvements to IFRSs

2011-2013 cycle

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (”“IFRSs")

(Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

IFRS 9

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 11

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 27

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10,

IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 7

Amendments to IAS 12

Financial Instruments'
Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers!
Leases?

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations*
Disclosure Initiative*

Clarification of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation*

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle*

Agriculture: Bearer Plants*

Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception®

Disclosure Initiative®

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses®
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or

after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019,
with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017,

with earlier application permitted.
IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9
was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS
9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment
requirements for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other
comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement category
for certain simple debt instruments.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERHITREEITBEEMEREE

88

All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” are subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in
profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in
the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in
the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of
financial liabilities attributable to changes in the
financial liabilities" credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued) BRI iSRRI SE ok €M T B |(48)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit
losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting. However,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that
qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non-financial items that are eligible
for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness
test has been overhauled and replaced with the
principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an
entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material
impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities, however, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect
until a detailed review has been completed.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede IAS
17 "Leases”, introduces a single lessee accounting model
and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under IFRS 16,
a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying leased asset
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make
lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the
lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows.
Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are
initially measured on a present value basis. The
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional periods if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to
extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate
the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases that are
classified as operating leases under the predecessor
standard, IAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, IFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in I1AS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for
those two types of leases differently.

The directors of the Company will assess the impact of the
application of IFRS 16. For the moment, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of the
application of IFRS 16 until the Group performs a detailed
review.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised IFRSs will have no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and
positions.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts
and directors’ reports and audits became effective for the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.
Further, the disclosure requirements set out in the Listing
Rules regarding annual accounts have been amended with
reference to the new CO and to streamline with IFRSs.
Accordingly the presentation and disclosure of information
in the consolidated financial statements for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to
comply with these new requirements. Comparative
information in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements based on the new
requirements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

92

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time
all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

For all sales of minerals, the selling price is determined on
a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final selling
price is subject to the grades of copper and cobalt in the
Group's copper and cobalt products and movements in
copper and cobalt prices up to the date of final pricing,
normally 30 days to 90 days after initial booking. Revenue
on provisionally priced sales is recognised based on the
estimated grades of copper and cobalt in the Group’s
copper and cobalt products and the estimated average
copper and cobalt prices up to the date of final pricing.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than freehold land
and construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at historical cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated.

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
When the assets are completed and ready for intended
use, the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as the appropriate categories of property, plant and
eguipment, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Mining assets, including buildings and infrastructure, shafts
and mine development costs, are depreciated to their
residual values based on estimated proved and probable
ore reserves using the unit of production (“UOP") method.
For mine development costs, please refer to ‘stripping
costs’ section below.

Depreciation for other property, plant and equipment
(other than freehold land, mining assets and construction
in progress) are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives to their residual value,
which vary between 4 to 10 years.

The estimated mineral reserves, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

96

Stripping cost

Stripping costs incurred in the development phase of a
surface mine are capitalised as mine development costs.
Depreciation of the stripping costs, on the same basis as
the related mines, commences when the mines commence
production. To the extent that stripping costs incurred in
the production phase of a surface mine (“production
stripping costs”) provide improved access to ore, such
costs are recognised as a non-current asset (“stripping
activity asset”) when certain criteria are met, and are
capitalised as mine development costs and are
subsequently depreciated based on estimated proved and
probable ore reserves using the UOP method once the
mine comes into commercial production. The costs of
normal ongoing operational stripping activities are
accounted for as inventories.

Mineral rights

Mineral rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Mineral rights
include the cost of acquiring mining licences. Mineral
rights are amortised based on estimated proved and
probable ore reserves using the UOP method.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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3.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Costs of exploration
are capitalised pending a determination of whether
sufficient quantities of potentially mineral reserves have
been discovered.

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of
exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in the
search for mineral resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting those resources. Once the technical feasibility
and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral
resources in an area of interest are demonstrated, any
previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets
attributable to that area of interest are first tested for
impairment and then reclassified to either mineral rights or
property, plant and equipment under the heading of
construction in progress.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets
is reviewed at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired. Impairment test is
performed in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of
assets” whenever one of the following events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

o the period for which the Group has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not
expected to be renewed; substantive expenditure on
further exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area is neither budgeted nor
planned;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation
assets (Continued)

o exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources
and the Group has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area; or

J sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full
from successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s current tax is calculated using the tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)
Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. US$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
translation reserve). A change in presentation currency is
accounted for retrospectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Inventories

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of cost,
determined on a weighted average basis, and estimated
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling
and distribution. Obsolete and slow-moving consumable
stores are identified and are written down to their net
realisable values. Product inventories are valued at the
lower of cost, determined on a weighted average basis,
and net realisable value. Costs include direct mining costs
and directly attributable mine overheads.

Retirement benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
Payments made are dealt with as defined contribution
plans where the Group’s obligations under the schemes
are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

Long-term environmental obligations are provided for
based on the Group’s environmental plans, in compliance
with current environmental and regulatory requirements.

Full provision is made based on the net present value of
the estimated cost of restoring the environmental
disturbance that has occurred up to the end of the
reporting period. The estimated cost is capitalised in
property, plant and equipment as decommissioning assets
and amortised based on estimated proved and probable
ore reserves using the UOP method. The estimated cost of
rehabilitation is reviewed annually and adjusted as
appropriate for changes in legislation or technology and
unwinding for the time value of money. Changes in
estimated costs are added or deducted from the cost of
the relevant assets in the period such changes occurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL") and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL when the financial
assets is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the other gains and
losses line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 31.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including loan
receivable, trade and other receivables, amount due from
ultimate holding company, restricted cash deposits and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment
losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

3 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be
impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXE®HEBEE)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) TRIT A (&)

Financial assets (Continued) TRIERE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) eRMEEREBEE)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by FrEemEEZREBEEENART
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the BERBR - B S EWMFIERSN - ARRE
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount BENEBRFERBERRD - WEHEK
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When KIEWAR AT UE - A5 BRI
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written §H o Hig W E AT EE 2 8T AlBam
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries Ao BER REEZEBNIERER

of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a MIZBEKATEZEREEMS W
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss REEBABBREBEESBERYD - R
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an LVEBRAREBEREE SHREEH -
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the BIERIER REBEESEABERED -
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through EREERES B - REZEMETS
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the R 368 NI 4 T SRR (B B 2 B SH AR o

investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments cRBEREATIA

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a HEEERBET 2 eRABERRAT
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as B DIRBENLTHZARD ¢BAR
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual EERATAZESZ »EAERMAGSE
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and oo

an equity instrument.

Equity instruments RARTA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a BRATAEZRERELEREENIA
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting Hﬁfr*ﬂ_iéf, B2 FeRER 2 EREH -
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group BEEBAETCRATERE KRG
entity, are recognised at the proceeds received/fair values ,AIE/EEEWZJQSPTEME&?%‘ TR AT
recognised, net of direct issue costs. R o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities are
convertible into a fixed number of ordinary shares of the
Company and include no contractual obligation for the
Group to deliver cash or another financial asset to the
holders or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities
with the holders under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Group. These securities are classified
as equity instruments and are initially recognised at their
fair value on the date of issuance and are not subsequently
remeasured.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities
at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated
as FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 31.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, amounts due to ultimate holding company/an
intermediate holding company/fellow subsidiary and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

In the ordinary course of its operations, the Group may
enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to
manage its exposure to commodity price and foreign
exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which case the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are
treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are
not closely related to those of the host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives, which include
derivatives in respect of commodity price risk or foreign
currency risk, as hedging instruments for cash flow hedges.
Hedges of commaodity price risk or foreign exchange risk
are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
2/ EEHABRERERAT

3.

BEXEAE

SRMIE(E)
TTESRTE

RABERBRE  AEESTTAE
MESBTA AEEERQERRLE
2D -

TETAMSRITETIAGHRILER
ZNFERR  HRRERBEHRZ
RNPEEHAE -  AUELEZWRARE
BRAR R B ER - ERITETAEE
RBYOE R TE » AR IEEHER 2R
R R TR EEME

BRASTETA

WHMTETAZERAOASHNITET
ARMaTETAZ EERBIER LA
TTETAR  AEBEEHEIRS O
B B TR IARR - A4
WIELAR N FEFF ABEETE ©

R EEHA

AEEEETIETA(BEEHEAE
BERIINERR S 614 T R) e A
EBSREE 2 H AT A - BRER
B 5N E R 2 1 A SRS R & 7
B -

R RRE  ARBCEEHT
HE S IR B FZ R LATAEER
EEARLREETZHEAR RS IR
B o g5 - BRI EPE - AEERE
RO S T A BE B 1R AH MU 35 Er
RBEKRREHRER A FESASRE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments (Continued)
Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of 'hedging reserve’. The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss and is included in the "other
gains and losses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period when the hedged
item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes
the hedging relationships, when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When
a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

112

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss. When equity
instruments are issued to extinguish financial liabilities, the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liabilities and the fair value of equity instruments, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company have identified the following judgements and
key sources of estimation uncertainty that have significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed
below.

Provision for rehabilitation and environmental
expenditure

The provision for rehabilitation and environmental costs
has been determined by the directors of the Company
based on their best estimates. The directors of the
Company estimate this liability for final reclamation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of future cash flows spending for a
third party to perform the required work, escalated for
inflation, then discounted at a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money,
adjusted for inflation and the risks specific to the liability,
such that the provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. However, as the effect on the land and the
environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods, the estimate of the associated
costs may be subject to change in the future. The provision
is reviewed regularly to ensure that it properly reflects the
present value of the obligation arising from the current
and past mining activities.

Recognition of revenue and inventories

Mineral and metal products are purchased and sold under
provisional pricing arrangements where final grades of
copper and cobalt in copper and cobalt products are
agreed based on third-party examination and final prices
are set on the date of final pricing. Revenues and
inventories are recognised when title and risk of the
mineral and metal products are passed to customers and
from suppliers using history of grades of copper and cobalt
in copper and cobalt products based on internal
examination statistics and estimated average price up to
the date of final pricing.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Mineral reserves

Technical estimates of the Group’s mineral reserves are
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgements involved in
developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to
be met before estimated mineral reserves can be
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and
probable mineral reserves estimates are updated on a
regular basis and take into account recent economic
production and technical information about each mine. In
addition, as production levels and technical standards
change from year to year, the estimate of proved and
probable mineral reserves also changes. Despite the
inherent imprecision in these technical estimates, these
estimates are used as the basis for calculation of
depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and
equipment and of mineral rights and for assessment of
impairment losses as appropriate.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of mineral rights

Mining assets included within property, plant and
equipment and mineral rights are depreciated and
amortised respectively using the UOP method. The
calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation and
amortisation, and therefore the annual depreciation and
amortisation charge to operations, can fluctuate from
initial estimates. This could generally result when there are
significant changes in any of the factors or assumptions
used in estimating mineral reserves, notably changes in the
geology of the reserves and assumptions used in
determining the economic feasibility of the reserves.
Estimates of proved and probable reserves are prepared by
experts in extraction, geology and reserve determination.
Assessments of the UOP rates against the estimated
reserve base and operating and development plan are
performed regularly. Any change in estimates will increase
or decrease the inventories for the period in which the
changes occur. The carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and mineral rights are set out in notes 14
and 15, respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights and exploration and
evaluation assets

Property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and
exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be fully
recoverable. If an asset’s recoverable amount is less than
the asset’s carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. Future cash flow estimates which are used to
calculate the asset’s recoverable amount are based on
expectations about future operations primarily comprising
estimates about production and sales volumes, commodity
prices, reserves, operating and rehabilitation and
restoration costs. Changes in such estimates could impact
recoverable values of these assets. Estimates are reviewed
regularly by management. Where the recoverable amount
is less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 December 2015, property, plant and equipment is
at carrying amount of US$689,879,000 (2014:
US$638,017,000), and mineral rights is at carrying amount
of US$421,215,000 (2014: US$558,097,000) and
exploration and evaluation assets is at carrying amount of
US$172,685,000 (2014: US$337,508,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
management viewed that the prolonged decline in the
price of copper has significant impact on the recoverable
amount of the Group's assets; therefore the management
has assessed the impairment of the property, plant and
equipment, mineral rights and exploration and evaluation
assets. An impairment loss of nil (2014: US$34,071,000),
US$129,386,000 (2014: US$333,982,000) and
US$182,878,000 (2014: nil) was recognised in respect of
the property, plant and equipment, mineral rights and
exploration and evaluation assets respectively. The
recoverable amount was determined on the basis of value
in use. Details of these are set out in note 14.

4.

FESFHANRAHITREERZ
FERIEF (&)

E RN =SS
AHEEE 2 GEHRE

BEEUKRBRER

W - BB kEE - ﬁ%?%%&ﬁjﬁ

A BEEDREESHRBERE - &
fﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%i\%{%@HﬁT”IE/UZTE
% & Tﬁﬁﬁz—ﬂﬂl@iﬁéd EA/H\,@E@
{E ElJﬁEuu /HMEEE?E © ég—f
ek %EZ*XEEi/}ILE1ED+E%EAﬁ
BAARGCECTEHEE  T20EEH
E=EkHEHEE HRER #=2 £
NG ZREIEERANB R (5T o L
ST BB EEEEE 2 AT IKEE
B bt DA EREE TR o WAl
B&REORTEN - BT e EEERRE
BE RZTE—RAF+=-HA=1+—8"

ME - BREEZEZEARDMEAR

689,879,000% Jt( — T — g & :
638,017,000k L) : BE#E ZEAEEA
421,215,000% jt( — & — M F:

558,097,000 7T ) LA K Bhi%E I sF (L & &=
2 BEME{E A 172,685,000FE T (=—Z—M
£F : 337,508,000 L) °

REBEZE_Z—RHF+_A=1+—HILF
E ERERARERERETNHKEEHAN
EEEE MBS EELEEATE

WME T EME - BE RRE - BEEENU
FMERTEEEZRE - D - BE
NaEE BEEAMMELRTIGHEEED
SRR BREBEASTET(ZT—N
£ : 34,071,000 JT ) * 129,386,000 3
T (=—Z — P04 : 333,982,000E 1) &
182,878,000 L (= Z —VU4F : &) o 7]
M&z@é%ﬁ)ﬂﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁf EETE - A

BEERHIFE14 -
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4.

116

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Recognition primarily
involves judgement regarding the future performance of
the particular legal entity in which the deferred tax asset
has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also
evaluated in considering whether there is convincing
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will ultimately be utilised, such as the
amounts of the future taxable profit and tax planning
strategies. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on
the tax losses of US$17,369,000 (2014: US$20,436,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets is set out in note
27.

REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising from sales of goods.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as
follows:

4.

MESHANRGHIREERZ
EERIE(#)

ELEBIREE

fixi 75 7] BE 1S A] (L &) AR AT 4008 B B = &
ZERTEA - BIgtT e T =B ER
EEFBEE - HEREIESLHDER
BEERBEEZ R EEAZRKRKRIRE
By - EERTAEFHRN ZEES
AR e RRBAE TIDKETHIET
MBEER  TeICEZEEMAE
TN 2R 7R 8RR AR i I < BB K B 7S AR £ SR AR
% o WEFIIARKIE 17,369,000k T (=
T —PU4E : 20,436,000 7T ) FERIEERS
HEE ' REREETERNREFB
WU o IEIERIBE B 2 BREE S K727 o

W =
WastsHEEmAEE 2 Wt - AKE
FRZWEATAT :

2015 2014

—E-AF —E—pyE

US$"000 US$'000

FEx FET

Sales of copper $HE iR 394,866 574,170
Sales of cobalt THE L 75,825 78,305
470,691 652,475
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION SEEH
IFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating segments BRI B EERE S [En ] #
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about E R EDBARNEBAERKE D 2 A

components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM") in order to
allocate resources to the segment and assess its
performance.

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. They review the Group’s internal
reporting for the purpose of resource allocation and

assessment of segment performance.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

o Trading of mineral and metal products

o Mining Operations, primarily copper and cobalt
production

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BHEEHETE  ARAANNRSEHTIESE
BARARE(ERZERRE ) EHE
B ADEyBREREFESBERR -

TRLEERRECRERARANTE
2-REDAEHARE ZARHRSE A
ETERDEMFEDERE -

AEEZRERABREDRANT

s REMTBERES
o  FRER TEREEHFN

DEREREE

UTRASEZREERAIREDEE D
ZWoam R EE DT

BE—F—HFE+—_HA=+—HIFFEF

Trading of
mineral and
metal Mining
products  operations Total
BERESB
ERES RREK F
Us$'000 UsS$'000 US$'000
FEx FEx FEx
Segment revenue o E 137,182 333,509 470,691
Segment results Pan e (717) (365,761) (366,478)
Unallocated corporate income kOB AT A 56
Unallocated corporate expenses RO A AT (3,215)
Loss before taxation A BT E R (369,637)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. #EEH B
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DREWEREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 HE—ET—NF+—A=1T—HIFE
Trading of
mineral and
metal Mining
products operations Total
BERTE
EmESH FER TS 45T
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
T FExT FET
Segment revenue DI S 208,032 444,443 652,475
Segment results R E (828) (429,702) (430,530)
Unallocated corporate income RO ELAFUA 521
Unallocated corporate expenses k9 A 7B (2,270)
Loss before taxation % AT 5 18 (432,279)

Note: The accounting policies of operating segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies. Segment revenue and segment results
comprise revenue from external customers and loss before taxation
of each segment (excluding finance income and other central
administration costs), respectively.

P aE - &‘ DB BT BREAEE G BERM
- DERE R DBREED B BIES DR
E7\\ﬁ~§ﬁZuﬁlﬁnﬁx/‘@ﬁﬁﬁﬁZFf?mﬁl
BB (T BIEFTEUA R E A RITHKA) o

Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and D{T?%Z'—Vilhzm%&—f WEDEHE D
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: ZEERBEDT
Segment assets DEEE
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE—F
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr FET
Trading of mineral and metal products EENMEEEME 60,593 81,836
Mining operations BT 1,517,619 1,779,651
Total segment assets DEEEMAE 1,578,212 1,861,487
Unallocated corporate assets ROMRAFIEE 2,161 2,782
Consolidated assets HRAEBE 1,580,373 1,864,269
118 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. RE¥EEH &)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEEEREBE(E)
Segment liabilities DEEE
2015 2014
—®B-afF —ZT—MEF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Trading of mineral and metal products BENMCEERE S 12,569 8,197
Mining operations FAER TS 511,094 422,957
Total segment liabilities DB ELTE 523,663 431,154
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBEARIBAE 295,750 316,363
Consolidated liabilities meEBarE 819,413 747,517
Note: Segment assets and segment liabilities comprise total assets PR ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ&9;&5\%%%3”@%%9§52§§
(excluding unallocated corporate assets) and total liabilities BETBERDEAREE) RARERE(T
(excluding tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated BIERHNE  REREREREMBRDER
corporate liabilities) of each segment, respectively. REIAIME) -
Other segment information Hivn BEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE—FE—hF+_A=1T—HIFE
Trading of
mineral and
metal Mining
products operations  Unallocated Total
BERSE
EmES BISRER RO #@st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn
Amounts included in the STENBEER
measure of segment results DEEER
and segment assets: AR SR -
Addition to non-current assets  IEREIEEARE
(Note) (BtaE) - 119,969 20 119,989
Finance income 983 ON 86 349 14 449
Finance costs BBAA 334 6,269 - 6,603
Impairment loss recognised B R ENR K AHA
in respect of exploration and BEREEE
evaluation assets - 182,878 - 182,878
Impairment loss recognised BRABERREEE
in respect of mineral rights - 129,386 - 129,386
Depreciation of property, M BERSENE
plant and equipment 54 49,939 10 50,003
Amortisation of mineral rights TR REZE - 7,496 - 7,496
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE HER
plant and equipment REER - 47 - 47
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6.

120

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. #EEH B
Other segment information (Continued) Http BER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE—FE—NFEF—H=1—HIFEF
Trading of
mineral and
metal Mining
products operations Unallocated Total
EmES FEEE Sl Bt
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
FET FTET T T
Amounts included in the STENEEER
measure of segment results DRBER
and segment assets: FARRE -
Addition to non-current assets ~ FERBIEERE
(Note) (Bt zE) 114 167,947 1 168,062
Finance income WA 204 465 248 917
Finance costs B 965 8,042 - 9,007
Impairment loss recognised ERRANE  BER
in respect of property, FERERBE
plant and equipment - 34,071 - 34,071
Impairment loss recognised ERRBRERRERE
in respect of mineral rights - 333,982 - 333,982
Depreciation of property, M - BEREENE
plant and equipment 45 73,650 8 73,703
Amortisation of mineral rights ~ TRERERE - 46,417 - 46,417
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment HiBEE = 5 - 5

Note: Non-current assets excluded loan receivable and rehabilitation trust

fund.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. RE¥EEH &)
Geographical information i @ E R

BRAASEINIATP RS ZERTIER
EFHMERES - BRAAKEERD
BE(MERERERREEETEES)
ZERTDDEREBEMEEZS -

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on geographical location of
the customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets (excluding loan receivable and rehabilitation trust
fund) are based on geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

HPREF 2WEH ERBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-1f —E-mFE CZET-HF —T@OF
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TEn TET Txn TEn
Hong Kong 5 - - 145 204
Africa JEN 71,399 113,082 1,301,754 1,553,506
Mainland China R A 206,311 286,337 - -
Switzerland It 192,981 253,056 - =
470,691 652,475 1,301,899 1,553,710

Information about major customers ERFEEFP2ER

UTAREBAFERAEETE10% A
sz mE 2 WS

The following is an analysis of revenue from customers of
the corresponding year contributing over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group:

2015 2014

—E—-HEF —EF-NNF

US$'000 Us$'000

FEx FET

Largest customer (Note a) BAEF (ffEa) 117,396 148,903

Second largest customer (Note b) FE-AREBPF (Mizxb) 90,191 117,209

Third largest customer (Note b) FZAEF (Mizxb) 89,367 130,013

Fourth largest customer (Note b) FIARE (Mf3Eb) 67,255 110,579

Notes: Bt sE

(@  Revenue from the above customer, representing ultimate holding (@ RENLEERP(BREARRRLIERDT) 2K

company of the Company, is arising from trading of mineral and BOREBERSBERE S MRARER -

metal products and mining operations.

(b) Revenue from the above customers is arising from mining

operations.

(b) RENERPZWEIYRERREY
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7.

122

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. Rty RER

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E-F
US$’000 Us$'000
FER FET
Other exchange losses, net H & 5 B - R (6,481) (14,155)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HE R&HEEE
plant and equipment (47) (5)
Others HAftb 2,606 556
(3,922) (13,604)
IMPAIRMENT LOSS 8. REEHR
2015 2014
—B-HF —ZT—mEF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Impairment loss recognised MRERER REEE
in respect of mineral rights (Note 15)  (Fft5£ 15) 129,386 333,982
Impairment loss recognised MOE - BRE RBREERZ
in respect of property, plant and REEE (5T 14)
equipment (Note 14) - 34,071
Impairment loss recognised TRV M B E R
in respect of exploration and WIEEE (5 16)
evaluation assets (Note 16) 182,878 -
Impairment loss recognised T AT i (O] 3% (E T R 2R
in respect of value-added tax RIEEE
recoverable - 2,000
312,264 370,053

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. HMERE
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—mF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Interest on ATEIEZFE
Bank loan and other borrowings RITEFRHEMEER 11,001 11,236
Loan from an intermediate e —EHREERAE
holding company ZER 2,879 1,281
Loan from a fellow subsidiary RE—EREEME AT
ZER 1,047 837
14,927 13,354
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost i : AL A BIREEZ
of qualifying assets A& (8,324) (4,347)
6,603 9,007
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. FBRREIEGR
2015 2014
—E-HF —F-ImF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Loss before taxation has been arrived  BRFiRTEIEE R T7EE -
at after charging:
Staff costs B TRA
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EEME (1) 1,458 1,193
Other staff costs E 8 TRA
— Salaries and other benefits — Fre NEMETR 53,988 60,083
— Retirement benefits schemes — RIREFIFT SR
contributions 4,630 5,130
60,076 66,406
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN N 459 446
Depreciation of property, M - HE REETE
plant and equipment 50,003 73,703
Amortisation of mineral rights T8 7o A 7,496 46,417
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IR E - 310
Change in fair value of derivative MESMI AR TEES -
financial instruments, net HER 385 666
Operating lease rentals in respect of =248 ~ MR AE Y
equipment, premises and vehicles KEHERES 1,365 677
and after crediting: Wt ALATIER -
Finance income B A 449 917
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 11. EE - BEETHAEBRESEHS
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEZERERSTHRAEME
For the year ended 31 December 2015 BE_F—nF T _-_H=1—Hik
FE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and schemes
Fees allowances  contributions Others Total
BRER
e FeRzl SR Hitr b
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEn TR TEn Tin T#n
(Note)
(Mt
Executive directors HITEE
Yang Zhigiang (note a) i (fitta) - - - - -
Zhang Sanlin (note ) R= (3L 12 - - - 12
Zhang Zhong RB 31 198 2 - 231
Chen Dexin (note e) B4 (fiie) - - - - -
Douglas Campbell Walter Douglas Campbell Walter
Ritchie (note g) Ritchie (#izEg) 28 - - - 28
Non-Executive director FHITEF
John Adam Ferreira (note f) John Adam Ferreira (ff{zEf) 8 96 12 418 534
Independent non-executive directors BV HHTEE
Wu Chi Keung HER 7 - - - 7
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony BTE 7 - - - bij
Neil Thacker Maclachlan (note h) Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(HizEh) 2 - - - 21
Executive Director and Chief executive  #i77ZE #7545
Peter Geoffrey Albert (note i) Peter Geoffrey Albert (FiizEi) 15 556 1 - 572
175 850 15 418 1,458
Note: The amount represents a non-contractual compensation for loss of Kt ZeBEEERRARNBARNEEEESH
office as a chief executive officer in connection with the RTTE AR B R IER DR RE -

management of the affairs of a subsidiary of the Company.

124 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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HEZ-—AF&+-_A=+—RHItEE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014

TS

1. EF -BETRARRESMS (&)

(@) EBKBSTHRAEME (&)

BE-_F-—WFEr-A=1—HI

FE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and schemes
Fees allowances contributions Total
BARER
ik Fe kgt SRR Bt
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TET T T T
Executive directors HiTEE
Yang Zhigiang (note a) CrEAGET) = - - -
Zhang Sanlin K= 46 - - 46
Zhang Zhong sy 31 183 2 216
Chen Dexin (note e) BEE (MEe) = - - -
Douglas Campbell Walter Douglas Campbell Walter
Ritchie (note g) Ritchie (FiizEg) 24 = = 24
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Gao Tianpeng (note ¢) EARME (et c) 2 = - 2
Qiao Fugui (note b) BEE (K&b) = = - -
Zhou Xiaoyin (note b) AN (D) = - - -
John Adam Ferreira (note f) John Adam Ferreira
(HizES) PE] 746 73 842
Independent non-executive directors B3R/ TEE
Gao Dezhu (note d) S (fsd) 12 = = 12
Wu Chi Keung A 23 - - 23
Yen Yuen Ho, Tony Bk 23 - - 23
Neil Thacker Maclachlan (note h) Neil Thacker Maclachlan
(BitzEh) 5 - - 5
189 929 75 1,193

The executive directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The independent non-executive directors’

ERRTEERERSTRABNMEE
BEHENERARBRAREEEEH R
HIRBSERE - LB IFATE SR
EIEAREEEARREZTZHE -

emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as

directors of the Company.
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11. DIRECTORS’,

126

EF+ZA=+—RHILFE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:
(a) Mr. Yang Zhigiang was also the Chief Executive of the
Company up to 30 June 2015 and his emoluments were

borne by the ultimate holding company.

(b) These directors resigned on 1 January 2014.

(0) The director resigned on 21 March 2014.

(d) The director resigned on 9 July 2014.

(e) This director was appointed on 1 January 2014 and he had
waived his director fees for both years.

(f) The director was appointed on 1 January 2014 and resigned
on 30 April 2015.

(9) The director was appointed on 21 March 2014 and resigned
on 26 November 2015.

(h) The director was appointed on 8 October 2014.

(i) Mr. Peter Geoffrey Albert was appointed as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive of the Company on 1 July
2015.

() Mr. Zhang Sanlin had waived his director fees since 1 April
2015.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees in the Group during
the year included two directors (2014: one director),
details of whose emoluments are set out in note
11(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining three (2014: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

EE -BEETRARREAMS (2

(a)

(b)

EERBSTHRAEME (&)

Wi
@  BERAETECAARNTRANE
E-T-R45A=TH AMem
BRI 2 AR -

b) ZEEFER-_T-—NOF—HA—HE
fE -

(© FZEFER_Z-—NE=A-+—H
BHE °

d ZEFER-_Z-OFLANAERE-

() REEFR_ZT-WF—A—HEZ
£ MEREEMEFEIESTHME o

" REEA-FT-ME-A-BEEE
BR=F—HFMA=+ARHE -

(@9 HZEER-_T—HNF=A=-+—B#
%E&Ef\fz hE+—A=+H
BHE -

() HEER-E-WEHA BEELE -

(i) Peter Geoffrey Albert R = —H
FHA—BRZERKARNTES

RITB AR, -

()  EEAMEEEA-T-AFWA—H
EMEREFRS -

EEME

AEEARELAGEREHERERE

MEEE(ZT—NF: —RKE
=) HBSFHBESH N LXK
@) WIHFBARREERZESIT
BABMBT=ZH(ZT—MHF:
MZ) R EE 2 AFEHMF
IECRNE

2015 2014

—B-RF —T—0F

Us$'000 Us$'000

FEx FXE7T

Salaries and allowances 4 MoERL 537 1,024
Retirement benefits scheme RINEF B FR

contributions 153 15
Performance related incentive ERAE WG 2 1B

payments 163 845

853 1,884
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BHE_Z—

EFE+ZA=+—HILEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 1. EF BERTRARRERHS (&)
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b)

The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the financial
performance of the Group and the performance of

the individuals.

The number of the highest paid employees who are
not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

BEME (&)

BEMEE 2 R V2 RAEE
BRAERBARRERE -

WHRARREZBEMS N FIA
THEENE=SHEEABNT :

follows:
2015 2014
—E-EF —ENF
No. of No. of
employees employees
BEAH BB AH
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T £ 2,000,000 87T
(equivalent to US$128,205 to (185K 128,205F L2
US$256,410) 256,41057T) 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 77T 3,000,000 74 7T
(equivalent to US$256,410 to (HBER256,410FLE
US$384,615) 384,615%7T) 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 77T 4,000,000 4 7T
(equivalent to US$384,615 to (FBEM 384,615 T
US$512,821) 512,821 7T) - 3
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T 2 5,000,000 77T
(equivalent to US$512,821 to (5K 512,821F LR
US$641,026) 641,0265<7T) - 1
3 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group.

AEEMERNARBDEFTRAAR
B ALTXMERME - ERIA
AREEFIIMAREE IR 2 2R -
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BE_T—AFt+-_A=+—BIt&E

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT 12. FiIRRER

2015 2014
—E-HEF it Stk S
US$’000 Us$'000
FEn FET

The tax expense (credit) comprises: HIERS E%) 821E

Current taxation BVEAT 18

Hong Kong Profits Tax EENEHR - -
Corporate income tax in DRC MR (£) BEMET 2,687 2,508
Corporate income tax in Zambia BB EMEN 1,746 13,524
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 914 4,557
5,347 20,589
Deferred taxation (note 27) EAREFRIE (FI5E27) (19,168) (153,365)
(13,821) (132,776)

128

No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group does not have assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong for both years.

Corporate income tax in Mauritius, South Africa and the
DRC are calculated at 15%, 28% and 30% (2014: 15%,
28% and 30%) on the estimated assessable profits for the
year, respectively.

Corporate income tax in Zambia is calculated at 30% in
the current year (2014: 30%). The tax rate applicable to
the assessable profits arising in Zambia for the year ranged
from 30% to 45%. The applicable tax rate is determined
on a number of factors including the revenue of respective
subsidiary and the average copper price of the year.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RMEE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 12. FiRIRESR (&)

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

AEREMHIAE LA
PEWEERIE THOBRBBIE R RO T

B Em MEM

2015 2014
—®B-afF —ZT-MEF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Loss before taxation MR FE BB 1R (369,637) (432,279)
Tax credit at Hong Kong Profit Tax at 4% 16.5%( —Z—PU4 : 16.5%)
16.5% (2014: 16.5%) STEEEBNGEHTIEES (380) (420)
Tax credit at income tax rate in Zambia 1&Z%Z th 28 TS5 30%
for operation at 30% (2014: 30%) ZZ Y4 : 30%)
FTEEERIEE R (6,666) (27,434)
Tax credit at income tax rate ZHIR(2) BB E30%
in DRC for operation at 30% ZZE—PO4F : 30%)
(2014: 30%) HEEENIEEK R (85,708) (95,107)
Tax credit at income tax rate in BEERKHTFEHZE 15%
Mauritius for operation at 15% —ZE—DYF : 15%)
(2014: 15%) TEEERIERR (2) )
Tax credit at income tax rate in LEIEMEIE 28%
South Africa for operation at 28% (ZZ=—0%F : 28%)
(2014: 28%) TELERIEER S (16,634) (12,702)
(109,390) (135,667)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  “NA[1FL Bz » T A5 52 2
for tax purpose 95,857 358
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERTRUWA 2 TREE
tax purpose (282) (1,416)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BB AR EEE
perviously not recognised 2B E (920) (608)
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREIR 914 4,557
Taxation credit for the year FRHBEE R (13,821) (132,776)
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREIR
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share KNBEE ANE(EFRRER R #EEE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the THiRIE T3 SEAT &
following data:
2015 2014
—E-h1%F —ZE—mEF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Loss 5%
Loss for the purpose of basic and REATEBRERK
diluted loss per share HEEE B8 (291,767) (230,512)
2015 2014
—E-REF —E—OF
Number of shares K& B
Weighted average number of ordinary fR{EstEERXER
shares for the purpose of BEEEEER
basic and diluted loss per share N 5 £ 4,350,753,051 4,350,753,051
In both years, the computation of diluted loss per share REZMEE - stESREEEET KK
does not assume the conversion of the Company’s AR B H AR RAT R B9 5K AR AR A #2
outstanding perpetual subordinated convertible securities REH(KAXRBABEZS]) B
("PSCS") into 8,466,120,000 ordinary shares (2014: 8,466,120,000 % @R ( ==& — Y & :
8,466,120,000 ordinary shares) since their conversion 8,466,120,000 i E@BA% ) + 1t Ty A R 1%
would result in a decrease in loss per share. Lo aEne S ERERRD o
There were no other potential ordinary shares outstanding AN AR PR AE ¥ 5 HA R BT B 2 31T
as at end of both reporting periods. VEEE B o
130 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
2 E-—hE+_A=1+—HItEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. VX - BERRR
Buildings Plant, Mine
Freehold and machinery ~ development  Construction
land infrastructure  and shafts costs in progress Others Total
KAFHE BE - #E BEHE
1#  BFREE RE# A ERIR Hih &zt
Us$'000 US$§'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US§'000 Us$'000 US$'000
TET S TET TER TER TET TEn
(Note)
(Bitst)
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-mF-A—H
Cost kA& 5428 29,214 626,124 112,666 26,620 54,205 854,257
Accumulated depreciation ZETE - (8,658) (214,595) - - (15,410) (238,663)
Carrying amount FEE 5428 20,556 411,529 112,666 26,620 38,795 615,594
At 1 January 2014, net of RZE-ME—-f—-8"
accumulated depreciation N 2HE 5428 20,556 411,529 112,666 26,620 38,795 615,504
Depreciation provided EWFHRTE
during the year - (2,536) (57,139) (10,621) - (3,407) (73,703)
Additions WE - 486 6,078 - 117,500 6,283 130,347
Disposals e - - (22) - - (128) (150)
Impairment loss recognised in N FERE
profit or loss - - (34,071) - - - (34,071)
At 31 December 2014, net of RZZ-ME
accumulated depreciation and +-A=1+-H
impairment NBZHERRE 5,428 18,506 326,375 102,045 144,120 41,543 638,017
At 31 December 2014 R=Z-ME
+=A=+-H
Cost KA 5428 29,700 632,181 112,666 144,120 60,360 984,455
Accumulated depreciationand ~ BitTERAE
impairment - (11,194) (305,806) (10,621) - (18,817) (346,438)
Carrying amount FEE 5428 18,506 326,375 102,045 144,120 41,543 638,017
At 1 January 2015, net of R=Z-1%F—-f-R"
accumulated depreciation MERAHE 5428 18,506 326,375 102,045 144,120 41,543 638,017
Depreciation provided FRHENE
during the year = (1,936) (35,946) (8,895) - (3,226) (50,003)
Additions WE 1,060 212 15,950 - 70,272 14,440 101,934
Disposals HE - - - - - (69) (69)
At 31 December 2015, net of WZZ-1F
accumulated depreciationand ~ +=A=1+—H"
impairment NG 2 ERAE 6,488 16,782 306,379 93,150 214392 52,688 689,879
At 31 December 2015 WZZ-1%
TZA=1+-H
Cost AR 6,488 29,912 648,131 112,666 214,392 74,731 1,086,320
Accumulated depreciationand ~ 2itTERAE
impairment - (13,130) (341,752) (19,516) - (22,043) (396,441)
Carrying amount AR 6,488 16,782 306,379 93,150 214,392 52,688 689,879
Note: Included in others are pollutant treatment plant and related BT« Eofth B )5 Y0 5a 3R R N A A AR 1 IR RR b S
equipment and facilities and decommissioning assets, motor EREE - AR BRAREE - WAERE
vehicles, furniture and fixtures, office equipment and other R Hopth 254 o

equipment.

The Group's freehold land is situated in DRC and Zambia.

REE R KA ER LTI RRIR(2) &
Bitse
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBHERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

HE_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HILFE
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

132

Impairment losses recognised in the current year

During the year ended 31 December 2015, as a result of
the significant continual decline in the copper prices, the
Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of
the mineral rights, property, plant and equipment and
exploration and evaluation assets used in the Group’s
mining operations segment. The review led to the
recognition of an impairment loss of US$129,386,000, nil
and US$182,878,000 (2014: US$333,982,000,
US$34,071,000 and nil) in respect of the Group’s mineral
rights, property, plant and equipment and exploration and
evaluation assets respectively, which have been recognised
in profit or loss. Given the nature of the Group’s activities,
information on the fair value of an asset is usually difficult
to obtain unless negotiations with potential purchasers are
taking place. Accordingly, the recoverable amount of the
relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their
value in use. The recoverable amount was determined
based on the cash flow projections derived from the
current mine plan, production reserves and estimated
future copper prices. The pre-tax discount rate used in
measuring value in use was 13.3% and 14.8% to 14.9%
(2014: 11.8% and 12.6%) for Zambia and DRC
respectively.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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14. 'M% - BERRE (&)

REEBIDZREEE
RBE_Z—RAF+_A=+—HI#F
B AINEZHERETNK  AEEHE
FRESHEMANBERE WX K
B RREAR IR R HEE 2 /W E
SHELRN RSB HFIRAEE
ZTERERE - MZE - BB MEE U REF
LR EEREZERBERISE
129,386,000 Tt T % T XK
182,878,000k t( — & — P9 F:
333,982,0003< 7T * 34,071,000 T K ZE
ETL) c ERAEEEKZEE  BEE
EAFEZERBEHIER  BRIEIE
HEBRTEERGRE - Atk HEEE 2T
WEleRE IR EFAEEEE ° SLA
AIRESERENAENESHE - &
EFERGTARFAESEZEERE
HETET RELTERR(E) 2
AEEMBZBHRAEEERE XS B A
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

15. MINERAL RIGHTS 15. HEEE
Us$'000
FET
(Note)
(B &E)
At 1 January 2014 R-ZZE—ME—-—H—H
Cost D% 979,983
Accumulated amortisation and impairment RETE S KR E (56,747)
Carrying amount REE 923,236
At 1 January 2014, net of accumulated amortisation R=-—Z—MFE—H—H -
and impairment Mk RET I RORE 923,236
Additions NE 15,260
Amortisation provided during the year FREHREE (46,417)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REZNERREEE
(see note 14 for details) (FBERMIFE14) (333,982)
At 31 December 2014, net of accumulated RZZE—WNF+=-_A=1+—8 -
amortisation and impairment Mk RET I RORE 558,097
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE-—MOFE+-_A=+—H
Cost (D& 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment FETEEE RORE (437,146)
Carrying amount BREE 558,097
At 1 January 2015, net of accumulated amortisation WZ—Z—HF—H—H -
and impairment kR RET#EH FORE 558,097
Amortisation provided during the year FANETIRE (7,496)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RIB R ARERREEE
(see note 14 for details) (FEIEAMIzE14) (129,386)
At 31 December 2015, net of accumulated R-ZE—RHFE+-_A=1+—8 -
amortisation and impairment bR 25T RRE 421,215
At 31 December 2015 A—_E—RF+_-_HA=+—H
Cost (D% 995,243
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZtE s RORE (574,028)
Carrying amount BRTEE 421,215
Note: The mineral rights represent the rights to conduct mining activities Mk : BEREEASERELXTRAIR (L) HMIE

in the Group’s two operating mines, one developing project and
two exploration projects in Zambia and DRC. The mineral rights for
the two operating mines are granted for the remaining terms of 4
to 8 years (2014: 5 to 9 years).

EERS  —ERETEE REEHFER
RERAFEE 2 EF - ZMESERESER
BEESTEHARIEFE(ZT—WF 5
EXE-aI
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HE_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

16. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 16. BHERFMEE
ASSETS
Us$'000
FET
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—NE—HF—H 315,053
Additions NS 22,455
At 31 December 2014 R-ZZE—OFE+_-_HA=+—H 337,508
Additions INE 18,055
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RN ERBEEE
(see note 14 for details) (E 152 KIEE14) (182,878)
At 31 December 2015 A\—_FE-—AF+_A=+—H 172,685
Exploration and evaluation assets represent the cost HREFBEEERFEEAREER
incurred for evaluating the technical feasibility and T35 A BRI R < B9 B B R AT 4T
commercial viability of extracting mineral resources in the MMEEZKAE - B ERAR - e =
Group's exploration mines. The management considers R AT EEE S
that the determination of commercial viability is still in
progress at the end of the reporting period.
17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17. HthERENEE
2015 2014
—E—RfF —E—puF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Loan to a DRC state-owned power AR (&£)REE QG
company (Note a) REER(MFEa) 6,007 7,343
Less: Amount to be recovered within & : 5t A& 5 K H 4 g U 708
1 year included in trade and WA —F R E .z
other receivables (note 19) RIE (F1EE19) (2,000) (2,000)
4,007 5,343
Royalty prepayment to non-controlling (&) Ff & /2 73 4% A% A% 58 78 1+
shareholders of subsidiaries (Note b)  #&#e(E B & (Fizrb) 18,120 20,088
Rehabilitation trust fund (Note ) BieETEe (FiEo 68 87
22,195 25,518

134 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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brs — =

£= =

17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (Continued)

18.

Notes:

(a)

EFE+ZA=+—HILEFE

It represents a loan provided to a DRC state-owned power company
for the construction and commissioning of a high-voltage powerline
and substation in DRC to secure the future power supply to the
Group. The loan carries interest at London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR") plus 2% (2014: LIBOR plus 2%) per annum. It is
unsecured and has no fixed repayment term. The management
considers that US$2,000,000 of the total amount will be settled
within one year.

It represents advance to the non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries operating in DRC. The directors anticipate that it will be
recovered through royalties to be charged in the future.

Payments are made to rehabilitation trusts or investment accounts
held by banking institutions with the intention of fully funding those
liabilities as required by the governments in South Africa for the
mines that have been closed.

17. EFRERE (&)

B -

(a)

E—Z2RHT-HNIR(E)BEENRRZ
B ARERREARNR () —EREE
BEBL - UREREERZESHE - Z
BRIEMARITRERE ((RBERTRER
BOM2E(ZZ—NF : RBEBTRERE
M2 E) 2 FFIRGE - AEKE R EEE
EBXRH - BEBE %E2,000,000 3 7T #5
R—EREER -

BENTERR(2) REB ZIMBA RN
SRR Z IR - BRIRET B R A KER
TR & 2 -

FERITHRERG 2 BB EREIRERPXN
FOR - B HEREIFRN 2R 2 BRI R
PS8\ -

INVENTORIES 18. &
2015 2014
—E—-0fF —EE
US$'000 Us$'000
FEn F=ETT
Consumable stores SRS 42,398 42,813
Product inventories EnFE 60,563 55,223
102,961 98,036
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19.

136

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. B RHEMEBKRIE
2015 2014
—E—0fF —E—F
US$°000 Us$'000
FER FET
Trade and bill receivables B SN K EREE 65,657 89,406
Less: Impairment B ORE (310) (310)
65,347 89,096
Other receivables and prepayments H b e Yo Fh I8 K FE AN 5B 10,580 6,990
Loan to a DRC state-owned power AR (2)BEBEENRE
company RIEER
— current (note 17) — BOER (Ff7E17) 2,000 2,000
Value-added tax recoverable ] Y [B] 32 (E 5 40,845 38,640
118,772 136,726

Included in trade and bill receivables as at 31 December
2015 was an amount due from ultimate holding company
of US$18,430,000 (2014: US$47,088,000), which was of
trade nature. The Group provided its ultimate holding
company with a credit period ranging from 180 days to
360 days.

The Group provided customers (other than its ultimate
holding company) with a credit period ranging from 15
days to 180 days. Before accepting new customers, the
Group uses a credit bureau to perform a credit assessment
to assess the potential customers’ credit limit and credit
quality.

Included in trade and bill receivables as at 31 December
2015 was an amount of payables of US$36,000 (2014
payables of US$1,832,000) which arose from provisional
pricing arrangements. The amount of provisional pricing
arrangements represents the difference between the
estimated average price up to the date of final pricing and
the quoted price on the date of recognition of revenue
when title and risks and rewards of the mineral and metal
products are passed to customers.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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U 7 T R B o 0 FE R MR AR AR R A
A& 5 FXIE 18,430,000 T (—ZE — Y
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REBRER (TEERKERAR) R
H|ATFISEE180B ZZEH - B
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
where a debtor, being the ultimate holding company of
the Company, constitutes 28% (2014: 53%) of trade and
bill receivables. As at 31 December 2015, 24% (2014:
45%) of the Group’s trade and bill receivables was covered
by letters of credit issued by banks of the Company’s
ultimate holding company.

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill
receivables, net of impairment, presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period.

19.

BHRAMBYREA (2

REE K KRB B RFIB G5B
B LB EERRBEERE - e
HeEHaAEEETHRN E—RE
BABIARRRRELIERARDIEE S E
W kB K FEWE TR 2 28% (— T — P4 ¢
53%) ' AEBBHEEAEESTER -
AZE—RAF+_A=+—H K&EH
BHEWFBBREREEZ224% (=F
—PU4F : 45%) AR R REER AT Z
IRITE N ZZ AARIEELR -

RTARBREHRBERZEBHZN 2
B 5 REUGRIA K RS iE (IR RE) 2
FRER DA ©

2015 2014

—E-REF —ZE—puE

US$°000 US$'000

FEx FET

Within 3 months =@EAR 44,714 63,880
4 to 6 months mZENEA 18,049 11,123
7 to 12 months +t=+—1@A 2,584 7,105
Over 1 year BB —F - 6,988
65,347 89,096

Included in trade receivables is a receivable of
US$5,586,000 (2014: US$6,988,000) which is past due as
at the end of the reporting date and is regarded as not
impaired as there has not been a significant change in the
credit standing of the debtor. The Group does not hold
any collateral over the receivable. The receivable is less
than 4 months past due as at 31 December 2015.

The movements in provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

Z RN EBENRERRACBE 2
JE U ZX 1B 5,586,000 7T ( — & — PO 4F -
6,988,0003% 70 ) * AREIE A 2= Ak
AT EBEEERES)  ZERBERE
FHEIRRE - A& B EZETERR
EEEEIMERAR R —AHF+ =
A=+—8  ZEZERKRFEBE DR
A -

BHRWSIR O RERBZBIMNT

2015 2014

—E-HE —E-mEF

Us$'000 Us$'000

FEn F=ET

At 1 January ®n—A—AH 310 -

Impairment loss recognised on EHRE S RN FIE

trade receivables BIEEE - 310

At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 310 310
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19.

20.

138

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, included in the above
provision for impairment of trade receivables was a
provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
US$310,000 with a carrying amount before provision of
US$310,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in default or delinquency in principal
payments and none of the receivables was expected to be
recovered.

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s trade receivables that
were transferred to banks by discounting those trade
receivables on a fully recourse basis. As the Group has not
transferred the significant risk and rewards relating to
these trade receivables, it continues to recognise the full
carrying amount of these trade receivables and has
recognised the cash received on the transfer as a secured
borrowing. These financial assets are carried at amortised
cost in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position.

19.

20.

BHRAMBURE (&)

R-E—RFEER-_ZE—NE+ - A
=+—H - L8 S EKFIBEREREE
e IEERRE 2 B 5 WG (B &R
BRI (& 4310,0003 7T ) 2 % 45310,000
ETT o

ERIR(E 2 & 7 R WRIE R R SR
AERFNEPEH  ARFRWHIEA
BEASE A AUk -

HROMEE

AT RAEEERETRITZE S EBUR
R BREIASREEEBRELENRRZ
FBHEWHIA - AR AKEIL \EEE
EE 5 RUGIA 2 EARE KR M B -
MBS BEREREE LB EER
W ReERBBEMER - LTS
MEERAEE 2RAMBHRRNRAR
B SHR AR -

Trade invoices discounted to
banks with full recourse

MR FRTIATEBRE
ZEZRE
2015 2014
—E-—FE —Z—UF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Carrying amount of transferred assets ~ Fri#:% & v BREIE 7,651 5,276
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 8% & 1& 2 BRMEI1E (7,651) (5,276)

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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21.

22,

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ULTIMATE 21. BEUR(EM) REEEBEAT - RE2
HOLDING COMPANY, AN BRATIRARKELAFTZRR
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
AND A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY
As at 31 December 2015, a term loan due to an R-_ZE—RFE+_-_A=+—H " EftH
intermediate holding company amounted to fEl 22 Bk 2 & 2 7E B & 5% %% 115,000,000
US$115,000,000 (2014: US$105,234,000). The term loan FL(ZF M : 105,234,000%7T) °
carries interest at floating interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.70% ZE BB FIRABIRITRFERSH0.70
to 2.25% (2014: LIBOR plus 2.25%) per annum and is EZE225E(ZZF—MF : mEERTRZE
repayable over one year (2014: within one year). FEM2.25[F) 2 FFEFEFE - WA
R—FREE(ZZ—NEF : R—FR) -
As at 31 December 2015, a term loan due to a fellow N_B—RE+-A=+—8 "  EN—
subsidiary amounted to US$5,000,000 (2014: MR R E A F 2 E S 5,000,000
US$20,000,000). The term loan carries interest at floating FEt(ZF— M : 20,000,000 7T) °
interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.5% (2014: LIBOR plus 4.5%) ZEHEFIEBIBERITRIZEFRE M5 E
per annum and is repayable over one year (2014: within ZEF - mBABRTRFEFEMAS
one year). [B) 2 FEFEFEEE - WHR—F&E
B(ZE—WF RN —FA) -
Except the amount due from/(to) ultimate holding BRERGENRI (B REERA
company, which was settled during the year, the remaining AIRIELASN IR B AERR 28
amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on W/BRERKERE -
demand.
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fT$¥émMTH
Assets
BE
2015 2014
—E-1% —F-MF
US$'000 Us$'000
FER FET
Cash flow hedges: WEMELEH
Commodity derivative contracts EmLTES L 791 639
Not under hedge accounting: WIEEE PR ETRE ¢
Foreign currency forward contracts RARSNES K9 271 14
1,062 653
Cash flow hedges: RERBEH

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following commodity derivative contracts designated as
highly effective hedging instruments in order to manage
the Group's exposure to variability in cash flows
attributable to price fluctuation risk in relation to highly
probable forecasted sales of copper products.

RBERR - ARETLATEEES
BEHRTAZERITERK  LEER
SEEHRBAAEELENTEMFEERR
AERRBMEERSRORESHHE

B -
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BE_T—AFt+-_A=+—BIt&E

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22.

(Continued)

Cash flow hedges: (Continued)

The terms of the foreign exchange contracts have been
negotiated to match the terms of the respective designated
hedged items. The major terms of these contracts are as

follows:

As at 31 December 2015
R-F—AF+-_A=+—H

Quantity
BE

Maturity
ESp R

fieemIA &)

BEREHT : (B)

SNER K 2 R BRI S ERETE
e &

MR B 2 & FEN 2T BIEK
m
Commodity forward price

& R A E

Copper 2,337 metric tonnes

$M2,337 Al

January-March 2016

Sell at weighted average
US$4,635/metric tonne

b EE S AN 4,635%TT

As at 31 December 2014
RZFE—WE+=-H=+—H

Quantity
BE

Maturity
2 A

Commodity forward price

& R A E

Copper 2,749 metric tonnes

i 2,749 A ME

January — February 2015

—E—RF—HA%Z_H

Sell at weighted average
US$6,446/metric tonne

IEFEE S NE6,446 37T
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Commodity derivative contracts utilised by the Group are
mainly standardised copper futures contracts in the London
Metal Exchange. The fair value of the commodity derivative
contracts represents the difference between the quoted
forward price of the commodity at the end of the reporting
period and the contracted price per the commodity
contract of the commodity.

At the inception of the above hedging relationships, the
Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship, risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. The cash flow hedge mentioned
above was assessed to be highly effective.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fTHE&MTHE)

(Continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accountings): HtfTE T B (W IEEE DS ER)
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts (net RENESH OFHEEE) 2 F ZEHA
settlement) are as follows: T

Notional amount Maturity  Foreign currency forward price

ARSH EHR  NEEHER

As at 31 December 2015
R-ZF—aF+=-H=+—H

US$2,767,000 January 2016 The Group will receive US$2,767,000
2,767,000 %7 —E—R¥—H while paying RMB17,984,000 at a
forward rate of 6.5
AEEBIRER 2,767,000 F T © [REFIZ
R HAME X 6.5 X2 {1 A K% 17,984,000 7T

US$2,772,000 February 2016 The Group will receive US$2,772,000
2,772,000 7T AN Sy while paying RMB17,937,000 at a
forward rate of 6.4715
AEB B URER 2,772,000 €T © FIFFZ
REAER6.4715 %4 AR 17,937,000 7T

US$4,188,000 March 2016 The Group will receive US$4,188,000 while
4,188,000 % 7T —ZE—XRF=H paying RMB26,869,000 at a forward rate
of 6.4152

ANEE B ULER 4,188,000 E 7T+ R iR 2R
[E%*6.4152 T AR ¥ 26,869,000 7T

US$3,753,000 April 2016 The Group will receive US$3,753,000 while
3,753,000 7T —ZF—XRFWNA paying RMB24,926,000 at a forward rate
of 6.6415

ZNE2 B8 UL ER 3,753,000 E 7T+ R iRE 2R
&% 6.6415 % 1 AR 24,926,000 7T
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accountings):

(Continued)

Notional amount

BEEH

Maturity
I HE

22

. eI R E)

HfTE TR (EFEHHEHERE) :
(&

Foreign currency forward price

s

REGER

As at 31 December 2014
RZFE—mE+=HA=+—H

US$7,040,000
7,040,000 7T

US$3,467,000

January 2015
—ZT—hF—H

January 2015

The Group will receive US$7,040,000 while
paying RMB43,481,000 at a forward rate
of 6.1765

ANEE R UER 7,040,000 E 7T © BB IRR A
fE 2 6.1765 X {5 AR # 43,481,000 7T

The Group will receive US$3,467,000 while
paying RMB21,678,000 at a forward rate
of 6.2528

ANEEE R UER 3,467,000 € 7T » BB IR R AP
fE % 6.2528 2 S AR # 21,678,000 7T

The Group will receive US$4,984,000 while
paying RMB31,321,000 at a forward rate
of 6.284

A [E 5 UL ER 4,984,000 T ¢ RIBFHR R

%X 6284 AR¥ 31,321,000

3,467,000 37T —ZT—hF—H

US$4,984,000 March 2015

4,984,000 7T —E-hF=H
23. RESTRICTED CASH DEPOSITS AND

142

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances comprising cash and short-term deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less carried
interest at prevailing market deposit rate. As at 31
December 2015, the effective interest rate of these
deposits ranged from 0.001% to 5.75% (2014: 0.001%
to0 5.25%) per annum.

Restricted cash deposits of US$4,182,000 (2014:
US$9,628,000) related to bank deposits placed with banks
as securities for funding environmental liabilities relating to
mining operations.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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23.

ZERANASFRLUERBTRERR
&®
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SARWIZIBITM S FERF R EZR
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EEDIC
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B REMEMSRIEA

2015 2014

—E-&1F —ZE-MmEF

Us$'000 Us$'000

FEn FET

Trade payables B SRR 59,022 54,658

Other payables and accruals H b A ZIE R BT E A 33,885 36,165

92,907 90,823
Included in other payables and accruals are accrual for HMENFIBEREFEABRIEETES
freight charges, export clearing charges, provision for RHEHAEHE  RAHRAIR(2) AOR KR
unpaid import duties and related surcharge in the DRC, TEEEM INE 2B UREM—BEE

and other general operation related payables. MRS SRIE o
Included in trade payables as at 31 December 2015 was —E-RFETA=T—RZESER
receivables of US$38,000 (2014: receivables of BB KRB R T E L 2 B UREKIE
US$1,811,000) which arose from provisional pricing 38,000E m( —F — W : ERFHKIA
arrangements. The amount of the provisional pricing 1,811,000%7T) * Bl EE L HE & B
arrangements represents the difference between the HERKEEBBAARIEZMHETTFHE &
estimated average price up to the date of final pricing and BEREBER BB RERERE RS
the quoted price on the date of recognition of purchase HENEBREAEEREREEER 2
when title and risks and rewards of mineral and metal WEMER -

products passed from suppliers to the Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based AT R SmERBBEEZEREN 2
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. 2 ZIERNRIBRRE 2 AT

2015 2014
—E-I% —F—MF

US$'000 Us$'000

FER FET

Within 3 months =EAR 54,287 51,598
4 to 6 months =R fEA 1,794 1,995
7 to 12 months +tZEZ+ZEA 2,732 785
Over 1 year —FEE 209 280
59,022 54,658

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from BEERZEERN FAIMEIOBTE -

current to 90 days.
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HE-_ZT—RAF+_A=1+—HILFE
25. BANK BORROWINGS 25. SRITHE®
2015 2014
—E-HEF —m
US$’000 Us$'000
FER FET
Term loans FHIE 265,786 179,251
Trade invoice discounting facility B ERMIEE 7,651 5,276
273,437 184,527
Secured B 266,790 179,037
Unsecured 1K 1 6,647 5,490
273,437 184,527
The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as follows: REBRITERZERRAT
2015 2014
—E-HF —mE
US$°000 Us$'000
FEr FET
Within one year and repayable on —F A N fE ESRBNRE R
demand 16,437 51,433
More than one year, but not —FLAE BTN EBAMRE
exceeding two years - 4,799
More than two years, but not MEL £ - BN EARE
exceeding five years 134,000 102,001
More than five years AFEE 123,000 26,294
273,437 184,527
Less: Amount due within one year B ARBEEZ—FA
shown under current liabilities E|BAFRIR (16,437) (51,433)
Amount due after one year shown TIAFERBEBEZ —FE
as non-current liabilities EElp=i ] 257,000 133,094

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s bank borrowings of
US$257,000,000 (2014: US$128,293,000) are guaranteed
by ultimate holding company. As at 31 December 2015
and 2014, the bank borrowings carried floating rate
interest ranging from LIBOR plus 1.0% to 4.85% (2014:
LIBOR plus 1.0% to 4.85%) per annum. The effective
interest rate on the Group’s borrowings ranged from 1.6%
10 5.46% (2014: 1.6% to 4.66%) per annum.

144 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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26. PROVISIONS 26. #i&
2015 2014
—E—-HF —E—-OF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEn F=E7T
Long-term provisions REAR R
Rehabilitation and environmental B1E RIRR S (fHsE)
provision (note) 26,184 23,953
Short-term provisions SR b
Termination benefits BB A 1,738 120
Rehabilitation and environmental 1B1& BIR IR (KI5E)
provision (note) 820 906
Leave pay and bonuses IRERFT BN S TEAL 5,728 5,791
8,286 6,817
Total provisions P 34,470 30,770
2015 2014
—E-1¥% —T—mEF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
At 1 January ®n—H—H 30,770 26,517
Utilised during the year FANEHA (2,880) (6,923)
Provided during the year FNEAE 6,580 11,502
Currency realignment PEE 5, =K - (326)
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 34,470 30,770

Note: The Group is exposed to environmental liabilities relating to its
mining operations. Estimates of the cost of environmental and other
remedial work such as reclamation costs, close-down and
restoration and pollution control are made on an annual basis,

based on the estimated lives of the mines.

Rehabilitation and environmental provisions classified as short-term
represents the amount estimated to be settled within one year at

the end of the reporting period.

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

27.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets

e AREAREEEREREBERIIRRAE -
RREEMHR TR (MER - FAHRIEE IR
RI5RME) Z RA TR RS 2 (T Bk
HIEFIEH bR o

DEARRZEERRRBERENRE SR
EEFR—FREEZFA °

RIERIA

EINGEMBRAEME - & TELT
MBEERBBCHELE - AN RHH

and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis Al Z IRIETRIRAE A DT
of the deferred tax balances before offsetting:
2015 2014
—E—-HF —E—OF
US$°000 US$'000
FEx FETT
Deferred tax assets EERIRE = (9,613) (17,298)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE 302,926 329,779
293,313 312,481
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 27. BERIEA (Z)
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) UTRRAFERERBAEFEANER L X
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EREFHIBEE(BE) REEH
prior years:
Property,
plant and
equipment,
mineral
rights
and other
intangible Foreign
assets, and exchange
exploration difference
and arising from
evaluation Leave pay Other intra-group
rights provisions provisions activities Tax losses Others Total
n% BER
R BEE £8R
REMER nRE
EERER {hE M BB
G B Eftiis ERER Haks B a3t
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
T TEn TEn TET = T3 T
(Note)
(FizE)
At 1 January 2014 RZE-RE
-A—-H 436,063 (15) (2,220) 9,098 (14,634) 26,214 454,506
Credit to profit or loss RERETA
(note 12) (MizE12) (145,150) = (172) (5,282) - (2,761) (153,365)
(Credit) charge to other REMZERA
comprehensive income (Gt A) 08 (222) - (257) 11,819 - - 11,340
At 31 December 2014 RZE-RE
+ZR=1-H 290,691 (15) (2,649) 15,635 (14,634) 23,453 312,481
(Credit) charge to profit or loss 5825 (3F A) 1%k
(note 12) (BzE12) (30,124) 219) (1,816) - 9,720 3271 (19,168)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1%
+-R=1-H 260,567 (234) (4,465) 15,635 (4914 26,724 293313
Note: Others include tax deduction on qualified capital expenditures, Mzt : HBEAEREAMS HIHTAREM
hedging instruments and others. EHE 2R
As at 31 December 2015, the Group has unused tax losses RZE—RAF+_A=+—H  K&H
of US$33,749,000 (2014: US$63,998,000), A deferred tax B R &) A %1 TH B $8 33,749,000 € T (=
asset of US$4,914,000 (2014: US$14,634,000) has been T —PY4 : 63,998,000k 7T)  FhAE A E
recognised in respect of such losses. No deferred tax asset BEBRELERIEEES914,000% (=
has been recognised in respect of the remaining T —PO4 : 14,634,0003%7T) © BARNE
US$17,369,000 (2014: US$20,436,000) due to the MR ATFEA - 887 17,369,000 7T (=
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may T —[O4F : 20,436,000 7T ) I EEHE R E
be carried forward indefinitely. RIERIAE 2 o T TEE 18 P PR B4 S -
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. BX
The movements in share capital of the Company are as RARRAR 2 ZEBINT
follows:
Number of
shares Amount
B#mEE K]
HK$'000
FHT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEOI BT L BR
Authorised: SETE
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, R-—ZT—NmFE—AF—AQ
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 “E-mFE+-A=1+—8"
—ZT-hAF¥—-HA-Bk
“T-RF+=-A=+—H 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BREITRAR
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, RZE—mFE—H—H"
1 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 —E-mFE+-A=+—8"
“E-RF—-HA—-Hk
“Z-A%¥+=ZA=+—H 4,350,753,051 43,508
Shown in the consolidated financial statements as: RERE A BERRPBERE
Amount
&5
Us$'000
F=ETT
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZE—MER-_FT—hHF
+=—HA=+—H 5,578
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29.

148

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES

On 20 June 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2012 Scheme”). The purpose of the 2012
Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants for their contribution and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2012 Scheme include the directors (whether executive
or non-executive, including any independent non-executive
director) and employees (whether full time or part time) of
the Group. The 2012 Scheme, unless otherwise terminated
or amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years
from 20 June 2012.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2012
Scheme, any other new share option scheme and existing
scheme of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
10% of the ordinary shares in issue as at the adoption of
the 2012 Scheme or any other new share option scheme
of the Company. The Company may seek approval of its
shareholders in a general meeting to refresh the 10% limit
under the 2012 Scheme. The total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the share options
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares in issue at the date of grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the
Company.

Any share option granted under the 2012 Scheme to a
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive director (or any of their
respective associates) of the Company, in excess of 0.1%
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date
of grant and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant, are subject to recommendation
from the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding any independent non-executive
director who is also the grantee of the options) and
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the
Company.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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29. SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Continued)

A share option may be accepted by a participant within 14
days from the date of the offer for grant of the option.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors in accordance with the terms
of the 2012 Scheme, and commences from the date of
acceptance of the offer of grant of the share options and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. At the date of offer of
the option, the directors of the Company may specify any
conditions which must be satisfied before any option may

be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors of the Company, but must not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of the offer for grant, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the

ordinary share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No options were granted or exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2014 and 2015 and no share options

were outstanding as at 31 December 2014 and 2015.

29.

MRRRAEET R ()

SRENEERIBREZN A L
TN B AR AR o PTIX HIBAE
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30.

150

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

On 14 November 2013, the Company issued Convertible
Securities with an aggregate principal amount of
US$1,085,400,000, being part of consideration for the
Combination. The fair value of Convertible Securities,
which was determined based on a valuation carried out by
Asset Appraisal Limited on the date of completion of the
Combination amounted to US$1,089,084,000.

The Convertible Securities are convertible into a maximum
of 8,466,120,000 ordinary shares of the Company at an
initial conversion price of HK$1 per share, subject to anti-
dilutive adjustments. On or at any time after three years
after the date of issue of the Convertible Securities, the
Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to convert the
Convertible Securities in whole or in part into ordinary
shares of the Company. At any time when a holder of the
Convertible Securities is not a connected person of the
Company, a principal amount of the Convertible Securities
which upon conversion will result in the holder holding in
aggregate under 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company shall be automatically converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The Convertible Securities shall not bear any distribution
for the first three years from the issue date but shall bear
distribution at 0.1% of the principal amount per annum
thereafter payable annually in arrears on 31 December
each year and can be deferred at the discretion of the
Company. The Convertible Securities have no fixed
maturity and are redeemable at the Company’s option at
their principal amounts together with any accrued, unpaid
or deferred distributions. While any distributions are
unpaid or deferred, the Company may not, inter alia,
declare or pay any dividends or distribution on any ordinary
shares of the Company or redeem or buy-back any
ordinary shares of the Company, for so long as any
distributions which are due and payable have not yet been
paid in full.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RMEE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

BHE_ZT-—RF+T_A=+T—HILLEFE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. @MTH
Capital risk management EXREREE

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance
between continuity of cash flows from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings. The
Group also monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
regularly to ensure that sufficient working capital and
adequate committed lines of funding are maintained to
meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which include the borrowings disclosed in note 25 and
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary disclosed in note 21, net of bank balances
and cash; and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBHERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-Z

—EFE+ZA=+—HLFE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. &@MIRAE)
Categories of financial instruments SR T BRI
2015 2014
—E-HE —mE
US$'000 Us$'000
TER FET
Financial assets PHEE
Loans and receivables (excluding f)f/ié’\&réqﬂl KIE (T E1E
trade and bill receivables under EREEBLHC2ES
provisional pricing arrangements) JE U =R 8 K e =) 64,527 81,789
Trade and bill receivables under BHRREELHZE S EIR
provisional pricing arrangements RIE R W& 65,347 89,096
Derivative financial instruments in EEE R T2
designated hedge accounting TTHESRIA
relationships 791 639
Derivative financial instruments not JEH ST EETZ
under hedge accounting MTEEMIA
relationships 271 14
Financial liabilities THEE
At amortised cost (excluding trade B (MR A R
payables under provisional pricing EEZHEZE S EMNFIA)
arrangements) 404,238 313,660
Trade payables under provisional BB TELHECES
pricing arrangements e FRIE 59,022 54,658

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

AEEZE

M ERERE B ERBE

ETRMIABREREEN

152

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
receivable, trade and other receivables, restricted cash
deposits, bank balances and cash, derivative financial
instruments, trade and other payables, amount due to an
intermediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RMEE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. @8I RE)
Financial risk management objectives and BRERREEEERBE (&)
policies (Continued)
Market risk 3% B B
Currency risk B E bk
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and RERE IR - NEBUINE (BB HASE
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies BRI EBLOIN B THECERE
other than the functional currency of the respective group ERAE(EFERE S REMBYKIAL
entities, which mainly represent trade and other receivables RIRITHESB R ®) 2BREAENT
and bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:
2015 2014
A —T-MEF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =V BE B&
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TERn TERn FTE1 TEr
RMB AERHE 24,792 - 40,921 -
ZAR FZE: ks 61 - 82 -
HK$ BT 4,557 - 10,670 -
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely REBE B BT ERINEELEBE R
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange EIRHINERPS o BRITFE22 FTIERE 2=
rates. Other than the foreign currency forward contracts as HAGNE & K950 - A& EIR K M ET AT
disclosed in note 22, the Group currently has not entered AR ERINE A 4 AR INE RS o

into any foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
against foreign currency risk.
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RaMBHERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
BE_T—AFt+-_A=+—BIt&E

31.

154

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against a
foreign currency of RMB and ZAR relative to US$. Under
the linked exchange rate system, the financial impact on
foreign exchange difference between HK$ and US$ is
expected to be immaterial and therefore no sensitivity
analysis has been prepared. The following table details the
Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase in functional currency
against the respective foreign currencies. 5% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in a foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for the 5% change in the foreign
currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in loss for the year where functional currency of
each group entity strengthens 5% against the relevant
foreign currency.

31.

®MTR &)
R ERE B REREE ()

miEER(E)
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AEBEEAZARBRBIFBEFHE
TTZIEREERER - ERBESE - 5
THEETEZE YRy EBHET &
Ko BT ERBEEE DN - FRFA
AREBEHNRINGEEE H S INEFAES%
ZHRE - 5% AEEBHERSIEA A
BEFTEZ A - MEAEDTERTEIA
NS EZ RRBREEIER - WHRE
RS % 2 ERSEIERRE FE -
UTZEBHTEMNSERER 2GS
w3 B R ONES FHE 5% 4 A 5 18 45 1%
hn e

2015 2014

—E-AF —E—pyE

US$’000 US$'000

FEx FXE7T

RMB AREE (1,240) (2,046)
ZAR EZERE kS 3) (4)

For a 5% weakening of functional currency of each group
entity against the relevant foreign currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the loss and the
balance above would be positive.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate loan receivable and borrowings
with reference to LIBOR. The management continuously
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable rate borrowings and amount due to an
intermediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary. It is
the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate
of interest so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the
Group’s US$ denominated borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s exposure of the short-
term bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are with short maturity
period.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for floating-rate interest bearing
loan receivable and borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming those balances outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis point increase or decrease which represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on loan receivable, borrowings and
amount due to an intermediate holding company and a
fellow subsidiary carried at floating-rate had been 50 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the loss for the year would increase/decrease by
US$1,370,000 (2014: US$1,089,000).

31.
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31.

156

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Commodity price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk arising
from commodity derivative contracts and the Group's sales
and purchases which are subject to provisional pricing
arrangements, predominantly copper price. The Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
directors of the Company has delegated the management
to be responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances
exposed is considered minimal as such amounts are placed
with various banks with good credit ratings and there is no
significant concentration of credit risk for bank deposits
and bank balance. Details on concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables are shown in note 19.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s
copper and cobalt sales are allocated between eight (2014:
ten) customers all of whom have a good track record with
respect to settling receivables within the agreed credit
period.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants,
if any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

31.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. &@MIRAE)
Financial risk management objectives and HERREERERBER (£)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) MENE SR (F)
In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity o - TREFIIAEEZTESRT R
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table ZMEEE DI o FIRIIRIBELAFFEE
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual EEGZTETAERBBBEAORESRA
net cash inflows on derivative instruments settled on a net FEMmMGR - NEBETESRIAZR
basis. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative HEHOMNBBREAINMBEER R
financial instruments is prepared based on the contractual AeEEERAANEHBYIEMRITE
maturities as the management considers that the IﬂfﬁimuEZEﬁ'ﬁ—l— PEE -
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows of the derivatives.
Over
one year
Weighted  On demand but not Over Total
average  and within ~ more than five undiscounted Carrying
interest rate oneyear five years years  cash flows amount
mETH REXR —E#E KBRS
% 0 LER BRIF mEAE REE
% US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
% TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
As at 31 December 2015 RZB-EE+=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F#74&RAR
Trade and other payables (excluding B IR EMENTE (TR
trade payables under provisional ElRNTELHCESE
pricing arrangements) [F0E) - 7402 - - 7402 7442
Trade payables under provisional BRETETZESEN
pricing arrangements FUA - 59,022 - - 59,022 59,022
Amount due to an intermediate R RERA DR
holding company 3.62 6,792 116,041 - 122,833 117,615
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary ERRZKBARZE 5.45 1,017 5,068 - 6,085 5,744
Bank borrowings — floating rate RITER — 28 542 31,262 175,496 138,111 344,869 273,437
105,535 296,605 138,111 540,251 463,260
Derivative — net settlement fIETE — FHEE
— commodity derivative contracts —AmiTERH - 791 - - 791 791
— foreign currency forward contracts ~ — EHINEAH) - m - - m m
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

31. €MT R (&)

MR E IR B RN BUCR (&)

REEE R (E)

Over one year
Weighted On demand but not Total
average and within more than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year five years cash flows amount
T REXR —E%A RURBR S
Gk —4” RER nERE R
% US§'000 US§'000 Us$'000 US$000
% e TET TET TETL
As at 31 December 2014 R-Z-ME+-A=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #fi44REAR
Trade and other payables (exduding ~ Z5 R A EFUA (T %5
trade payables under provisional EEETEL ESER
pricing arrangements) ) - 3827 - 3,827 3827
Trade payables under provisional BERTERHZE SRR
pricing arrangements TIE - 54,658 - 54,658 54,658
Amount due to ultimate holding ENSRKERARTA
company - 58 - 58 58
Amount due to an intermediate FERT R A RFIE
holding company 2.58 107,949 - 107,949 105,234
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary ERRZNBARTE 483 20,980 - 20,980 20,014
Bank borrowings — floating rate BOIER— 78 4.60 53,567 145,805 199,373 184,527
241,039 145,805 386,845 368,318
Derivative — net settlement fTEIE — RELE
— commodity derivative contracts —AmiTEEN - 639 - 639 639
— foreign currency forward contracts  — EHINEA L) - 14 - 14 14
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31. &@THRE)

160

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

ERMITAZAFERE

MEERERAEZLFE

BABUR) °

REBREEMEEUATFEABRZS

AEBETEREELRERBERERE
HEPRZAFEFE - TRHINER
AEEZSEREERERABEZA
FEZEMN LR MHERIMMAERD

Relationship
of
Fair value Fair value Significant ~ unobservable
Financial assets/ as at asat  Fairvalue unobservable inputs to fair
financial liabilities 31.12.2015 31.12.2014  hierarchy Valuation technique(s) and key input(s) input value
i N
“E-1F —E-mF REREA
tZHA=+-A +ZA=t-A BAMABE  UBELNTE
eREE/RER ZAVE ZATE  AVERN  RERGREIZEAZE WAZE LR
Commodity Assets — Assets—  Level The fair value of the commodity N/A N/A
derivative contracts US$791,000 US$639,000 E—4 derivative contracts represents the TER TR
BRITERH BE— BE— difference between the quoted
791,000 % 7T 639,000% 7T forward price of the commodity at
the end of the reporting period and
the contracted rate per the
commodity contract of the
commodity.
ARiTEA Nz ATERRR
REEHR R RREEER
BHFIER ER -
Foreign currency forward Assets — Assets—  Level2 Discounted cash flow: Future N/A N/A
contracts US$271,000 US$14,000 E=HK cash flows are estimated based on NEf NEA
EHMNERH EE— EE— difference between predetermined
271,000 % 14,000 T forward exchange rates and forward

exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of various counterparties.
LRRERE  RRRERED
RETETNRBEREE
BEMRMEBERHEER -
TRREAREF HEEREN
PLEBEE o

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded

at amortised cost approximate their fair values.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements

The Group has entered into certain derivative transactions
that are covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) with
various banks. These derivative instruments are not offset
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the
ISDA Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that the
Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts. Other than derivatives
transactions mentioned above, the Group has no other
financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to
similar netting arrangements. No further disclosures are
provided as, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group’s derivative transactions are not
significant.

32. LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group was

committed to make the following future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases which

fall due as follows:

31.

32.

&MIR &)
EMIAZAFEFEGE)

ATHREZ2EHMEEREE  TEHH
THRFEEEZHERENHGER
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ISDA EIERNER - EBAOBEBEHBE
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TORBBI AT RN HO RS
BZENTET AL ER G MBHRK
Hif - B EATAET ARSI AEH
VTEEBEHEERECBABEFTETE
DIIR LB - ARBEERE - HRA
SEZMETARZGTIEKX  #URE#E
—FTRE -

HRARE

RBEHR - AEBREBE A HELE
S PrALE 2 RRSEHERER T
HAfRI 280 -

2015 2014

—F-I1% —F—MmF

US$'000 Us$’000

FEx FET

Within one year —FR 567 634
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERAF(BREEEMTE) 704 163
1,271 797

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the
Group for certain of its equipment, premises and vehicles.
Lease is negotiated and rental is fixed originally for a lease
term ranging from one to five years.

EEAEREE A IR LS TR
W% RS R 2 B o R84 TR 1
% MBS BB F—ERF2HE
5T -
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33.

34.

162

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BERIE
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E-F
US$’000 Us$'000
FER FET
Capital expenditure in respect of e BmKRIE DAL
property, plant and equipment, BREEDE  BEX
mineral rights and exploration and RAE - TREEN R EEE
evaluation assets contracted for MEHEBECEARRE
but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements 11,017 113,679

RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of trustee. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs with a cap of
monthly contributions of HK$1,250 (equivalent to US$128)
(HK$1,500 (equivalent to US$160) effective from 1 June
2014) to the scheme, which contribution is matched by
employee.

Contributions are made by the South African companies to
independent pension and provident funds which are
defined contribution retirement benefit plans governed by
the Pension Funds Act, 1956. All eligible employees are
required to become members of these schemes.

DRC employees contribute to the DRC National Social
Security Fund in accordance with applicable labour laws.
All eligible Zambian employees are required to join and
contribute to an external pension fund, Africa Life. Both
funds are defined contribution retirement benefits plan.

The assets of each of the retirement benefit schemes are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of the trustees. The amounts incurred for
retirement benefit scheme contributions are disclosed in
notes 10 and 11. According to the respective schemes,
those contributions are not refundable nor forfeitable.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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34. BFiEFIEH

AEBAESMBEAREREESE T8
BRI R HIE A TE S 5 2R K 4258 HI 1%
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S AREBEENHAEE AEERA
MEH SR AN5% %R 5 A
B ERA1,2508 7T (SR 1283%7T)
(BE-ZE—WFERNA—B#£AE1,50087T
(FER160%TT))  MiEE MZHERE S
R R o

MIERRIHBILIRRKENABEE (AR
— N AN F R IR % 7% & (Pension Funds
Act) B8 2 A ERFEERAREFIFTE]) 1fEH
HR - MEEEREEHY AL MLSER
£

MR(E)EERBERZEEEEMRE
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BB REHELMINSRIRES
Africa Life WEH (58 - MEEESHRTE
HEFRIREFETE -

BRAENFEIZEERFENXTEA
Rt RS e AEEEENRRS - R
PRA& N &I R AT E £ 2 IR FE 10
EVEE - - RESEAS ZFHAS
PRGRE IR RDRYK -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE-_Z-—AFt+-_A=1+—HIFE
35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

In addition to certain trade receivables transferred to banks

35. BEHEN

BRIE20 I BEERETRITZETES

36.

as disclosed in note 20, the Group pledged the following JEU RIS REBERBIATNEEES
assets as securities for borrowings as follows: BRZER
2015 2014
—E—FEF —ET—mOF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Property, plant and equipment, M~ BRE KR - REE
mineral rights and evaluation and VAR a1l R E R & B
exploration assets 71,741 1,429,134
Inventories e 4,301 90,281
Trade receivables 2 5 W GIR 5,000 24,760
81,042 1,544,175
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. ABKALERS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies

AEERICG(—HEBBEAHBAEA
REABANBEELE  MEREREAR

under JCG, a state-owned enterprise with its majority
equity interest held by the People’s Government of Gansu
Province, which is controlled by the government of the
PRC and the Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities controlled, jointly

controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC

government.

(a) Transactions with JCG and its subsidiaries

Apart from details of the balances with related
parties disclosed in respective notes, the Group
entered into the following transactions with JCG and

its subsidiaries during the year:

B -

(a) EHJCGREMEBAF

KU 5 BB R ) B A B R E A
Flz— IR B AT = 2 i T BERA AT E
B - KEEBIRBEEEKR
TENEBERETEEE -

FENZER

ZR5

BRI AR BE PN RE AT I 2R R B A L 45 8R
AEERFREICG M E
MEBARRIMIATRS :

2015 2014
—B-hF —T-mE
US$'000 US$'000
TER F=T
Sales of goods to ultimate holding A& AEIER A FIHE S R
company 117,396 148,903
Sales of goods to a joint venture ARKERARZAERE
of the ultimate holding company HEE M 19,050 43,142
Interest expenses on term loan due to & EIEAR A Bl E HHE
an intermediate holding company ZHBHX 2,879 1,281
Interest expenses on term loan due to &I [E R B A 7l HE R
a fellow subsidiary ZHBFEX 1,047 837
Rental expenses paid to m—ERZRWMEB AR
a fellow subsidiary AEmX 390 391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RaMBHERE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
HE_ T RAFt+__A=t+—HILFE

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

164

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Transactions with JCG and its subsidiaries
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, a corporate guarantee
amounting to US$257,000,000 (2014:
US$225,000,000) was provided by JCG for banking
facilities obtained by the Group, of which
US$257,000,000 (2014: US$128,193,000) was
utilised.

Transactions/balances with other PRC
government controlled entities

In addition, the Group has entered into various
transactions, including deposits placements,
borrowings and other general banking facilities, with
certain banks and financial institutions which are
government-related entities in its ordinary course of
business. In view of the nature of those banking
transactions, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that separate disclosure is not meaningful.

Transaction with non-PRC government
— related parties

36. MBALXSR(#)

(a)

(b)

(9]

BEICGGREMBRRAZRS (&)

RZE—RF+=—A=+—H8"
ICGERAEBER ZIRTEEIR
#£ 257,000,000 7T (=& — M4 :
225,000,000 7T) 2 Bl HELR + H A
Z &)/ 257,000,000 E7t( = F—
% 128,193,000 7T) °

BEEMPBERFRESER X
5./ &

o REBEREBEEBER
REBRTREER A TRITR
TREBIIVZEARS  BEF
o ERMEM—RIRITRE - &
RZFRITXZHNME - NAFE
SRB/OABEEEETK

B ERFEBALTZRS

2015 2014
—E—AF —ZE—YF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEr FET
Royalty expenses paid to BSEPNGIE R 2 E SN
non-controlling shareholders of BEFHAERY
subsidiaries 6,133 22,308

Consultancy fee of US$244,500 (2014:
US$168,000) was paid to Mr. Douglas Campbell
Walter Ritchie, a director of the Company.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The key management personnel of the Company are
its directors. Further details of their emoluments are
disclosed in note 11(a). The emoluments of Mr. Yang
Zhigiang are borne by the ultimate holding company.

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
2/ EEHABRERERAT

(d)

(e)

BB 244,500F L (=T —M
F 1 168,000E L) ERMARAE
£ Douglas Campbell Walter
Ritchie L £ »

FTEEE A SR

ARRIZEEEEAEBRESR-H
R EME 2 BN 16) -
BERAEREZ S BRSER
ACIES R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
2 E-—hE+_A=1+—HItEE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the

37.

B 2 R R

AEBRBERRZHMB AR FEERT

reporting period are set out below. RT o
Attributable equity
Place of Issued and fully interest of the Group
incorporation/ paid share/ AEEEGRE
Name of subsidiary establishment Place of operation  registered capital 31.12.2015 31122014 Principal activities
\ BRIRBERE/ —B-n% —TmE .
MELRER ERMAL/ Rt 2B HMEX tZA=t-8 T-A=t-H IEXE
Chibuluma Mines plc Zambia Zambia US$50,000 85% 85%  Copper mining
- {i+] {14 50,0007 RS
Copper Resources Corporation  British Virgin Islands ~ South Africa US$104,924,166 100% 100%  Investment holding
("BVI") [BE: 104,924,166 57T REBR
ERARER
(EBRELES])
Golden Grand Investment BVI Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limitedt ERRLHS A 1%7T RAR
PERRERRAR
Golden Harbour International ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of mineral and
Trading Limited ¥ A 10,0007 metal products
SHREBESERAR BERCBERES
Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited# Mauritius Hong Kong US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding
SIRBERABRAR 4 B BB 1%7T RERR
Kinsenda Copper Company SA DRC DRC US$1,250,000 77% 77%  Copper mining
(formerly named Kinsenda B (£) AIZ(2) 1,250,000% 7T AERF
Copper Company Sarl)
(17 Kinsenda Copper
Company Sarl)
Maranda Mines (Proprietary) South Africa South Africa ZAR103,289,332 100% 100%  Inclosure
Limited [EE: i 103,289,332 F 3k B&
Metorex Copper Corporation South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100%  Investment holding
(DRC) (Proprietary) Limited ~~ E3E EE 100 E 3R REER
Metorex Holdings (Proprietary)  South Africa South Africa ZAR101 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited ¢ [ 101 B F R RERR
Metorex (Proprietary) Limited South Africa South Africa US§597,766,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
[E 3 ¥ 597,766,000 7T RARR
Metorex Share Incentive Scheme  South Africa South Africa ZAR100 100% 100%  Dormant
(Proprietary) Limited [EE EE3 100 3R EREK
Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) South Africa South Africa ZAR1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited E i 10003 HG RARR
Ruashi Mining SAS (formerly DRC DRC US$12,000,000 75% 75%  Copper and cobalt mining
named Ruashi Mining Sprl) B (%) AE(2) 12,000,000 7 S RER

(#17& Ruashi Mining Sprl)

# These subsidiaries are directly held by the Company.

# ZEWBRARAARRERRSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRME

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

HE_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HILFE
37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37.
(Continued)

38.

166

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that none
of the Group’s subsidiaries has non-controlling interests as
at 31 December 2015 that are individually material to the
Group, therefore, no further financial information in
respect of these subsidiaries with non-controlling interests
are presented.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

38.

PR B 2 R E¥IR ()

BRI B QRN FRBITEAERE

ARRAEERR R-_FT—AHFT-A
=t—HB AKENEARMEEEY

AREEmE

& 5l 8 A 2 SR 4% Hﬂ&m

WY E25|HEH IR ER 2B L

ZEMEIEE R o

FLFMMBRRERE ER

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of ANA B PR B R 2 B A5 AR R 3k A R
the Company at the end of the reporting period includes: BIE -
2015 2014
—B-1F —TnmF
US$'000 Us$'000
FER FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE &R E 25 15
Interests in subsidiaries NI - 125,419
Amount due from a subsidiary FEW — M B A R 5B 666,935 =
Total non-current assets IEmBEEMLE 666,960 125,434
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables H b fE Uk R I8 160 134
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUR BT B A B FIE 87,344 982,279
Bank balances and cash RITEHR AR E 1,863 2,510
Total current assets mENEEBAE 89,367 984,923
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b fE A 78 495 258
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary J?EHH/?M]‘% Gl el 14 14
Total current liabilities mENAEARE 509 272
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 88,858 984,651
NET ASSETS EEFRE 755,818 1,110,085
EQUITY IR #E
Issued capital BEITAR AR 5,578 5,578
Reserves (Note) 4 (MfEE) 750,240 1,104,507
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 755,818 1,110,085

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RMEE

For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
B T—hFE+-_A=+—HILFE
38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. EAFMIMBERABRRGERZ)
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Note: fisT -
Movement of the Company'’s reserves are as follows: RARFEESHIOT
Perpetual
subordinated
Share Share convertible  Contributed  Accumulated Total Total
capital premium securities surplus losses reserves equity
AR
R BREVEE TRRES RAER ZitER REAE B
Us$'000 US§000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$'000 US§000
TE TEn TER FET TEn TEr FET
At 1 January 2014 R=F-Mm%-FA—-H 5,578 294,19 1,089,084 9 (1,743) 1,381,546 1,387,124
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEEKEE
expense for the year Hx g - - - - (277,039) (277,039) (277,039)
At 31 December 2014 RZE-MET=A
=i=f 5578 294,196 1,089,084 9 (278,782) 1,104,507 1,110,085
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEERZE
expense for the year bt - - - - (354,267) (354,267) (354,267)
At 31 December 2015 RZF-RFT2A
==f 5578 294,196 1,089,084 9 (633,049) 750,240 755,818
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to R-FE—RE+—-_F=+—8 AAQ7F
shareholders as at 31 December 2015 represented the AHEDIEFREZEETERMDEE
aggregate of share premium account, contributed surplus B BEMBSRESER AN ©5HE
and accumulated losses, which amounted to nil (2014: BE(ZZ V4 : 15,423,000 7T) °
US$15,423,000).
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBHEBRE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, ANEBEREREGRFECCTIEEE E&E - B6E

liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for M 3EAREZIE (HEtEE C TR S EXMBHRE L
the last five financial years, as extracted from the HEEBEHSE)WOT :

published audited financial statements and reclassified
as appropriate, is set out below:

RESULTS E45
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

-1 —T-QNF —T-=%f —F--F —ZT——F

US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$ 000 Us$'000

TER e TEx TET TER

Revenue WS 470,691 652,475 742,242 625,230 16,589
(Loss)/profit for the year ANAHA AERFAR
attributable to owners (E518) /%A
of the Company (291,767) (230,512) 203,837 44,838 (2,318)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE - BERFERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Assets BE 1,580,373 1,864,269 2,259,919 2,202,437 108,766
Liabilities B (819,413) (747,517) (839,942)  (1,860,528) (11,936)
760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977 341,909 96,830
Equity attributable to owners KA RIEA AJEERER
of the Company 691,966 983,709 1,216,310 140,723 96,936
Non-controlling interests JEER R 68,994 133,043 203,667 201,186 (106)
760,960 1,116,752 1,419,977 341,909 96,830
168 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

REE MR RER

In 2015 the Company has made a concerted effort to increase
and enhance its communications with its shareholders. A new
more user-friendly website was created earlier in the year and
this will be further enhanced in 2016. After the appointment of
Peter Albert as CEO in mid-2015 a number of mining related
conferences, presentations as well as analyst and investor
briefings have been held and attended, including the
International Mining and Resources Conference in Melbourne,
Australia; the 121 Investors Conference in Hong Kong and Cape
Town; the Mining Indaba in Cape Town; the BMO Mining
Conference in Miami; the CESCO Conference in Shanghai, and
an Asia Mining Club presentation event in Hong Kong. These
events have helped to enhance the profile of the Company,
provided an ongoing communications process and provided
transparency to key stakeholders.

In early 2016 a new Communications Officer was appointed and
it is intended to further enhance our communications strategy in
2016.

The Company publishes information on its business activities
through its website, www.jinchuan-intl.com. Questions about
the company’s activities may be directed to info@jinchuan-intl.
com or to the Communications Officer Ms. Vanessa Chiu at
vanessa@jinchuan-intl.com, telephone +852 3919 7268.

R-IZ—AF  AAGEEHBRELEH &
K pnoe B R ABR o INEY)  RAFEL T
ESRMFEL  WER T — N FIEHE—
H B - N =T — A F P HIZ (I Peter Albert
BETHAH 2% BEOIRHET ZEEE
BENSE FBEARIMERKREEBR
BIEERANSRBEAEHANERBEMER
3 EEARATIETN 121 REES
& EATRRITHBERS  EEMNZRRT
FBMOTEE A E : £ L /BRI1TACESCOH R
MERE  REBRITHMBEEELIEE
JEE) c REEDEMRAARARNEE 2 H
SER BB LA T BN EEERMER
J‘g o

R-Z—AFEY FAARSEHNBNE
ff BHR =B — A — SEER MR
5 -

AR B 3B E 48k www jinchuan-intl.com 2
BRAHEBOHER - HARRNEBEBHNE
FEf - A H B =2 info@jinchuan-intl.com + 8k
i 3B F # (vanessa@jinchuan-int.com) 3% & &
(+852 3919 7268) B &I L ElEH L+ -
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GLOSSARY

Tk

"Acquisition” or “Combination”

the acquisition by the Company of the entire equity
interest in Jin Rui (along with the Metorex Group) in
November 2013 pursuant to the sales and purchase
agreement dated 27 August 2013, the details of which
are set out in the circular of the Company dated 30
August 2013; with a total consideration of
US$1,290,000,000 was satisfied by the allotment and
issue of 1,595,880,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at an issue price of HK$1 per share and the
issue of PSCS of the Company in the aggregate amount
of US$1,085,400,000

“Board”
the board of Directors of the Company
"CEC"

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation, a Zambian electricity
company

“Chibuluma plc”

Chibuluma Mines plc, a company incorporated in
Zambia and a subsidiary of Metorex

“Chibuluma South Mine”

an underground copper mine owned by Chibuluma plc
situated in Zambia near the town of Kalulushi

“Chifupu deposit”

an adjacent copper deposit to Chibuluma South Mine
under exploration which is located approximately 1.7
km southwest of Chibuluma South Mine
“Company” or “JCI"

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd, a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability and the Shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Director(s)”

the director(s) of the Company

"DRC"

the Democratic Republic of Congo

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd

170 &) SEERERERAE

[ EIR [ & 6]

KRB ZE—=F+—ARERAHA=-Z—=FN
A-++HZEEH:EWE SN (GER Metorex £ &)
IR ARERS - 481812 1,290,000,000E 7T » LAIREETT
BER B TS & EIT1,595,880,000 f& 78 2 71T &
B AR ESTT AR A A)4E1E 1,085,400,000 T Z KA
KA FEFZ A FBHN AR BEA
—E-=FENA=t+HZBXK

[EEE]
KAREEE
[CEC]

Copperbelt Electrical Corporation * —fA & L5 E A
Al

[ Chibuluma plc]

Chibuluma Mines plc * RE L EFEMAL 2 AF - &
Metorex 2 [} & A &

[ Chibuluma &5 |

F8 Chibuluma plc#EA 2 i T HATE - fZAE s - #BiT
Kalulushi & [=

[ Chifupu T&E |

B & & B Chibulumafg B #8382 2 S B K U R
Chibuluma FIEFE R A 1.7 A E

[Faw 18I

T)IREERERERAF  RASHSEMAILZ
BRAR - ERO R RArER LS

[E%]
RRARZESE
TRIR (&) ]
MIRER X HAE



GLOSSARY
Lok

“EBITDA"

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation and impairment loss

“Exploration Projects”

the two advanced stage exploration projects owned by
the Metorex Group located in the DRC namely,

(i)  Lubembe Project; and

(i) Musonoi Project

“Gécamines”

La Générale des Carriéres et des Mines, a state-owned
mining company in the DRC

“Golden Harbour” or “GHL"”

Golden Harbour International Trading Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Group” or “JCI Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries

"HKS$"

Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong
“Hong Kong”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
PRC

“Indicated Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage,
densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade and
mineral content can be estimated with a reasonable
level of confidence. It is based on information from
exploration, sampling and testing of material gathered
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes. The locations are too widely or
inappropriately spaced to confirm geological or grade
continuity but are spaced closely enough for continuity
to be assumed

[EBITDA]

REFHE -~ BIE - I8 R HIA RBERE BRI AN

k-3 ¢ 8= NI

i Metorex 52 B Fr#E B AL AW R (&) 2 MR & 1% HABE %
REIEE - &R

() LubembelEH : &

(i) MusonoiIE B

[ Gécamines ]

La Générale des Carriéres et des Mines * il (&) EH A
Y Y/NE

[&#iF] 8 [GHL]
EAREBREZERARF - —ERBEEMALAR

BERARRAMBEZENB AR

[F5%E]%[ICIKE]
RRATRENEAF]
[#l

BT BREEEEY
&%
PEEBRRIITRER

[ 2 5l W 1 i

BEEREPAEML - BE ik WERE - M
LiEheEhatERAEEIERKFZED - Ut
TIARERAR - SRR NOR S RARER SR - TR4E - I -
REREBASHHZVDEMRESRZERRBEE -
BEMEBNEAXEETNEE - BAMTE R
BB BEMBEEMRARELEENE
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GLOSSARY
Lo

“Inferred Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which volume or
tonnage, grade and mineral content can be estimated
with a low level of confidence. It is inferred from
geological evidence and assumed but not verified
geologically or through grade continuity. It is based on
information gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes that may be limited, or of uncertain
quality and reliability

“Jinchuan Group” or “JCG"

2 I E2E D B BE A 7 (inchuan Group Co., Ltd*), a
state-owned enterprise established in the PRC and the
controlling shareholder of the Company

“Jin Rui”

Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (& imiB £ & & B R
A |]), a company incorporated in the Republic of
Mauritius and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

“Jin Rui Group”

Jin Rui, Metorex Holdings and the Metorex Group
“Jintai”

Jintai Mining Investment Limited (£ FIBEREER A
R]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Jinchuan Group (Hongkong)

Resources Holdings Limited

“Kinsenda Project” or “Development
Project”

a brownfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and
situated in the Katanga Province, the DRC

"“Kinsenda SA”
Kinsenda Copper Company SA (formerly named

Kinsenda Copper Company Sarl), a company
incorporated in the DRC and a subsidiary of Metorex

* For identification purposes only

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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[EERERRE ]

BEERETEHELMU  mUMBYRETELZ
HEBMEAEEKRFZED - I RIEHEEEE
K fR& (EREAZE) 08 ka0 & 48 15 T HEET PR S
SETY AR E S R FE SR - MR I FRR
NEASHEHWESRZENSEE  EEBENA
BEARIRRE

[&)kE]|%TICG]

N EEROERAR - RABIKZIZEERE T
RARZIFERIRR

[ &% |

Jin Rui Mining Investment Limited (£ £ E BR A
A REERFHMBEFMALZ A8 BEAREZ
EREZEWB AR

[&%KE ]

%35 * Metorex Holdings & Metorex £2 &

&%l

Jintai Mining Investment Limited (& Z=TEX L EER A

A RBEABEMKILZ AR BE)IEE (FE)ER
ERAERARZERZENBE AR

[KinsendalEH | s [FASIEA |

B Kinsenda SAE B 2 ERBEPIMBEIEE - CLANR
(&) s &

[Kinsenda SA |

Kinsenda Copper Company SA ( Al & Kinsenda Copper

Company Sarl) - REIR(&)dEMKZ 2z 2A8] &
Metorex 2 [t & A &]
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GLOSSARY
Lok

“Listing Rules”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

"L ME"
the London Metal Exchange
“LOM”

Life of mine

“Lubembe Project”

a greenfield copper project owned by Kinsenda SA and
situated in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Measured Mineral Resource(s)”

that part of a Mineral Resource for which the tonnage,
densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade and
mineral content can be estimated with a high level of
confidence. It is based on detailed and reliable
information from exploration, sampling and testing of
material from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits,
workings and drill holes. The locations are spaced closely
enough to confirm geological and grade continuity

“Metorex”

Metorex (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated
in South Africa and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

“Metorex Group”

Metorex and its subsidiaries (including Chibuluma plc,
Kinsenda SA and Ruashi Mining), which comprise
(amongst other investment holding companies) the
operating companies within the Group

“Metorex Holdings"”

Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

[ LH#Al ]

EEBARXSMABRARES WA

[Me&Frl

AT B
fLom|
5 B ER ER
[Lubembe I H |

i Kinsenda SA¥EAR 2 RFAZRIEIEER (AR (£)
nFHang

[RAREERE ]

BEERETEM - BE ik - WIERE - @l
L8z MEBNSAEREKFZED It
TyLAEDER ~ R MOA B R B RRAR R OB - B4R - TR

PR LB A SR 2 ME 2 AN AT EE R REE -
B2 3 B ) PR B2 T 2 DARE RE 08 N L@ AR 1%

[ Metorex |

Metorex (Proprietary) Limited * R @ FEsE Ak 32 2 A&
Al BARRIZHEEZEWE AR

[Metorex 5 |

Metorex I E B} /& 2 7] (82 #E Chibuluma plc * Kinsenda
SA X Ruashi Mining) » (& [F E b1 E1ERR A F)) 425K
REE 2 EERA

[ Metorex Holdings ]

Metorex Holdings (Proprietary) Limited
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GLOSSARY
Lo

“Mineral Reserve(s)”

the economically mineable material derived from a
Measured Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral
Resource or both. It includes diluting and contaminating
materials and allows for losses that are expected to
occur when the material is mined. Appropriate
assessments to a minimum of a pre-feasibility study for
a project and a LOM plan for an operation must have
been completed, including consideration of, and
modification by, realistically assumed mining,
metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal,
environmental, social and governmental factors (the
modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be
disclosed

“Mineral Resource(s)”

a concentration or occurrence of material of economic
interest in or on the earth’ s crust in such a form,
quality, and quantity that there are reasonable and
realistic prospects for eventual economic extraction. The
location, quantity, grade, continuity and other geological
characteristics of a Mineral Resource are known, or
estimated from specific geological evidence, sampling
and knowledge interpreted from an appropriately
constrained and portrayed geological model

“Musonoi Project”

a greenfield copper and cobalt project owned by Ruashi
Mining and situated in the Katanga Province, the DRC

“Operating Mines”
Ruashi Mine and Chibuluma South Mine
IIPRCII

the People’s Republic of China
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“Probable Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a
Measured Mineral Resource or Indicated Mineral
Resource or both. It is estimated with a lower level of
confidence than a Proved Reserve. It includes diluting
and contaminating materials and allows for losses that
are expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-
feasibility study for a project or a LOM plan for an
operation must have been completed, including
consideration of, and modification by, realistically
assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors
(the modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be
disclosed

“Proved Reserve”

the economically mineable material derived from a
Measured Mineral Resource. It is estimated with a high
level of confidence. It includes diluting and
contaminating materials and allows for losses that are
expected to occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments to a minimum of a pre-
feasibility study for a project or a LOM plan for an
operation must have been completed, including
consideration of, and modification by, realistically
assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing,
legal, environmental, social and governmental factors
(the modifying factors). Such modifying factors must be
disclosed

"“PSCS” or “Convertible Securities”

the perpetual subordinated convertible securities to be
issued by the Company to satisfy part of the purchase
price for the Acquisition

IIRMB"

“Renminbi”, the lawful currency of the PRC

“Ruashi Holdings”

Ruashi Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, a company
incorporated in South Africa and a subsidiary of Metorex
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“Ruashi Mine”

an opencast oxide copper and cobalt mine owned by
Ruashi Mining and situated in the DRC on the outskirts
of Lubumbashi, the capital of Katanga province
“Ruashi Mining”

Ruashi Mining SAS (formerly named Ruashi Mining Sprl),
a company duly incorporated in the DRC, a subsidiary of
Ruashi Holdings

“SAMREC Code”

South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (2007
edition) as amended from time to time

nsFo"

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong

"§HECH
Safety, Health, Environment and Communities
“SMBS"

Sodium meta bi-sulphite

“SNEL"

Société Nationale d’Electricité, being the national
electricity company of the DRC

“Sodimico”

Société de Développement Industriel et Minere du
Congo, a state-owned enterprise in the DRC

“South Africa”
the Republic of South Africa
“SX-EW"

solvent extraction—electrowinning

Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd
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“Stock Exchange” B3R ]

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ERBAEZT AR AT
“Us$” or “US dollar” ES A

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US Ex EBEEEK
“Zambia” [#LkEE |

the Republic of Zambia 2 thon AR

“ZAR" B LY

South African Rand, the lawful currency of South Africa  Fg3EE4E © FIEv EFE &

"G [%)
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“Mt” thJ
million tonnes =R
MW fMmw]

Megawatt, a unit of power equivalent to one million HERIE  hWXEA - HER—BFERE
watts

“MWh” [MWh ]
megawatt hour A& R
ugn [tl
tonne(s) A
“TCu” [TCul
total copper 24

178 Jinchuan Group International Resources Co. Ltd

&) SEERERERAE



CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFIRH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Zhigiang (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Deputy Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. CHEN Dexin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. WU Chi Keung (Chairman)
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE*

Mr. WU Chi Keung (Chairman)

Mr. ZHANG Sanlin

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. YEN Yuen Ho, Tony (Chairman)

Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. WU Chi Keung

Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE*
Mr. ZHANG Sanlin (Chairman)

Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. ZHANG Zhong

Mr. CHEN Dexin

Mr. Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN

*  The Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
have been combined into a single committee named the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee with effect from 26 November 2015.

# The Overseas Assets Oversight Committee and Strategy and Investment
Committee of the Company have been combined into a single committee
named the Strategy and Investment Committee with effect from 26 November
2015.

EFEg
HITES
PRt (EFEL/E)

REMEE(EFSEFE)

Peter Geoffrey ALBERT 5t 4 (7TB 485 )
RAESLAE

RIGE5EE

B EHITES

AR St A&

BITE ST A

Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN 54

NGE
Rkt

ERERT

AR (£ E)

BRITE ST

Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN 4t 4

FHREREAS >

tRRRAR ST (/)

R A&

R

BRI A

Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN 4t 4=

RREERERE
BIT/E S (/)

Peter Geoffrey ALBERT %t 4
RESLE

(it e

ERRRERAEE*
R=MICE(EE)

Peter Geoffrey ALBERT 54 (&) 3 /&)
RABEA

BRIG(EE

Neil Thacker MACLACHLAN 4t 4=

* ARAHFHEEBLRARRECAHA—EEBERE
g (FMEREEEES®) BT —AF+—A=+X
BRAER °

# ARABINEELBZESRBBEKREZEREAH
RAEBEZEe (AEEIIREZES®) B2 14
FH—A=-tRBERER-

Annual Report 2015 179
—T-AER



CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFRH

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. Peter Geoffrey ALBERT (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Zhong (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Chuen

Mr. Peter John DENEEN

Ms. Maria Majoire LO

REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 4003-04, 40/F

Tower Two, Lippo Centre

89 Queensway

Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Royal Bank of Canada Trust

Company (Cayman) Limited

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.jinchuan-intl.com

MAJOR BANKERS

China Development Bank Corporation

The Export-Import Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank Limited
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